
Task Force on the Arizona Rules of Probate Procedure 
 

Meeting Agenda  
 

Friday, May 17, 2019  
10:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. 

State Courts Building * 1501 West Washington * Conference Room 345 * Phoenix, AZ  
 

Item no. 1 
 

Call to Order   
 

Hon. Rebecca Berch, 
Chair  
 

Item no. 2 Approval of the December 14, 2018 meeting minutes 
 
 

Justice Berch  

Item no. 3 E-filing in probate cases Jim Price, Mary Foltz, 
Mark Leong – A.O.C. 
 

Item no. 4 Rules Forum comments 
 

All 

Item no. 5 Issues in the proposed Probate Rules (R-18-0044) for Task Force 
discussion 

 

All 
 
 

Item no. 6 Proposed new forms Judge Polk 

Item no. 7 Discussion of a reply and appendices in R-18-0044  All 

Item no. 8 Motions for approval of the Task Force work product All 

Item no. 9 Roadmap Justice Berch  

Item no. 10 
 
 

Call to the Public 

Adjourn  

Justice Berch 
 

 
The Chair may call items on this Agenda, including the Call to the Public, out of the indicated order.  

 
Please contact Mark Meltzer at (602) 452-3242 with any questions concerning this Agenda. 

Persons with a disability may request reasonable accommodations by contacting Angela Pennington at  
(602) 452-3547.   Please make requests as early as possible to allow time for arranging accommodations.

  
 
 
  



Probate Rules Task Force 
Draft Minutes: 12.14.2018 

Page 1 of 8 
 

Probate Rules Task Force 

State Courts Building, Phoenix 

Meeting Minutes: December 14, 2018 

Members attending: Hon. Rebecca Berch (Chair), Marlene Appel, John Barron III, 
Hon. Julia Connors (by telephone), Robert Fleming, Jessica Fotinos, Hon. Andrew Klein, 
Hon. David Mackey, Hon. Robert Carter Olson, Hon. John Paul Plante, Hon. Jay Polk, 
Lisa Price (by telephone), Catherine Robbins, T.J. Ryan, Denice Shepherd 

Absent: Colleen Cacy, Hon. Patricia Norris, Hon. Wayne Yehling 

Guests:  Chief Justice Scott Bales, Martin Lynch 

AOC Staff:  Mark Meltzer, Angela Pennington, Stacy Reinstein, Theresa Barrett 

1. Call to order; preliminary remarks; approval of meeting minutes.  The 
Chair called the tenth meeting of the Task Force to order at 10:04 a.m.  She welcomed 
Chief Justice Scott Bales and invited him to address the members.  The Chief Justice 
reminded members of the importance of their work, how much they have accomplished 
this year, and how their efforts will shape the resolution of future probate cases.  He noted 
that earlier this week, the Court adopted, on an emergency basis, the Task Force’s 
proposed rule concerning jury demands in guardianships and conservatorships. The 
Chief Justice thanked Task Force members for their service.  

The Chair advised that the Court had appointed Ms. Fotinos as a member of the 
Task Force, replacing Mr. Nash as the Clerk’s representative.  Today’s meeting will focus 
on the remaining rule issues and the draft rule petition.  Before proceeding, the Chair 
asked members to review the November 30 meeting minutes.  Judge Polk requested two 
corrections.  First, at page 1 of those minutes, the discussion of Rule 7.1 should reflect that 
a fiduciary could obtain appointment orders in a sealed case, as well as letters of 
appointment. Second, on page 2, in the last full paragraph of the discussion regarding 
Rule 4, Judge Polk recalled that the straw vote concerned whether to keep only section 
(a) with a catchall provision, rather than adding a catchall to the entire rule.   

Motion: With these corrections, a member moved to approve the November 30, 
2018 meeting minutes. The motion received a second and it passed unanimously.  
PRTF: 010 

2.  Consent agenda.   

Rule 10.6 (“prudent management of costs”): Judge Polk advised that he had 
rewritten this rule, as shown in the meeting materials, to conform to the discussion at the 
November 30 Task Force meeting.  He asked the editorial group to add section titles to 
this rule.  Judge Polk also reminded members that a reference to current Rule 10.1 in 



Probate Rules Task Force 
Draft Minutes: 12.14.2018 

Page 2 of 8 
 

A.C.J.A § 3-303 will need to be changed to Rule 10.6.  Members approved the rule as 
modified. 

3. Workgroup 1.  The Chair asked Judge Polk to present his proposed 
revisions to Rules 4 and 4.1 concurrently with his proposed changes to Workgroup 2’s 
Rule 2. 

 

Rule 2 (“probate case and proceedings”), Rule 4 (“initiation and termination of 
probate cases”), and Rule 4.1 (“termination of probate proceedings initiated by 
petition”):  Judge Polk began with Rule 4.1, which he revised after the Task Force’s 
decision at the November 30 meeting disapproving draft Rule 4.2.  Rule 4.1(b) (“separate 
hearings and severance”) is new; it allows separate hearings or a severance when a non-
probate proceeding has been consolidated with a probate case.  Because a family law 
matter may be a non-probate proceeding, members added “petitioner” and “respondent” 
to the enumeration of parties in section (c) (“definition of party”).  They also concluded 
that references to a “civil case” in section (a) (“requirements”) did not adequately address 
the range of case types, and they changed these references to “non-probate proceeding.” 
Finally, in recognition of case law holding that a personal representative or a trustee is 
the proper party, rather than an estate or a trust, they deleted a requirement in section (a) 
that the estate or trust must be a party.  They discussed in rem scenarios, such as a 
forfeiture proceeding involving an estate or trust asset, where a personal representative 
or trustee is not a party, but they concluded this would not be a practical problem because 
the personal representative or trustee would probably intervene.  With these 
modifications, members approved Rule 4.1. 

 

Judge Polk asked members to consider Rules 2 and 4 together, as sequential rules. 
He proposed modifications to the previously approved draft of Rule 2.  One modification 
would relocate the definition of “probate case” to the end of the rule, which he considered 
more logical.  He revised the definition of a “non-probate proceeding” to simply 
encompass anything that was not a “probate proceeding,” as the latter term was 
described in another section.   He also removed the words “meaning of” in the section 
titles. Other members expressed concern about these revisions.  They particularly 
thought the previously approved definition more clearly explained the term “non-
probate proceeding” and better aligned with Rule 3, which concerns the rules that apply 
in non-probate proceedings.  They also believed that the more detailed explanation 
provided better direction for individuals, including attorneys, who appear infrequently 
in probate court.  One member proposed that the entire rule should simply advise that a 
non-probate proceeding could be filed in a probate case, but this proposal gained no 
support.  However, the members solidly supported retaining the previously approved 
explanation of a non-probate proceeding. On the question of whether the definition of 
“probate case” should appear at the beginning of the rule, as previously approved, or at 
the end, as suggested by Judge Polk, 11 members preferred to keep it at the beginning.  A 
judge member parenthetically noted that the word “qualifying,” which appears in the 



Probate Rules Task Force 
Draft Minutes: 12.14.2018 

Page 3 of 8 
 

approved version of Rule 2(d), should also be added to the first sentence of Rule 4.1(a) 
(“a qualifying non-probate proceeding may be filed…”). 

 

Members then proceeded to Rule 4, which is based on current Rule 4.  At the 
November 30 meeting, some members preferred to retain only section (a) (“generally”) 
of this rule.  Judge Polk today proposed an alternative that would delete section (a), but 
would add new sections on initiation and termination, with short descriptions for each.   
The draft recognizes that proceedings involving decedent’s estates are initiated by an 
application or a petition, whereas other probate proceedings are commenced by petition. 
The provision on termination includes a reference to Civil Rule 54(c) (“judgment as to all 
claims and parties”).   

 

Members questioned the premise that other probate proceedings are initiated by 
petition.  One member gave an example of a testamentary guardianship of a minor, which 
begins with the filing of an acceptance. Another noted that some cases are terminated by 
the registrar — for example, the denial of an application for informal probate — and the 
draft rule does not cover these situations.  Yet another member asked whether Civil Rule 
54(c) would cover all the permutations for terminating a probate proceeding.  One 
member observed that when the Task Force includes lists in a draft rule, there is a greater 
possibility that the rule will omit a scenario. Members then discussed the necessity of 
including Rule 4 in their draft.  One member noted that statutes describe how a probate 
proceeding begins and ends.  On a straw vote, 10 members agreed that there was no need 
for a rule that describes how probate proceedings terminate.   

 

Regarding case initiation, one member proposed a rule that simply said that a 
probate proceeding is initiated by filing a document authorized by statute.   Judge Polk 
was concerned that this would be inadequate guidance for infrequent filers; for example, 
without direction, they might not understand that a party cannot file a motion to probate 
a will.  Members concurred that these filers would probably consult court rules before 
they consulted statutes, and that the rules should provide guidance on how to initiate a 
probate proceeding.  On the other hand, and as noted above, a list of case initiating events 
in a rule poses a danger of omitting an event.  After further discussion, the Chair 
requested a straw vote on whether to delete the entirety of Rule 4.  A majority of 9 
members favored deleting the rule. 

 

4. Workgroup 2.  Judge Olson presented on behalf of the workgroup. 

Rule 2.1 (“definitions”):  The most recent draft of this rule includes the 
workgroup’s annotated recommendations.  Judge Olson advised that the workgroup 
would defer action on those recommendations to the editorial group. 

Rule 28.2 (“demand for jury trial”):  The Chair noted that the emergency rule on 
demand for a jury trial is limited to guardianship and conservatorship proceedings and 
asked whether the forthcoming draft should continue to include this limitation.  On the 
one hand, expanding the rule’s application to all probate proceedings might undercut the 
rationale for the rule, i.e., parties in other proceedings presumably have the capacity to 



Probate Rules Task Force 
Draft Minutes: 12.14.2018 

Page 4 of 8 
 

waive a jury.  On the other hand, a broader rule would promote consistency in probate 
court proceedings and might mitigate issues about whether there is a right to a jury in 
some probate cases.  Moreover, a jury trial is an expense that, if automatically afforded 
by the rules, might reduce the assets of probate estates.  On a straw vote, only a single 
member wanted to retain the emergency rule version; the other members preferred a rule 
that would require a jury demand in any probate proceeding. 

5. Workgroup 3.  Judge Mackey and Mr. Fleming presented the workgroup’s 
rules. 

 

Rule 19 (“appointment of an attorney, medical professional, or investigator”):  
Mr. Fleming advised that the informal group recommended adding the following new 
section (g) to Rule 19: 

 

(g) Role of Counsel. The attorney for a proposed ward/protected person shall act 
as advocate for the client's wishes, to the extent the attorney is able to determine 
those wishes. The attorney shall, as far as possible, maintain a normal client-
lawyer relationship with the client. In addition, the attorney shall act to protect the 
substantive and procedural due process rights of the client. 

The group believed this new section summarizes an attorney’s ethical obligation in these 
situations.  The second sentence of this section is derived from ER 1.14.  A member 
proposed changing the word “determine” to “ascertain.” No one objected to this change.  
Another member proposed relocating this new section to Rule 10.3 (“duties of counsel 
for the subject person of a guardianship or conservatorship proceeding”).   Members also 
agreed with that change.   

 A member then proposed that the Rule 10 series include a rule on the role of 
statutory representatives.  One member thought the statutes on statutory representatives 
would include this information, although stakeholders would probably also look to these 
rules for that information.  Another member requested that Rule 10.3 include a provision 
that would preclude court-appointed counsel’s role to morph into the role of statutory 
representative — for example, if the protected person is or becomes incommunicado — 
without court authorization.  But Mr. Fleming cautioned that it might be difficult to 
encapsulate this concept in a rule and recommended that counsel and judges should 
review the ethical rules for guidance on this issue. 

 Before proceeding to the next rule, Judge Olson recommended a global review of 
the sequence and numbering of the proposed probate rules and suggested that new rules 
need not remain in the current location if there is a better one.   However, rules that are 
commonly cited, such as Rules 7 and 33, should keep their current numbers.   

 Rule 27.1 (“training for non-licensed fiduciaries”):  Rule 27.1 will need to be 
relocated.   Otherwise, Judge Mackey advised that he had consulted with Judge Polk, and 
they agreed that the earlier concerns about the meaning of “financial institution” have 
been resolved.  This was done by including a definition of the term in Rule 2.1; the Rule 



Probate Rules Task Force 
Draft Minutes: 12.14.2018 

Page 5 of 8 
 

2.1 definition includes a reference to A.R.S. § 14-5651, which contains a provision on the 
meaning of the term.  The rule as it now stands confirms that the training requirement 
for fiduciaries does not apply to financial institutions.  Member had no additional 
questions concerning this rule and approved it. 

Rules 24 + 36 consolidated (now, “guardian’s inpatient psychiatric authority”):  
Judge Mackey reminded members that these consolidated rules are currently numbered 
“X” and will need to be relocated.  By consolidating these rules, Rule X can address both 
the petition regarding inpatient authority (in section (a)), and renewal of that authority 
(in section (b)).   Judge Mackey noted the challenge of writing a rule based on a statute 
(A.R.S. § 14-5312.01) that is complex and unclear.  For example, the statute does not 
provide a renewal process; it only specifies what happens when the authority is not 
renewed.  He also noted that the title and text of the rule changed the term “inpatient 
mental health authority” to “inpatient psychiatric authority.”  

The members’ discussion of this rule focused on two areas.  The first area 
concerned the meaning of an “inpatient psychiatric facility.”  The current rule does not 
include a definition, but proposed subpart (a)(1) does.  Historically, the pertinent 
institutions were designated as Level One facilities, but that nomenclature is no longer 
used.  The proposed subpart identifies certain facilities as included within the meaning 
of inpatient psychiatric facility, but it does not purport to identify every such facility.  One 
member suggested tying the definition to that used in the Arizona Administrative Code, 
but members concluded that if the Administrative Code definition changed in the future, 
the probate rule might be incorrect or inaccurate. The members’ challenge in rewriting a 
new definition for this subpart was to avoid being overly inclusive.  For example, 
members did not want to include a locked Alzheimer’s memory unit or a secured unit in 
a skilled nursing facility, but they wanted to include regional behavioral residential 
facilities, which are mentioned in subpart (a)(1).  Members concluded that whatever 
definition they drafted would probably be imprecise, and they concurred that the 
definition subpart should be deleted from the draft. 

The second area concerned proposed subpart (a)(5), which would permit the court 
to enter an emergency order.   The text of the draft provides that prior to entering such 
an order, the court must make the requisite statutory findings and appoint counsel for an 
unrepresented ward.  The court must also set a prompt hearing on the petition.  Members 
discussed what would constitute an emergency; would it require, for example, a finding 
of immediate harm?   Members concluded that an emergency order is one that the court 
can enter immediately, before giving notice or providing a hearing. Some members 
believed this subpart duplicated the court’s authority to appoint a temporary guardian 
under A.R.S. § 14-5310(B).  Other members believed the surrogacy provisions of A.R.S. § 
36-3231 might have application to emergency orders under the proposed rule.  But 
emergency requests for inpatient mental health authority apparently come before the 
court with some regularity, and judicial officers as well as stakeholders should have the 
added guidance of a provision in this proposed rule.  After a straw vote, 12 members 



Probate Rules Task Force 
Draft Minutes: 12.14.2018 

Page 6 of 8 
 

agreed to keep proposed subpart (a)(5) as drafted.  However, they also agreed to change 
the title of the subpart from “emergency order” to “order without notice.” 

The proposed rule would apply not only to a ward who already has a guardian, 
when the guardian needs the additional authority contemplated by this rule, but also to 
petitioners requesting new appointments as guardians.  Subpart (a)(4) requires guardians 
in both circumstances to sign an acknowledgment of the guardian’s power.  Judge 
Mackey prepared a draft form based on an order he currently enters.  The form would 
duplicate some of the provisions of Form 2 (“order to guardian and acknowledgment”).  
Members discussed whether there should instead be a supplemental acknowledgment, 
which can be used by itself when there is a pre-existing guardianship, and in conjunction 
with Form 2 on a new guardianship proceeding.  Members preferred the supplemental 
form approach.   

Finally, and based in part on Maricopa County practices, members agreed to 
remove a provision in a previous draft of the renewal provisions that would have 
required a judicial officer to promptly review a guardian’s report. 

Rule 37 (“settlements and financial recovery involving minors or adults in need of 
protection”):  Although members had previously approved Rule 37, Judge Plante had a 
residual concern.  Judge Plante noted two places in section (a) of the approved draft that 
required settlements to “be submitted for approval by a judicial officer assigned to hear 
matters under A.R.S. Title 14.”  Judge Plante believes this language is imprecise, 
especially in smaller counties where a judge may not have a formal probate assignment.  
Judge Plante proposed substituting for that language the phrase, “must only be brought 
in a proceeding under A.R.S. Title 14.”  After discussion, members agreed with this 
change.  However, some members still had concerns about a civil judge approving a 
settlement, because the civil court does not track funds and it typically does not enter an 
order releasing the funds.  A judge member observed that “probate proceeding” is now 
a defined term and proposed adding the word “probate” before “proceeding” to address 
this concern.  The member also suggested adding after the words “guardian ad litem” in 
section (b) the words “under Civil Rule 17.”  Members agreed with these changes. 

 

The Task Force discussed an amendment to the Civil Rules corresponding to Rule 
37.  The Task Force decided it would not include a Civil Rule amendment in its petition, 
but it will propose to the State Bar’s Civil Practice and Procedure Committee that it 
consider such an amendment. 

 

6. Draft rule petition.  The Chair reviewed staff’s draft rule petition. She 
suggested adding text stating that some rules were restyled but included no substantive 
changes, then simply listing those rules. This would permit the petition to omit a 
discussion of those rules in subsequent sections.  A member suggested that each 
proposed rule include its source in the current rules.  Another member recommended 
that a table include this information. A judge member noted the lengthy discussions 
members had regarding the introductory rules and suggested a more detailed summary 



Probate Rules Task Force 
Draft Minutes: 12.14.2018 

Page 7 of 8 
 

of those issues.  One member observed that some draft rules use the term “self-
represented,” while others use “unrepresented,” and requested consistent use of 
terminology. 

The Chair advised that the editorial group (the Chair, Judge Norris, Judge Polk, 
and staff) will meet on December 21, 2018 for a global review of the rules.  This group 
will carefully proofread the rules and correct grammatical and syntactical errors.  It may 
relocate certain rules or provisions as requested by the Task Force or as needed to 
improve the rules’ organization.  The Chair advised that as the editorial group works on 
the rules, it might reach out to individual members for assistance with certain rules or 
issues. The editorial group might also make a few substantive changes, which will be 
consistent with the sense of the Task Force, but which will not be subject to a full vote. 
The Chair therefore asked the members for their authority to revise the rule petition, the 
proposed rules, and ancillary documents. 

Motion:  A member then moved to give the Chair, working with the editorial 
group and with other members as necessary, the authority to revise and finalize 
the petition, rules, and associated documents, and to file it on or before January 
10, 2019.  The motion received a second and it passed unanimously.  PRTF: 011 

The Chair requested that members make no changes to the rules on OneDrive pending 
the filing of the rule petition.  Staff will endeavor to provide members with copies of the 
finalized documents before filing them. 

7. Roadmap.  After the rule petition is filed, the Court will open it for public 
comments. Under Supreme Court Rule 28, as revised with an effective date of January 1, 
2019, the comment period will conclude on May 1.  The Task Force will then reconvene 
to discuss the comments and to prepare a reply.  The reply, which will be due on June 1, 
may include modifications to the proposed rules.  With the members’ agreement, the 
Chair scheduled the next Task Force meeting for Friday, May 17, 2019.  The Court will 
consider the petition, comments, and reply at its annual rules agenda in late August or 
early September 2019.  Rules adopted at the annual rules agenda generally become 
effective on January 1, 2020.  However, the Chair asked members to consider 
implementation issues before the next Task Force meeting, and whether the reply should 
request a modified effective date for all rules or any particular rule. 

Some members will be attending the State Bar’s annual probate and trust seminar 
on May 3, and other members will be attending a conference of the Arizona Fiduciaries’ 
Association, which also will be held in May.  The Chair requested that members reach 
out to interested stakeholders at these and other events and request their formal as well 
as informal comments on the proposed rules.   

The Chair concluded the meeting by expressing her appreciation for the members’ 
service on this project. 

 



Probate Rules Task Force 
Draft Minutes: 12.14.2018 

Page 8 of 8 
 

8. Call to the public.   Martin Lynch responded to a call to the public and 
offered remarks concerning the right to a jury trial. 

 

9. Adjourn.  The meeting adjourned at 3:08 p.m. 



R-18-0044 
Vetting 

Presentations:  

Presiding Judges Meeting 3/27/19 [Justice Berch and Judge Polk] 

Committee on Superior Court 4/12/19 [Judge Norris and Judge Polk] 

Executive Council of the Estate Planning, Probate, and Trust Law Section of the Maricopa County 
Bar Association [Judge Polk] 

Phoenix College of Estate Planning Attorneys [Judge Polk] 

Executive Council of the Elder Law, Mental Health, and Special Needs Planning Section of the 
State Bar of Arizona [Judge Polk] 

State Bar’s Seminar on Advanced Issues in Probate and Estate Planning, 5/3/19 [Judge Polk, Judge 
Olson, Ms. Appel, Mr. Barron, Ms. Cacy] 

 

Publications: 

“Changes Proposed for Probate Procedure Rules,” by Hon. Jay M. Polk, Arizona Attorney, April 
2019 

“Top 20 Proposed Substantive Changes to the Probate Rules,” by Hon. Jay M. Polk, Maricopa 
Lawyer, March 2019 

 

A link to R-18-0044 was provided to: 

Arizona Fiduciaries Association  

State Bar Probate and Trust Section 

State Bar Elder Law, Mental Health, and Special Needs Planning Section 

State Bar Civil Practice and Procedure Committee 

National Academy of Elder Law Attorneys (NAELA), Arizona Chapter 

Maricopa County Bar Estate Planning, Probate, and Trust Law Section 

 
 

 

 

 

 



1 
 

Rebecca White Berch (Justice, ret.), Chair  
Task Force on the Arizona Rules of Probate Procedure, Petitioner 
1501 W. Washington St. 
Phoenix, AZ  85007 
 
 

 

SUPREME COURT OF ARIZONA 
 
 
PETITION TO AMEND THE    )  Supreme Court No. R-18-0044 
ARIZONA RULES OF PROBATE )  
PROCEDURE ) 
 )  
______________________________ ) 
 

Pursuant to Rule 28 of the Rules of the Arizona Supreme Court, the Task 

Force on the Arizona Rules of Probate Procedure (“Task Force”) petitions this Court 

to abrogate the current Arizona Rules of Probate Procedure and adopt proposed new 

rules.  The proposed rules restyle the existing rules and make substantive changes 

that help ensure “a consistent, predictable, prompt, efficient, and just resolution of 

probate cases.”  (Proposed Rule 1.)   

 Because the proposed amendments concern all current probate rules, this 

petition presents the revisions as a complete new set of rules, rather than as 

individual rule amendments.  Appendix A to this petition contains a clean version of 

the proposed rules.  A “redline” version is not included because the changes are so 

extensive that a redline would be more confusing than helpful.  Appendix B is a 



2 
 

correlation table that the Task Force intends to incorporate within the final version 

of the probate rules.  Appendix C contains new forms referenced in these rules. 

 Section 1. Background.  Two Supreme Court committees preceded this Task 

Force’s efforts.  In 2006, the Court established a Probate Rules Committee (Admin. 

Order No. 2005-87), which proposed a set of probate rules that the Court adopted 

effective on January 1, 2009.  One year later, the Court established the Committee 

on Improving Judicial Oversight and Processing of Probate Court Matters (Admin. 

Order No. 2010-52), which focused on fiduciary responsibilities and the protection 

of vulnerable persons.  That Committee’s recommendations resulted in 

modifications to certain Probate Rules and the adoption of Arizona Code of Judicial 

Administration §§ 3-302 and 3-303, which respectively concern probate forms and 

fee guidelines.  

The Court established the current Task Force by Administrative Order No. 

2017-133.  Task Force members include Superior Court judges from Maricopa, 

Pima, Pinal, Yavapai, and Yuma Counties; several attorneys in private practice, 

including certified specialists in estate and trust law; a public fiduciary and a licensed 

private fiduciary; a representative of the Superior Court Clerks; and a retired Arizona 

Court of Appeals judge.  The Chair is a retired Supreme Court Justice.  A.O. No. 

2017-133 directed the Task Force to review the current Probate Rules and “identify 

possible changes,” and to clarify and simplify language. 



3 
 

Section 2.  Restyling.  The proposed probate rules, like other recently adopted 

rule sets, include stylistic revisions that make the rules more understandable and 

user-friendly.  The proposed rules employ consistent formatting and nomenclature, 

and generally follow the conventions utilized in those previous restyling projects.  

  Section 3: Probate is Different.  The probate rules differ from other court 

rules in important respects. 

First, the probate process is largely driven by statutory requirements.  (Almost 

half of the current probate rules include at least one reference to a specific statute.) 

The Task Force saw no rationale for repeating in a rule a substantive requirement 

that is already contained in a statute, and it agreed to abrogate current provisions that 

merely restated statutory requirements.  The Task Force also noted that a rule that 

simply restates statutory language might need to be amended if the statutory 

language changes.  Nevertheless, the Task Force agreed that for clarity, certain rules 

should reference the applicable or governing statute.  

Second, the Task Force realized that many of the rules were either not 

consistent with current law or did not incorporate or allow for considerations 

directed by state law.  Accordingly, some of the proposed rule changes are 

substantive and go beyond simple restyling. 

 Third, probate cases may involve related non-probate claims.  For example, 

civil tort actions are routinely filed in cases concerning decedents’ estates, 



4 
 

guardianships, and conservatorships.  Similarly, an adult who is the subject of a 

guardianship or protective proceeding may be a party to a family law case. 

Accordingly, the probate rules specify which procedural rules apply in the related 

non-probate proceeding. 

 Fourth, probate involves liberty as well as property interests.  Protective 

proceedings (including conservatorships), decedents’ estates, and trusts involve 

property interests.  Guardianships involve liberty interests.  Probate rules need to 

provide due process to protect these interests. 

 Fifth, probate cases often involve self-represented litigants.  Self-represented 

litigants many not be sophisticated, and some court-appointed fiduciaries may not 

be licensed, so the rules need to provide appropriate and clear guidance as well as 

protections. 

Section 4: Task Force Methodology.  There currently are 46 probate rules. 

(The last is Rule 38, but some rule numbers include a number to the right of a 

decimal point, which accounts for the other eight rules.)  Task Force members were 

divided into three workgroups, and the workgroups were assigned roughly 

equivalent portions of the rules.  A judicial officer led each workgroup.  Workgroups 

met 40 times between April and December 2018.  Outside of meetings, the 

workgroups reviewed drafts, researched law, and edited documents. The workgroups 

presented proposed revisions to the full Task Force at public meetings.  



5 
 

The Task Force met ten times during 2018, learning early in the process that 

most of the proposed probate rules were complex and that many were controversial.  

All the rules were the subject of exhaustive discussions at multiple meetings.  The 

Task Force recommended abrogating current provisions that are no longer pertinent, 

combining associated provisions currently contained in more than one rule, and 

bifurcating rules and provisions when their content became too dense or multi-

focused.  

Section 5: Comments.  The Task Force moved substantive matters from the 

comments to the rules.  As a result, the proposed rules include only six comments, 

most of which are new and brief. 

Section 6: Preamble.  The current rules include a three-paragraph preamble, 

which the Task Force would abrogate and replace with the prefatory comment 

proposed in Appendix A.   

Section 7: Reorganization.  Whereas there are currently 46 probate rules, the 

new set contains 55 proposed rules.  Although the Task Force eliminated some 

former provisions, it also included some new provisions.  The rules have been 

renumbered so that none of the proposed rule numbers have a decimal point. 

Significantly, the Task Force re-organized the proposed rules by subject matter and 

presented them in the order in which events generally occur in a probate proceeding. 



6 
 

This reorganization should make it easier for users to find the provisions they are 

seeking. 

 Section 8: The Proposed Rules.  This section summarizes many of the 

significant and substantive items in the proposed probate rules. 

Part I: Scope of Rules, Definitions, Applicability of Other Rules (Rules 1 - 12)  

 Rule 1 (“Scope, Applicability, and Construction”) differs from the current 

rule in two respects.  First, it expressly applies to “all persons in a probate 

proceeding, whether self-represented or represented by an attorney.”  Second, it adds 

the words “consistent [and] predictable” before the phrase “prompt, efficient, and 

just resolution of probate proceedings.”   

 Rule 3 (“Probate Case and Proceedings”) clarifies that a “probate case” may 

include a “probate proceeding” and a “non-probate proceeding.”  The rule explains 

these terms, which some stakeholders find confusing.  The distinctions become 

important in Rule 4 and subsequent rules.  

Rule 4 (“Applicability of Other Rules”) advises that “the Arizona Rules of 

Civil Procedure apply to probate proceedings unless they are inconsistent with these 

probate rules or A.R.S. Title 14.”  The added reference to Title 14 differentiates this 

provision from the corresponding provision in current Rule 3(A).  Rule 4 also adds 

that “in non-probate proceedings, the same procedure and evidence rules apply as if 

the matter had been litigated as a separate action.”  The Task Force received 



7 
 

guidance from the Advisory Committee on Rules of Evidence on another Rule 4 

provision that concerns the application of the Rules of Evidence in probate 

proceedings.  New Rule 5 (“Contested and Uncontested Hearings”) explains when 

a hearing is deemed contested or uncontested, which is the governing factor in Rule 

4 for determining whether the Rules of Evidence apply. 

The requirements of Rule 7 (“Document Captions”) have been shortened by 

including a cross-reference to the requirements of Civil Rule 5.2(a) (“caption”) and 

by only specifying those items of the caption required for probate filings.  Rule 8 

(“Confidential Documents and Information”) omits the unnecessary statement in 

current Rule 7(B) that the clerk must comply with court rules and code sections. 

New Rule 9 (“Sealing and Unsealing Court Documents”) incorporates by 

reference recently adopted Civil Rule 5.4 (“sealing and unsealing court records”), 

but it allows a fiduciary to have access to an appointment order and letters of 

appointment in a sealed case without the need for a court order unsealing the file. 

Rule 10 (“Acknowledgment of a Consent, Waiver, Renunciation, or 

Nomination”) includes introductory language that the rule requires a signature 

before a notary public, a judicial officer, or other person who is “legally authorized 

to verify the identity of the signer.”  Unlike the current requirement, an 

acknowledgment of a consent to a petition or application is now compelled only for 

self-represented individuals. 



8 
 

Rule 12 (“Telephonic and Video Attendance and Testimony”), unlike its 

current counterpart, permits oral as well as written requests to attend or testify by 

telephone.  Members were divided on how far in advance of a hearing a party should 

make such a request.  They compromised by adopting a provision that requires the 

request to be made “in a timely manner considering the circumstances at the time 

the request was made.”  The provision then identifies five circumstances that may 

be relevant in making that determination.  As part of their compromise, Task Force 

members added another provision allowing local rules to establish variations in this 

process. 

Part Two: Initiation of Probate Proceedings (Rules 13 - 18) 

 Rule 13 (“Probate Information Form and Notice of Change of Contact 

Information Form”) provides new definitions of “contact information” and 

“fiduciary.”  Rather than listing items of information the probate information form 

requires, as the current rule does, the proposed rule instructs parties to file a 

designated Probate Information Form.  Similarly, a new provision in this rule 

requires fiduciaries to file a Notice of Change of Contact Information Form when a 

fiduciary’s or ward’s contact information has changed. (Appendix C includes these 

new forms.) 

Rule 14 (“Applications in Probate Proceedings”) and Rule 15 (“Petitions in 

Probate Proceedings”) begin with new sections (a) that respectively describe the 



9 
 

meaning of “application” and “petition.”  Under Rule 14, an application is submitted 

to the probate registrar, and the rule includes new duties for the registrar and the 

clerk.  The proposed rule requires the clerk to file and retain the application, 

including an original will, which changes current practices.  The proposed rule also 

requires the registrar to “promptly approve or deny” the application, and if it is 

denied, “to file a statement with the reasons for the denial and provide a copy to the 

applicant.”  Rule 15 more clearly describes how a petition becomes contested.   Rule 

15 includes a new provision on filing a joinder to a petition or a statement of no 

position.  It also includes requirements for filing a request for an accelerated hearing 

on a petition that are currently in Rule 13.   

Rule 16 (“Notice of Initial Hearing on Petition”) modifies the required 

warning in section (b), in part by advising readers that attendance at the initial 

hearing is not required unless they oppose the requested relief, and if they do oppose 

it, the warning instructs the readers on necessary action.   

Rule 17 (“Initial Hearing on a Petition”) describes who must attend, and the 

procedure to be followed at, the initial hearing on a petition.  This rule replaces 

existing Rule 12, which was entitled “Non-Appearance Hearing,” a phrase that 

confuses litigants as well as judicial officers because parties and others occasionally 

come to court for “non-appearance” hearings.  Rule 17 provides that the petitioner 

must attend the hearing unless the court specifies otherwise, and that other interested 



10 
 

persons are not required to attend the hearing if they do not oppose the requested 

relief. 

Rule 18 (“Dismissal for Failure to Obtain a Hearing Date”) authorizes the 

administrative dismissal of a petition if the petitioner does not timely obtain an initial 

hearing date on the petition. 

Part Three:  Subsequent Events and Actions (Rules 19 - 26) 

Part Three collects rules that are dispersed throughout the current set, 

including current Rule 13 on oral argument, Rule 15 on proposed orders, Rule 18 on 

motions, Rule 28 on an evidentiary hearing, Rule 29 on alternative dispute 

resolution, and Rule 35 on enforcement of court orders.  The Task Force included 

new rules titled “conference,” “settlement conference,” and “compliance and order 

to show cause hearings.”  Many of these proposed rules have parallel provisions 

defining each event and describing how the event is set and noticed, who is required 

to attend, and whether evidence will be presented.  Rules in Part Three should 

particularly benefit self-represented individuals and attorneys who practice 

infrequently in probate court.   

Rule 19 (“Motions and Oral Argument”) has been truncated by moving to 

other rules a section of current Rule 18 (“motions”) that concerns the appointment 

of counsel and another section of current Rule 18 regarding repetitive filings.   



11 
 

Rule 26 (“Proposed Orders, Decrees, and Judgments”) replaces current 

Probate Rule 15, which cross-references Civil Rule 5.1(d).  When the Probate Rules 

were first promulgated, the Civil Rules required a party to submit extra copies of a 

proposed order and pre-addressed, stamped envelopes.  Following statewide 

adoption of electronic filing, the Civil Rules eliminated that requirement.  Because 

electronic filing is not available in probate cases, Probate Rule 26 reinstates the 

requirement, although this section allows a court to “order otherwise.”   

Part Four: Contested Proceedings (Rules 27 - 29) 

 Rule 27 (“Management of Contested Probate Proceedings”) recognizes that 

Civil Rules on case management have changed significantly since the 2009 adoption 

of the probate rules, and some Civil Rule provisions are now incompatible with 

probate case management.  For example, in a simple probate case, the judicial officer 

might enter a scheduling order at the initial hearing, eliminating the need for a joint 

report in that case, while a more complex case might require counsel to prepare a 

joint report and proposed scheduling order.  Proposed Rule 27 accommodates 

different case management practices, based on the circumstances of the case. 

 Rule 28 (“Disclosure and Discovery”) deviates from current Rule 28(B), 

which simply incorporates Civil Rules 26 through 37 by reference.  Members agreed 

that the tiered discovery limits in the Civil Rules are not practical in probate cases. 

Thus, Rule 28 includes presumptive limits on discovery by specifying a single set of 



12 
 

limits applicable to all probate cases, but it allows the court to modify those limits. 

Rule 28 also contains a new provision permitting, under specified circumstances, a 

public, licensed private, or unlicensed fiduciary to obtain subpoenas for production 

or inspection even when no contested probate proceeding is pending. 

 Rule 29 (“Demand for Jury Trial”) was prompted by amendments to Civil 

Rule 38, effective on January 1, 2019, which replaced a jury trial on demand with 

an automatic jury trial on issues “of right,” unless waived.  The predicament is that 

in probate proceedings involving alleged incapacitated individuals, the subject 

person may lack the capacity to knowingly waive a trial (or capacity is the matter at 

issue).  Probate Rule 29 retains juries by demand.  The Court adopted on an 

emergency basis rule petition No. R-18-0039 to forestall application of the new Civil 

Rule in guardianship and conservatorship proceedings.  The Task Force believes that 

the probate rules should not include a process for obtaining a jury in guardianships 

and conservatorships that differs from the process in other probate proceedings.  

Rule 29 is therefore broader than the emergency version because it would require a 

timely demand for a jury in any probate proceeding in which the right to a jury exists.   

Part Five: General Roles and Duties of Participants (Rules 30 - 35) 

 Current Rule 10 (“duties owed by counsel, fiduciaries, unrepresented parties, 

and investigators”) is lengthy and dense.  The Task Force separated those provisions 

into separate rules, located at relevant places in this and other parts of the rules. 



13 
 

These rules do not include a section of current Rule 10 concerning the duties of 

counsel, which is adequately covered by Civil Rule 5.3. 

Rule 32 (“Appointment of a Statutory Representative (Formerly Known as 

Guardian Ad Litem)”) supersedes current Rule 15.1 entitled “appointment of 

guardian ad litem.”  The appointment of a guardian ad litem in a probate proceeding 

appears contrary to legislative changes that replaced the guardian ad litem with a 

“representative” under A.R.S. § 14-1408.  Because the term “guardian ad litem” 

remains in the nomenclature, the definition of a statutory representative in proposed 

Rule 32 states that it “includes the role traditionally described as a guardian ad 

litem.”    

Another provision of proposed Rule 32 precludes the court from appointing a 

statutory representative for the subject person of an adult guardianship or protective 

proceeding if the court has not made a finding, after a hearing, that the person is 

incapacitated or in need of protection, as those terms are defined in statute.  The 

proposed rule includes a new comment that should help to distinguish “statutory 

representative” from “guardian ad litem.”  

Part Five includes Rule 33 (“Compensation for Fiduciaries, Attorneys, and 

Statutory Representatives”).  The Task Force restyled Rule 33 by adding section 

and subpart headings, making the rule easier to navigate.  Proposed Rule 33 also 

clarifies the two pathways for requesting court approval of fees: first, in section (c), 



14 
 

through an account that identifies fees; and second, in section (d), through a separate 

petition requesting fee approval.  As detailed in section (b), a request under either 

pathway requires the same documentation.  Section (b) also includes the warning, 

derived from A.C.J.A. § 3-303(D)(2)(c), that “[b]lock billing is not permitted.” 

Part Five also includes Rule 34 (“Prudent Management of Costs”), which 

corresponds to current Rule 10.1 with one notable exception.  The proposed rule 

alerts readers that other authorities also address prudent management by referencing 

A.R.S. § 14-1104 and A.C.J.A. § 3-303.  

Part Six: Rules That Apply Only to Guardianships, Conservatorships, and 
Decedents’ Estates (Rules 36 - 40) 

 Part Six includes Rule 38, which requires training for non-licensed fiduciaries, 

and a rule concerning the duties of court-appointed fiduciaries that is currently Rule 

10(C).  Part Six also includes the following rules: 

 Rule 36 (“Order Appointing Guardian, Conservator, Personal 

Representative, or Special Administrator”) changes the phrase “restricted 

accounts” to “restrictions on authority.”  The rule accordingly requires that the 

court’s appointment order include restrictions on authority rather than restrictions 

on assets.  A new comment provides examples of restrictions on authority. 

 Rule 37 (“Order to Fiduciary”) contains the substance of current Rule 25, 

including references to Forms 1 through 4.  However, the current rule recites that 



15 
 

those forms are in the Arizona Code of Judicial Administration.  That is incorrect, 

and the proposed rule removes those recitals. 

 Rule 39 (“Issuing and Recording Letters of Appointment”) differs from 

current Rule 26 by including a new section explaining that a fiduciary requires court 

authority before acting for an estate or a subject person.  The proposed rule defines 

“letters of appointment.”  It also includes a new provision, similar to the existing 

rule requiring recording of a conservator’s letters of appointment, which requires a 

personal representative to record its letters of appointment. 

Part Seven: Rules That Apply Only to Guardianships and Conservatorships 
(Rules 41 - 49)  
 
 Some of the current rules covering subjects now found in Part Seven lacked 

section titles, which the proposed rules have added.  The concluding words of the 

title of Rule 41 (“Appointment of an Attorney, Medical Professional, or 

Investigator in a Guardianship or Protective Proceeding”) signal that these 

provisions do not apply to other probate proceedings, such as decedents’ estates or 

trusts.  Proposed Rule 41 also permits the court to appoint an attorney, investigator, 

or medical professional other than the one nominated by the petitioner.  The Task 

Force eliminated language from current Rule 19(E) that allows the court to continue 

a hearing if there is non-compliance with the rule’s provisions, because the court has 

this inherent authority.    



16 
 

Rule 42 (“Training, Role, and Termination of an Attorney for a Subject 

Person”) includes a new section (b) concerning the role of an attorney who 

represents the subject of a guardianship or protective proceeding.  This section says, 

The attorney for the subject person must advocate for the subject person’s 
wishes to the extent the attorney is able to ascertain those wishes.  The 
attorney must, as far as possible, maintain a normal client-lawyer relationship 
with the subject person.  In addition, the attorney must act to protect the 
subject person’s substantive and procedural due process rights. 

 
This new provision, which is based on ER 1.14, should provide guidance to counsel 

when the client is incapacitated and unable to communicate, or when the client 

directs counsel to take a position that counsel believes is contrary to the client’s best 

interests. 

Rule 44 (“Appointment of a Temporary Guardian or Temporary 

Conservator”) concerns the appointment of a temporary guardian or temporary 

conservator and replaces current Rule 23.  The proposed rule eliminates the 

provision in current Rule 23 that requires the court to decide whether to make a 

temporary appointment and whether the appointment may occur without notice, 

because these requirements are already contained in statute.  

 Rule 45 (“Conservator’s Inventory, Budget, and Account”) consolidates 

provisions of current Rules 30, 30.1, and 30.3, with several notable changes. 



17 
 

 Rule 45(a), like A.C.J.A. § 3-302(D)(3), now allows the court to vary this 

rule’s requirements, including requirements concerning forms, “if the court finds the 

variation is consistent with prudent management and oversight of the case.”  

The proposed rule eliminates a provision in current Rule 30 requiring an 

amended inventory because the later-discovered asset will be addressed in the first 

account.  Under current Rule 30.3, a budget is required “unless ordered by the court.”  

Under the proposed rule, a budget is required only “if the conservator believes it 

prudent or if the court orders.”  If a budget is timely filed, it is “presumed reasonable 

unless there is an objection.”  The proposed rule states that “unless otherwise 

ordered, a conservator should submit simplified accounts using Form 9,” so many 

conservators will not be required to use the complex account forms that are currently 

mandated. 

The sustainability provisions of current Rule 30.2 are now in proposed Rule 

45(e)(3).  The sustainability calculation is included on the required account form, so 

the formula has been omitted from the text of the rule.  The phrase “the duration of 

time the protected person needs care or fiduciary services” in the current rule is 

vague and has been replaced with the less vague phrase, “for the protected person’s 

foreseeable needs.”  Rather than the “management plan,” which the current rule 

requires for a non-sustainable conservatorship, the proposed rule requires “a 

discussion of the available options.”   



18 
 

Rule 46 (“Annual Guardian Reports”) relocates the separate requirement of 

current Rule 30(C) for annual guardian reports.  

Rule 47 (“Guardian’s Inpatient Psychiatric Treatment Authority”) 

consolidates two current rules that addressed the same subject.  Rule 47(a) (“initial 

request for inpatient psychiatric treatment authority”) originated from current Rule 

24 (“appointment of guardian with inpatient mental health authority”).  Rule 47(b) 

(“renewal of a guardian’s inpatient psychiatric treatment authority”) is derived from 

current Rule 36 (“renewal of guardian’s inpatient mental health authority”).  Section 

(a) of the new rule allows the entry of an order without notice, if certain conditions 

are met, which codifies existing practices.  Section (a) also requires a guardian who 

is given inpatient psychiatric treatment authority to sign a supplemental 

acknowledgement of duties associated with that authority, and the court to enter a 

corresponding order. 

Rule 48 (“Remedies for Non-Compliance by a Guardian or Conservator”) 

adds the option of entering an order under Civil Rule 70 (“enforcing a judgment for 

a specific act”). 

Part Eight: Rules That Apply Only to Decedents’ Estates and Trusts (Rules 50 
- 52) 
 
 Part Eight brings together the rules that apply only to decedents’ estates and 

trusts.  It re-orders them and adds clarifying titles. Proposed Rule 50 (“Personal 

Representative’s Inventory and Account”) contains the general content from 



19 
 

current Rule 31 (“decedents’ estates—specific procedures”), and proposed Rule 52 

(“Trustee’s Account”) addresses the content of current Rule 32 (“trusts—specific 

procedures”).  Rule 51 (“Administrative Closure of a Decedent’s Estate and 

Termination of Appointment”) derives from current Rule 15.2(A) and uses the more 

accurate term “administrative closure” in lieu of “involuntary termination.” 

Part Nine: Recoveries for, and Distributions to, Minors and Protected Adults 
(Rules 53 - 54) 
 
 The Task Force’s extensive discussion of Rule 53 (“Settlement of Claims of 

Minors and Adults in Need of Protection”) included consideration of Gomez v. 

Maricopa County, 175 Ariz. 469 (App.1993), and suggestions from the State Bar’s 

Civil Practice and Procedure Committee.  The proposed rule clarifies the existing 

rule by explaining when court approval of a settlement is required for the settlement 

to be binding on a minor or an adult in need of protection, and who may approve the 

settlement.  The proposed rule also expands the current rule by permitting the 

appointment of a statutory representative or master, and by clarifying the variety of 

permissible orders beyond simply establishing a conservatorship.  For example, the 

new rule would allow court approval of a structured settlement or the establishment 

of a special needs trust, or an ABLE or 529 account. 

Part Ten: Forms (Rule 55) 

 Current Rule 38 refers to forms as “preferred” and “exclusive,” but proposed 

Rule 55 (“Forms”) uses the terms “recommended” or “required,” which are more 

https://www.courtlistener.com/opinion/1121477/gomez-v-maricopa-county/
https://www.courtlistener.com/opinion/1121477/gomez-v-maricopa-county/


20 
 

understandable.  Rule 55 does not contain references to the Arizona Code of Judicial 

Administration or to individual forms, but rather references the self-service page of 

the Arizona Judicial Branch website, where the forms are located.  The rule permits 

the Court to adopt, approve, or modify probate forms by administrative order. 

 Section 9: Conclusion.  After the comment period closes, the Task Force will 

meet to discuss the comments and to revise its proposed rules as appropriate.  Subject 

to those revisions, the Task Force asks the Court to abrogate the current Probate 

Rules and, in their place, to adopt the proposed new Probate Rules shown in 

Appendix A. 

  
 RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 30th day of January 2019. 

 
 
By _________________________________                                                          

Rebecca White Berch (Justice, ret.), Chair, 
Probate Rules Committee 

  
 

 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

 

 

  Appendix A 

Proposed Probate Rules 

with staff annotations for 

the May 17 meeting 
 

  

Formatted: Left, Tab stops:  1.45", Left +  3.25",
Centered



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

 
 

Arizona Rules of 
 

Probate Procedure 
 

January 30, 2019 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

i 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

Contents 
Prefatory Comment to the 2020 Amendments ................................................................. 0 

PART I.  GENERAL INFORMATION .................................................................... 1 

Rule 1.  Scope, Applicability, and Construction ........................................................ 1 

Rule 2.  Definitions ................................................................................................... 1 

Rule 3. Probate Case and Proceedings ....................................................................... 2 

Rule 4.  Applicability of Other Rules ........................................................................ 3 

Rule 5.  Contested and Uncontested Hearings ........................................................... 4 

Rule 6.  Non-Probate Proceedings Filed Within or Consolidated with a Probate Case4 

Rule 7.  Document Captions ...................................................................................... 5 

Rule 8 Confidential Documents and Information ...................................................... 5 

Rule 9.  Sealing and Unsealing Court Documents ..................................................... 8 

Rule 10.  Acknowledgment of a Consent, Waiver, Renunciation, or Nomination ...... 9 

Rule 11.  Personal Service of Documents .................................................................. 9 

Rule 12.  Telephonic and Video Attendance and Testimony ................................... 10 

PART II.  INITIATION OF PROBATE PROCEEDINGS ................................... 12 

Rule 13.  Probate Information Form and Notice of Change of Contact Information 
Form ....................................................................................................................... 12 

Rule 14.  Applications ............................................................................................. 13 

Rule 15.  Petitions ................................................................................................... 14 

Rule 16.  Notice of Initial Hearing on Petition......................................................... 16 

Rule 17.  Initial Hearing on a Petition ..................................................................... 17 

Rule 18.  Dismissal for Failure to Obtain a Hearing Date ........................................ 18 

PART III.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AND ACTIONS ......................................... 19 

Rule 19.  Motions and Oral Argument ..................................................................... 19 

Rule 20.  Conference ............................................................................................... 20 

Rule 21.  Alternative Dispute Resolution ................................................................ 20 

Rule 22.  Settlement Conference ............................................................................. 21 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

ii 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

Rule 23.  Evidentiary Hearing ................................................................................. 21 

Rule 24.  Enforcement of Court Orders ................................................................... 22 

Rule 25.  Compliance and Order to Show Cause Hearings ...................................... 22 

Rule 26.  Proposed Orders, Decrees, and Judgments ............................................... 23 

PART IV.  CONTESTED PROCEEDINGS ........................................................... 24 

Rule 27.  Management of Contested Probate Proceedings ....................................... 24 

Rule 28.  Disclosure and Discovery......................................................................... 26 

Rule 29.  Demand for Jury Trial .............................................................................. 27 

PART V.  GENERAL ROLES AND DUTIES OF PARTICIPANTS ................... 28 

Rule 30.  Representation of Parties .......................................................................... 28 

Rule 31.  Duties of a Fiduciary’s Attorney .............................................................. 29 

Rule 32.  Statutory Representative (Formerly Known as Guardian Ad Litem) ......... 29 

Rule 33.  Compensation for Fiduciaries, Attorneys, and Statutory Representatives . 31 

Rule 34.  Prudent Management of Costs .................................................................. 32 

Rule 35.  Repetitive Filings; Vexatious Conduct; Remedies .................................... 32 

PART VI.  RULES THAT APPLY TO GUARDIANSHIPS, 
CONSERVATORSHIPS, AND DECEDENT’S ESTATES ................................... 34 

Rule 36.  Order Appointing Guardian, Conservator, Personal Representative, or 
Special Administrator ............................................................................................. 34 

Rule 37.  Order to Fiduciary .................................................................................... 35 

Rule 38.  Training for Non-Licensed Fiduciaries ..................................................... 36 

Rule 39.  Issuing and Recording Letters of Appointment ........................................ 36 

Rule 40.  Duties of Court-Appointed Fiduciaries ..................................................... 37 

PART VII.  RULES THAT APPLY ONLY TO GUARDIANSHIPS AND 
CONSERVATORSHIPS.......................................................................................... 38 

Rule 41.  Appointment of an Attorney, Medical Professional, or Investigator in a 
Guardianship or Protective Proceeding ................................................................... 38 

Rule 42.  Training, Role, and Termination of an Attorney for a Subject Person ....... 39 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

iii 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

Rule 43.  Duties of Investigators ............................................................................. 39 

Rule 44.  Appointment of a Temporary Guardian or Temporary Conservator ......... 40 

Rule 45.  Conservator’s Inventory, Budget, and Account ........................................ 40 

Rule 46.  Annual Guardian Reports ......................................................................... 43 

Rule 47.  Guardian’s Inpatient Psychiatric Treatment Authority .............................. 43 

Rule 48.  Remedies for Non-Compliance by a Guardian or Conservator ................. 46 

Rule 49.  Administrative Closure of a Minor Guardianship or Minor Conservatorship 
Case ........................................................................................................................ 47 

PART VIII.  RULES THAT APPLY ONLY TO DECEDENTS’ ESTATES AND 
TRUSTS .................................................................................................................... 47 

Rule 50.  Personal Representative’s Inventory and Account .................................... 47 

Rule 51.  Administrative Closure of a Decedent’s Estate and Termination of 
Appointment ........................................................................................................... 49 

Rule 52.  Trustee’s Account .................................................................................... 50 

PART IX.  RECOVERIES FOR, AND DISTRIBUTIONS TO, MINORS AND 
PROTECTED ADULTS .......................................................................................... 51 

Rule 53.  Settlements of Claims for Minors and Adults in Need of Protection ......... 51 

Rule 54.  Distributions to Persons Under Disability ................................................ 53 

PART X.  FORMS .................................................................................................... 53 

Rule 55.  Forms ....................................................................................................... 53 

 

 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

0 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

Prefatory Comment to the 2020 Amendments 

In Administrative Order 2017-133, the Court ordered a comprehensive review of 
the Probate Rules, which led to the adoption of these rules.  Like the former Probate Rules, 
the 2020 rules must be construed with the Civil Rules and applicable statutes. 

Although these rules are based on an earlier set of Probate Rules, there are 
significant changes, both stylistic and substantive. 

The most obvious change is a reorganization of the rules.  The 55 rules are organized 
by subject matter and presented in the order in which events occur in a probate proceeding.  
Some provisions have been added, and some former provisions have been abrogated, 
relocated, consolidated, or bifurcated. The new rules incorporate any important substantive 
provisions from the comments to  that were contained in the former rules comments, into 
the new rules. M and therefore most comments have therefore been deleted.  The former 
comments and case law continue to be authoritative unless rendered inapplicable by 
changes in the 2020 rules.  Except for several new rules that have no corollary in the earlier 
Probate Rules, the correlation table accompanying the 2020 rules identifies the source of 
each new rule by reference to the former rules. 

The other noticeable change is restyling.  The new Probate Rules add informative 
titles and subheadings to make rules and sections easier to locate, and they use clearer 
language, uniform formatting, and consistent terminology.  The wording of an amended 
rule may vary slightly or substantially from the rule it replaces.  The purpose of these 
differences is to make the new probate rules easier to understand and use. 

Commented [MM1]: Suggest this is less wordy. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

1 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

PART I.  GENERAL INFORMATION 

Rule 1.  Scope, Applicability, and Construction 
(a) Scope.  These rules govern procedures in all probate proceedings in the superior 

court. 

(b) Applicability.  These rules apply to all persons in a probate proceeding, whether self-
represented or represented by an attorney. 

(c) Construction.  The court must enforce and construe these rules in a manner that 
ensures a consistent, predictable, prompt, efficient, and just resolution of probate 
proceedings. 

Rule 2.  Definitions 
(a) “A.C.J.A.” is the Arizona Code of Judicial Administration. 

(b) “Application” has the meaning described in Rule 14. 

(c) “A.R.S.” is the Arizona Revised Statutes. 

(d) “Attend” means to be present, either personally or by counsel, at a court event. 

(e) “Civil Rules” means the Arizona Rules of Civil Procedure.  A “Civil Rule” is a rule 
in the Arizona Rules of Civil Procedure. 

(f) “Court” includes a superior court judicial officer, clerk, or court administrator. 

(g) “Court day” is a day that is not a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday. 

(h) “Demand for notice” means a written request filed with the court by an interested 
person to be notified of any filings in the probate proceeding. 

(i) “Evidence” means testimony, documents, objects, or other things offered to prove the 
existence or nonexistence of a fact. 

(j) “Financial institution” is defined in A.R.S. § 14-5651. 

(k) “Incapacitated person” is defined in A.R.S. § 14-5101. 

(l) “Interested person” is defined by A.R.S. § 14-1201 and includes a party. 

Commented [MM2]: A “filed” document can only be 
“written.” 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

2 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(m) “Judicial officer” includes a superior court judge, commissioner, or judge pro 
tempore. 

(n) “Licensed fiduciary” means a person or entity licensed by the Arizona Supreme 
Court under A.R.S. § 14-5651. 

(o) “Medical professional” means a physician, psychologist, and registered nurse for 
guardianship and conservatorship proceedings under A.R.S. §§ 14-5303(C) and 14-
5407(B), and a psychiatrist or psychologist in a proceeding requesting inpatient 
treatment authority under A.R.S. § 14-5312.01. 

(p) “Motion” is defined in Rule 19. 

(q) “Oral argument” is defined in Rule 19. 

(r) “Party” is a person who has filed a notice of appearance, an application, a petition, a 
response, or a joinder in a probate proceeding. An interested person who has filed a 
demand for notice or a statement of no position—but who has not filed a notice of 
appearance, a petition, response, or a joinder—is not a party. 

(s) “Petition” is described in Rule 15. 

(t) “Pleading” means an application, a petition, or a response to a petition. 

(u) “Protected person” is defined in A.R.S. § 14-5101. 

(v) “Protective proceeding” is defined in A.R.S. § 14-5101. 

(w) “Statutory representative” is defined in Rule 32. 

(x) “Subject person” is the decedent, alleged incapacitated person, ward, person 
allegedly in need of protection, or protected person, whose estate or interest is the 
focus of the proceeding. 

(y) “Ward” is defined in A.R.S. § 14-5101. 

Rule 3. Probate Case and Proceedings 
(a) Generally.  These rules distinguish between a probate case and the various 

proceedings that may occur within the case. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

3 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(b) Probate Case.  A probate case is a court case initiated by filing a probate proceeding. 
Each probate case is assigned a unique number by the court clerk.  A probate case 
includes one or more probate proceedings and, subject to the requirements of Rule 6, 
may include one or more non-probate proceedings. The termination of the initial 
probate proceeding does not necessarily terminate the probate case. 

(c) Probate Proceeding.  A probate proceeding is a court proceeding arising under 

(1) A.R.S. Title 14, including cases concerning decedents’ estates, trusts, 
guardianships, conservatorships, and related matters, and any associated 
proceeding for declaratory relief under A.R.S. Title 12, Chapter 10, Article 2; or 

(2) A.R.S. Title 36, Chapter 32, regarding living wills and health care directives. 

(d) Non-Probate Proceeding.  A non-probate proceeding is one that may be filed as a 
separate case but may be appropriately filed within or consolidated with a probate 
case under Rule 6, such as a civil action, a juvenile proceeding under A.R.S. Title 8, 
or a family law proceeding under A.R.S. Title 25. 

Rule 4.  Applicability of Other Rules 
(a) Probate Proceedings. 

(1) Civil Rules.  The Civil Rules apply to probate proceedings unless they are 
inconsistent with these probate rules or A.R.S. Title 14. 

(2) Rules of Evidence. 

(A) Contested Hearings.  The Arizona Rules of Evidence apply in contested 
hearings unless all parties and the court agree those rules will not apply. 

(B) Uncontested Hearings.  The Arizona Rules of Evidence do not apply in 
uncontested hearings. 

(C) Admissibility of Evidence When the Arizona Rules of Evidence Do Not Apply.  
When the Arizona Rules of Evidence do not apply, all relevant evidence is 
admissible, except the court may exclude any relevant evidence if its 
probative value is outweighed by a danger of one or more of the following: 
unfair prejudice, confusing the issues, misleading the jury, undue delay, 
wasting time, needlessly presenting cumulative evidence, or lack of reliability. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

4 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(b) Non-Probate Proceedings.  In non-probate proceedings, the same procedure and 
evidence rules apply as if the matter had been litigated as a separate case. 

Rule 5.  Contested and Uncontested Hearings 
(a) When a Hearing Becomes Contested.  A hearing becomes contested as described in 

Rule 15(e). 

(b) Precluding Evidence at an Uncontested Hearing.  A hearing that is not contested 
under section (a) is uncontested.  At an uncontested hearing, the court may preclude 
non-moving or non-petitioning parties from presenting evidence in opposition to the 
motion or petition. 

(c) Joinder or Statement of No Position.  For purposes of this rule, joinders and 
statements of no position are not considered written objections. 

Rule 6.  Non-Probate Proceedings Filed Within or Consolidated with a Probate Case 
(a) Requirements.  A non-probate proceeding may be filed within or consolidated with a 

probate case, under the case number assigned to the probate case, only under one of 
the following conditions: 

(1) if the probate case involves a decedent’s estate, the personal representative must 
be a party to the non-probate proceeding; 

(2) if the probate case involves a guardianship or protective proceeding, the subject 
person’s guardian or conservator must be a party to the non-probate proceeding; 
or 

(3) if the probate case involves the internal affairs of a trust, the trustee must be a 
party to the non-probate proceeding. 

(b) Separate Hearings and Severance.  If a non-probate proceeding has been filed in or 
consolidated with a probate case, the court may order a separate hearing on one or 
more issues, or it may sever the non-probate proceeding from the probate case.  When 
ordering a separate hearing, the court must preserve any right to a jury trial. 

(c) Definition of Party.  As used in this rule, the word “party” means plaintiff, petitioner, 
defendant, respondent, counterclaimant, counter-defendant, cross-claimant, cross-
defendant, third-party plaintiff, or third-party defendant in the case filed within or 
consolidated with a probate case. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

5 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

Rule 7.  Document Captions 
(a) Generally.  The first page of every document filed with the court must contain a 

caption that complies with Civil Rule 5.2(a). 

(b) Title of the Case.  The title of the case must include the following information: 

(1) the name of the subject person or trust; and 

(2) if a person, immediately below the subject person’s name, the subject person’s 
status as an adult, a minor, or deceased. 

(c) Continuation of a Conservatorship or Other Protective Order.  A petition to 
continue the conservatorship of a minor or other protective order beyond the minor’s 
eighteenth birthday under A.R.S. § 14-5401(B) must be filed in the existing case.  If 
the court grants the petition, the case number will remain the same, but the caption 
must be amended to reflect that the conservatorship or protective order is for an adult. 

Rule 8 Confidential Documents and Information 
(a) Definitions. 

(1) “Confidential document” means 

(A) the Probate Information Form filed under Rule 13; 

(B) medical reports and records that are filed in connection with proceedings, 
including reports and records filed in connection with proceedings under 
A.R.S. §§ 14-5303, 14-5310, 14-5401.01, or 14-5407, or A.R.S. § 36-3206, or 
as required by A.R.S. §§ 14-5312.01, 14-5312.02, and 14-5315; 

(C) budgets filed under Rule 45; 

(D) inventories and appraisements filed under A.R.S. § 14-5418(A); 

(E) accountings filed under A.R.S. Title 14; 

(F) a credit report; or 

(G) any other document that the court orders filed as a confidential document 
under this rule. 

(2) “Confidential information” means 

Commented [MM3]: The second requirement only applies 
to subject persons, and not to trusts. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

6 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(A) a social security number of a living person; 

(B) any financial account number, unless limited to the last four digits only; or 

(C) any other information the court determines is confidential. 

(3) “Financial account” includes bank, credit card, debit card, and brokerage 
accounts; pensions, profit-sharing, or retirement and similar benefit plans; and an 
insurance policy or an annuity contract. 

(4) “Redact” means to edit or obscure text in a document in a manner that prevents 
it from being read.  Redaction must be accomplished so that the redacted 
information cannot be identified in either paper or electronic formats. 

(b) Access to Confidential Documents. 

(1) Generally.  Confidential documents are not part of the public record of a probate 
case. 

(2) Probate Information Form.  Only the following persons may access the Rule 13 
Probate Information Form: 

(A) an attorney or a statutory representative appointed by the court to represent the 
subject person of a guardianship or protective proceeding in which the 
document has been filed; 

(B) a court investigator appointed for the probate case in which the Probate 
Information Form has been filed; 

(C) judicial officers, court administrative staff, and other court personnel whose 
official duties require access to confidential information for processing and 
managing probate cases; 

(D) the public fiduciary; 

(E) staff from the Administrative Office of the Courts who are conducting a 
compliance audit of a fiduciary, or an investigation into alleged misconduct by 
a licensed fiduciary, under Arizona Code of Judicial Administration § 7-201; 
and 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

7 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(F) any person authorized by the court, on a showing of good cause, to view or 
obtain a copy of the confidential document; 

(3) Other Confidential Documents.  Only the following persons may access other 
confidential documents: 

(A) the persons described in subparts (b)(2)(A) through (F); 

(B) a party to the probate case in which the document has been filed and that 
party’s attorney or other legal representative; and 

(C) a person appointed as a medical professional or accountant for the probate 
case in which the document has been filed. 

(c) Filing Paper Confidential Documents.  A party filing a paper confidential document 
must place it in an envelope marked with the case name, the case number, the name of 
the document being filed, the name of the party filing the document, and the words 
“Confidential Document.”  A confidential document filed as an exhibit to a pleading 
or motion must state on the envelope the title of that pleading or motion and identify 
the exhibit number.  A party must use a separate envelope for each confidential 
document.  The clerk is not required to review a document to determine whether it is a 
confidential document. 

(d) Prohibition on Filing Confidential Information. 

(1) Generally.  Other than in a confidential document, a person must refrain from 
including  not include confidential information in any document the person files 
with the court, whether filed electronically or in paper, unless otherwise ordered 
by the court the court orders otherwise or as prescribed by law. 

(2) Responsibility with Filer.  The responsibility for not including or redacting 
confidential information rests solely with the person filing a document.  The 
clerk and the court are not required to review documents for compliance with this 
rule, or to seal or redact documents that contain confidential information. 

(e) Motions Concerning Confidential Documents and Information. 

(1) Available Orders.  On its own or on a party’s motion, the court may order that: 

(A) a document be filed as a confidential document; 

Commented [MM4]: “Refrain from including” sounds 
archaic.  Why not simply say “not include?” 

Commented [MM5]: Per the restyling conventions. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

8 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(B) a document not be filed as a confidential document; 

(C) confidential information contained in a non-confidential document be redacted 
and, in instances where the document has not yet been filed, the filing party 
perform the redaction; or 

(D) a filed document be replaced with an identical document with confidential 
information redacted or removed. 

(2) Motion’s Requirements.  A party filing a motion to determine confidentiality 
must include in the motion: 

(A) the title of the document to which the motion pertains; 

(B) the date the document was filed; and 

(C) why information should be redacted, or the document should be filed as a 
confidential document. 

(f) Confidential Documents as Hearing Exhibits.  A confidential document may be 
used as an exhibit, or a part of an exhibit, at any hearing in the probate case in which 
the confidential document was filed.  The party submitting the exhibit for the clerk to 
mark must identify the document as being, or including, a confidential document, and 
the clerk must mark it as such.  Any exhibit that is, or includes, a confidential 
document and that is offered into evidence is governed by section (b). 

(g) Sanctions.  The court may impose appropriate sanctions on a person who violates this 
rule. 

Rule 9.  Sealing and Unsealing Court Documents 
(a) Procedure.  The procedure for sealing and unsealing documents in a probate case is 

governed by Civil Rule 5.4. 

(b) Access to Sealed Documents.  Court documents that are sealed in a probate case may 
be examined only by judicial officers or those persons identified in Rule 78(b)(2)(E).    
Access to sealed documents by court staff or clerk staff may be determined by local 
administrative order.  Parties and the public may access sealed documents only by 
court order, except that the following persons may obtain certified copies of any 

Commented [MM6]: Corrected rule cross-reference, 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

9 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

sealed order appointing the fiduciary and the fiduciary’s sealed letters of appointment 
without a court order unsealing those documents: 

(1) the court appointed fiduciary, 

(2) that fiduciary’s attorney, or 

(3) a person authorized by the fiduciary or the fiduciary’s attorney upon presentation 
of a completed Form 15, Authorization to Obtain Certified Copy of a Sealed 
Document. 

Rule 10.  Acknowledgment of a Consent, Waiver, Renunciation, or Nomination 
(a) Acknowledgment Required.  The following documents must be signed before and 

acknowledged by a notary public or a judicial officer, or other person who is legally 
authorized to verify the identity of the signer: 

(1) the waiver of any right, including a waiver of notice, waiver of priority for 
appointment, or waiver of bond; 

(2) a renunciation of the right to appointment as a guardian, conservator, personal 
representative, or trustee; 

(3) the nomination of a person to serve as a guardian, conservator, personal 
representative, or trustee; and 

(4) if the signer is self-represented, in addition to the documents listed in (1), (2), 
and (3), a consent to, joinder in, or statement of no position regarding a petition 
or application. 

(b) Disclaimers.  The requirements of this rule do not apply to a disclaimer of property 
executed under A.R.S. §§ 14-10001 to 14-10018. 

COMMENT TO 2020 AMENDMENTS 

A.R.S. § 33-511 lists those who may take acknowledgments within the State of Arizona. 

Rule 11.  Personal Service of Documents 
(a) Personal Service on the Subject Person of a Guardianship or Protective 

Proceeding; Waiver.  Whenever A.R.S. Title 14 requires personal service of a 
document on the subject person of a guardianship or protective proceeding, service 

Commented [MM7]: If the party is represented, is the 
signer the party or the party’s attorney? If it’s an attorney, 
does the attorney’s signature require a notary? 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

10 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

must be made by a person authorized in Civil Rule 4(d), and the subject person may 
waive service only in accordance with A.R.S. §§ 14-5309(B) or 14-5405(B). 

(b) Personal Service on Other Persons.  Whenever A.R.S. Title 14 requires personal 
service of a document on any other person, service must be made under Civil Rules 4, 
4.1, and 4.2. 

(c) Personal Service When a Money Judgment Is Requested.  If a petition requests 
that the court enter a money judgment against a person, service of a copy of the 
petition and a copy of the notice of the initial hearing on that petition must be made 
on that person under Civil Rules 4, 4.1, and 4.2. 

Rule 12.  Telephonic and Video Attendance and Testimony 
(a) Definitions. 

(1) “Proceeding.”  When used in this rule, “proceeding” means a court event that 
interested persons or their attorneys have an opportunity to attend.  These events 
include, but are not limited to, a trial, hearing, oral argument, and conference. 

(2) “Telephonic.”  When used in this rule, “telephonic” means by telephone, video 
conferencing, or other available audio or audiovisual technology. 

(b) When Permitted.  Parties and their attorneys are expected to appear in open court for 
court proceedings unless the court, in its discretion, permits telephonic attendance 
under this rule.  The court may allow a person to telephonically attend, or testify at, a 
proceeding if both of the following are true: 

(1) that person can be heard by every other person participating in the proceeding, 
including the judicial officer and, if applicable, the court reporter or an electronic 
recording system; and 

(2) no party will be unfairly prejudiced by the telephonic attendance or testimony. 

(c) How Requested.  Unless otherwise ordered by the court, a person who wishes to 
telephonically attend or testify at a proceeding must either file a written motion or 
make an oral motion in open court.  The request may be for a particular proceeding or 
for multiple proceedings.  A written motion made under this rule must be served on 
all parties and any person who has filed a demand for written notice and must be 
accompanied by a proposed order. 

Commented [MM8]: Isn’t “written” implied by “filed?”  
If so, we should delete the word “written.” 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

11 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(d) Time for Making Request.  Unless otherwise provided by local rule, a written or oral 
motion to allow telephonic attendance or testimony must be made in a timely manner 
considering the circumstances at the time the request was made.  Circumstances may 
include but are not limited to (1) the promptness of the party in making the request; 
(2) the nature of the proceeding, including whether it is contested or evidentiary; (3) 
whether all other parties agree to the telephonic attendance or testimony; (4) the 
reason why telephonic attendance or testimony is being requested; and (5) logistical 
factors. 

(e) Objection to Request.  A party opposing a written motion made under this rule must 
file a response no later than 5 court days after the motion is served.  The court may 
modify or waive this time limit. 

(f) Ruling.  The court may rule on a written motion made under this rule before a 
response is filed, and without a reply or oral argument. 

(g) Use of Exhibits During Telephonic Testimony.  Unless otherwise ordered by the 
court, before a party may question a person testifying telephonically about an exhibit, 
that party must: 

(1) have provided that person and all parties, in advance, with a copy of that exhibit, 
marked so that it can be easily identified by that person, all parties, and the court; 
and 

(2) confirm to the court that the exhibit provided to the court is identical to the 
exhibit provided to the person who is testifying telephonically. 

(h) Costs of Telephonic Attendance or Testimony.  The person requesting telephonic 
attendance or testimony must arrange it, and, unless the court orders otherwise, pay 
the related costs. 

COMMENT TO THE 2020 AMENDMENTS 

A party should carefully consider a request to present telephonic testimony in a contested 
matter.  Demeanor while testifying is an important factor used by the court to assess a 
witness’s credibility.  A party who offers a witness by telephone may be at a 
disadvantage if the testimony is contradicted by a witness who testifies in person.   



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

12 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

PART II.  INITIATION OF PROBATE PROCEEDINGS 

Rule 13.  Probate Information Form and Notice of Change of Contact Information 
Form 
(a) Definitions.  For purposes of this rule, 

(1) “Contact information” means the information designated on the Probate 
Information Form as contact information; and 

(2) “Fiduciary” means a personal representative, guardian, or conservator, whether 
temporary or permanent. 

(b) Probate Information Form. 

(1) Generally.  A party who requests the appointment of a personal representative 
must file Form 11, Probate Information Form.  A party who requests the 
appointment of a guardian or conservator, whether temporary or permanent, must 
file Form 12, Probate Information Form. 

(2) Confidentiality.  The court must maintain a Probate Information Form filed 
under this rule as a confidential document under Rule 8. 

(3) No Service.  Except as required by the court, a party who files a Probate 
Information Form is not required to provide other parties or interested persons 
with a copy of the form. 

(4) Non-Compliance.  The clerk may not reject a petition or application because the 
filing party failed to provide all the information required in the Probate 
Information Form. 

(5) Duty to Correct.  A party who has filed a Probate Information Form and who 
subsequently discovers that the date of birth or social security number contained 
in that Probate Information Form is incorrect must file an amended Probate 
Information Form with the correct information within 10 court days after 
discovery. 

(c) Notice of Change of Contact Information. 

(1) Generally. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

13 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(A) Change in Contact Information for Fiduciary.  If a fiduciary’s contact 
information changes during the fiduciary’s appointment in a probate case, the 
fiduciary must file Form 13, Notice of Change of Contact Information Form, 
within 10 court days after such change occurs. 

(B) Change in Contact Information for Ward.  If a ward’s contact information 
changes, the ward’s guardian must file Form 14, Notice of Change of Contact 
Information Form, within 3 days of learning of such change. 

(2) No Confidentiality.  Unless the court orders otherwise, a Notice of Change of 
Contact Information filed under this rule must be maintained as part of the public 
record. 

(3) Service.  Unless the court orders otherwise, a person who files the Notice of 
Change of Contact Information Form must mail or deliver a copy to the subject 
person’s court-appointed attorney, the subject person’s statutory representative, 
and all parties to the probate case in which the form has been filed. 

(4) Non-Compliance.  Absent good cause, the fiduciary must pay all costs of the 
court or the estate that result from a failure to timely provide a Notice of Change 
of Contact Information. 

Rule 14.  Applications 
(a) Meaning of “Application.”  An “application” is a written request authorized by 

statute made to a registrar in a probate proceeding, usually without advance notice 
to interested persons, to 

(1) informally admit a will to probate or informally appoint a personal representative 
under A.R.S. §§ 14-3301 to 14-3311; 

(2) informally appoint a special administrator under A.R.S. § 14-3614(1); 

(3) issue a certificate of discharge under A.R.S. § 14-3937; 

(4) informally appoint a personal representative to administer a later discovered asset 
under A.R.S. § 14-3938; 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

14 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(5) grant a conservator the authority to exercise the powers and duties of a personal 
representative and endorse the conservator’s letters under A.R.S. § 14-5425(D); 
or 

(6) take any other action authorized by statute. 

(b) Form of Application.  An application must contain statements required by statute 
and must comply with Civil Rules 5.2(a), 5.2(b), 8(a), 8(e), 10(b), and 11. 

(c) Action upon Application. 

(1) By the Clerk.  The clerk must file and retain the application, including any 
original will submitted with the application.  Any amended application or 
subsequent petition relating to the same decedent must be filed under the same 
case number as that assigned to the prior application. 

(2) By the Registrar.  The probate registrar must promptly approve or deny the 
application.  When the registrar denies an application, the registrar must file a 
statement with reasons for the denial and provide a copy of the statement to the 
applicant. 

(d) Notice.  The applicant must provide timely notice as required by statute and must file 
proof of having given notice with the court. 

(e) Objection to Application.  Any interested person who opposes the relief requested in 
an application must file a petition. 

Rule 15.  Petitions 
(a) Meaning of “Petition.”  A “petition” is a written request to a judicial officer for 

substantive relief in a probate proceeding, usually requiring advance notice to 
interested persons and a hearing.  “Petition” includes a counter-petition, cross-
petition, and third-party petition. 

(b) Form of Petition.  A petition must contain statements required by statute and must 
comply with Civil Rules 5.2(a), 5.2(b), 8(a), 8(e), 9, 10(b), and 11. 

(c) Initial Hearing Date.  The petitioner must obtain from the court a date, time, and 
location for an initial hearing on the petition. Failure to obtain an initial hearing date 
may result in dismissal of the petition, as provided in Rule 18. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

15 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(d) Notice of Hearing on the Petition.  The petitioner must provide notice of the initial 
hearing as required by A.R.S. Title 14 and Rule 16 and must file proof of having 
given notice. 

(e) Contested Proceeding; Response.  A probate proceeding becomes contested when 
an interested person opposes a petition as follows: 

(1) Written Response.  An interested person who opposes the relief requested in a 
petition should file a response that objects to the petition, or a motion under Civil 
Rule 12, no later than 7 calendar days before the initial hearing on the petition. 

(2) Oral Response.  If an interested person does not timely file a written response 
before the initial hearing on the petition, that person must attend the hearing, 
orally respond to the petition at the hearing, and file a written response that 
objects to the petition, or a motion under Civil Rule 12, within 14 calendar days 
after the initial hearing or as the court orders. 

(3) Form of Written Response.  A written response must comply with Civil Rules 
5.2(a), 5.2(b), 8(c), 8(d), 8(e), 9, 10, and 11. 

(4) Notice of Response.  Unless the court orders otherwise, a person who files a 
written response to a petition must serve a copy of the response on all other 
parties as provided by Civil Rule 5. 

(f) Joinder or Statement of No Position.  An interested person who agrees that the 
court should grant the relief requested in a petition or response may file a notice of 
joinder.  Any person who takes no position concerning the requested relief may file a 
statement of no position.  Alternatively, a notice of joinder or statement of no position 
may be made in open court and filed within the times and in the manner provided by 
section (e). 

(g) Reply.  Unless the court directs otherwise, a party may not file a reply to a response, 
joinder, or statement of no position. 

(h) Request for Accelerated Hearing.  A party requesting an accelerated hearing on a 
petition must file a separate motion that states the legal authority and factual 
circumstances supporting the request.  The motion may incorporate by reference 
relevant allegations in the petition.  The petitioner must provide the assigned judicial 
officer a copy of the motion, a copy of the petition, and a proposed order accelerating 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

16 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

the hearing.  The court may rule on the motion requesting an accelerated hearing 
without awaiting a response or setting oral argument.  Section (h) does not apply to a 
petition under Rule 44 that requests the appointment of a temporary guardian or 
conservator. 

(i) Ex Parte Petitions.  Any petition that seeks relief without prior notice to interested 
persons must contain the words “ex parte” in its title.  The petitioner must state in the 
petition the legal authority and factual circumstances supporting the ex parte request. 

Rule 16.  Notice of Initial Hearing on Petition 
(a) Required Content.  The notice of an initial hearing on a petition required by Rule 

15(d) must state: 

(1) the title of the petition to be heard; 

(2) the date, time, and place of the initial hearing; and 

(3) the name of the judicial officer before whom the petition is set for hearing. 

(b) Required Warning.  The notice must include the following warning: 

This is a legal notice; your rights may be affected.  [Éste es un aviso legal.  
Sus derechos podrían ser afectados.] 

You are not required to attend this hearing.  However, if you oppose any of 
the relief requested in the petition that accompanies this notice, you must file 
with the court a written response at least 7 calendar days before the hearing 
date or you or your attorney must attend the hearing.  Any written response 
must comply with Rule 15(e) of the Arizona Rules of Probate Procedure.  If 
you do not file a timely response or attend the hearing: 

(1) the court may grant the relief requested in the petition without 
further proceedings, and 

(2) you will not receive additional notices of court proceedings 
relating to the petition unless you file a Demand for Notice pursuant 
to Title 14, Arizona Revised Statutes. 

Commented [MM9]: Added this to clarify that it requires 
the support for the ex parte request rather than the underlying 
motion 

Commented [MM10]: Demand for Notice appears in 
these rules with and without capital letters.  It should be 
shown consistently.  Staff suggests lower case letters, as used 
regarding other documents, e.g., a notice of hearing. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

17 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(c) Required Copy of the Petition.  Except for notices that are published, the notice 
must be accompanied by a copy of the petition that is the subject of the initial hearing, 
unless the court orders otherwise or the person being served waives this requirement. 

(d) Petition for the Confirmation of a Sale of Real Estate. 

(1) Notice of Hearing.  In addition to the information required by (a) and (b), a 
notice of an initial hearing on a petition for the confirmation of a sale of real 
estate must contain the following information: 

(A) the name and telephone number of the petitioner or the petitioner’s attorney; 

(B) the proposed sales price; and 

(C) a statement that the court may consider other bids at the hearing. 

(2) Providing, Posting, and Publishing the Notice. 

(A) Providing the Notice to Interested Persons.  The notice of the hearing must be 
provided to all interested persons as required by A.R.S. § 14-1401(A), unless 
the court orders otherwise. 

(B) Posting and Publication.  The court also may require either or both of the 
following to be done at least 14 calendar days before the hearing: 

(i) that the notice of hearing to be posted on the property to be sold, and 

(ii) that the notice of hearing be published in a newspaper of general circulation 
in the county in which the property is located. 

(C) Placement of Posted Notice.  If the court orders that notice of the hearing be 
posted on the property, the notice must be posted in a place that is visible from 
the front of the property and, if the property is a structure, in a place that is 
visible from outside the structure. 

(e) Inapplicability of Civil Rule 6(c).  The provisions of Civil Rule 6(c) do not apply to 
a notice of hearing in a probate proceeding. 

Rule 17.  Initial Hearing on a Petition 
(a) Attendance at the Initial Hearing. 

Commented [MM11]: Rules 16 and 17 do not state the 
time interval between the petition filing date and the hearing 
date.  Although this might be statutory, should the rules 
nonetheless include a time reference? 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

18 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(1) Petitioner.  The petitioner must attend the initial hearing unless the court has 
specified otherwise. 

(2) Other Interested Persons and Their Attorneys. 

(A) No Opposition to Relief Requested in Petition.  Unless the court has specified 
otherwise, an interested person who does not oppose the relief requested in the 
petition is not required to attend the initial hearing. 

(B) Opposition to Relief Requested in Petition.  An interested person who opposes 
the relief requested in the petition must attend the initial hearing unless the 
interested person has filed a written response to the petition at least 7 calendar 
days before the hearing.  If the interested person attends the initial hearing, the 
interested person must notify the court of such person’s presence and 
opposition to the petition. 

(b) Procedure at Initial Hearing. 

(1) No Opposition.  If no interested person has opposed the relief requested in the 
petition as provided in Rule 15, the court may decide the issues raised in the 
petition at the initial hearing without setting additional court events. 

(2) Opposition.  If an interested person has opposed the requested relief as provided 
in Rule 15, the clerk must note the opposition in the court’s minutes and the court 
must follow the procedures set forth in Rules 27-29 relating to contested matters. 

(c) Evidence.  Evidence may not be presented at the initial hearing if the court has 
specified that the petitioner is not required to attend the hearing.  However, if the 
petitioner attends the initial hearing, evidence may be presented upon agreement of 
the parties. 

Rule 18.  Dismissal for Failure to Obtain a Hearing Date 
(a) Administrative Dismissal of Petition.  If the petitioner has not obtained an initial 

hearing date within 60 days after filing a petition, the court must notify petitioner, and 
anyone filing a demand for notice, that the petition may be administratively dismissed 
30 days from the date of the court’s notice, unless within that 30 days the petitioner 
has obtained a hearing date or an extension of the dismissal date. 

(b) Effect of Dismissal. 

Commented [MM12]: Must the clerk note in the court’s 
minutes that a written response was filed before the hearing?  
This should be apparent from the record. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

19 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(1) Only Petition Filed in the Case.  An order administratively dismissing the only 
petition filed in a probate case is a dismissal without prejudice of the entire case. 

(2) Other Petitions Filed in the Case.  When more than one petition has been filed 
in a probate case, an order administratively dismissing one petition dismisses 
only that petition without prejudice. 

(c) Dismissal Authority.  The court’s authority to issue notices and to dismiss petitions 
and cases under this rule may be performed by court administration or by an 
appropriate electronic process under the court’s supervision. 

PART III.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AND ACTIONS 

Rule 19.  Motions and Oral Argument 
(a) Definition. 

(1) “Motion” is a request made by a party to a judicial officer that seeks seeking 
procedural rather than substantive relief made by a party to a judicial officer. 

(2) “Oral argument” is an event at which the parties argue their positions in support 
of, or in opposition to, a motion. 

(b) Rulings on Motions.  Unless required by the Civil Rules, a judicial officer may rule 
on a motion without a hearing or oral argument. 

(c) Setting Oral Argument.  The court may set oral argument if requested by a party, or 
on the court’s own motion. 

(d) Notice of Oral Argument.  The court must notify the parties of the date, time, and 
place of an oral argument, but it is not required to provide notice to an interested 
person unless the interested person has filed a demand for notice. 

(e) Attendance at Oral Argument.  Parties must attend the oral argument unless the 
court orders otherwise. 

(f) Evidence.  Evidence that was not submitted with a motion, response, or reply, or live 
testimony of witnesses, may not be presented at an oral argument. 

(g) Accelerated Ruling on Motion.  If a party requests an accelerated ruling on a 
motion, the motion must contain the words “Accelerated Ruling Requested” below its 

Commented [MM13]: Rephrased for clarity. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

20 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

title.  The motion must describe the legal authority and factual circumstances 
supporting the request for an accelerated ruling.  The court may summarily grant or 
deny the request. 

(h) Ex Parte Motion.  Any motion that seeks relief without prior notice to interested 
persons must contain the words “ex parte” in its title.  The moving party must state in 
the motion the legal authority and factual circumstances supporting the ex parte 
request. 

Rule 20.  Conference 
(a) Definition.  A “conference” is an event at which the court and the parties discuss the status 

and scheduling of a court proceeding or any other matter as determined by the court and the 
parties.  “Conference” includes a pretrial conference, a scheduling conference, and a status 
conference, but not a settlement conference under Rule 22. 

(b) Setting a Conference.  The court may set a conference if requested by a party or on the 
court’s own motion. 

(c) Notice of a Conference.  The court must notify the parties of the date, time, and place of a 
conference, but it is not required to provide notice of the conference to an interested person 
unless the interested person has filed a demand for notice. 

(d) Attendance at a Conference.  Parties must attend a conference unless the court orders 
otherwise. 

(e) Evidence.  Although the parties may state their positions at a conference, they may not 
present evidence may not be presented. 

Rule 21.  Alternative Dispute Resolution 
(a) Generally. On a party’s motion or on its own, the court may order the parties to 

participate in one or more alternative dispute resolution processes, such as a 
settlement conference or, if the parties agree, private mediation or a form of 
arbitration. 

(b) Duty to Confer and Participate.  The parties must make a good faith effort to agree 
on an alternative dispute resolution process.  If they participate in an alternative 
dispute resolution process, they must do so in good faith. 

Commented [MM14]: As in Rule 15, I added this to 
clarify that it requires support for the ex parte request rather 
than the underlying motion, 

Commented [MM15]: This rule is in 12 point font, it 
should be 13. 

Commented [MM16]: Changed this to the active voice. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

21 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(c) Compulsory Arbitration Not Required.  Unless the parties agree otherwise, they 
are not subject to compulsory arbitration under Civil Rules 72 through 77. 

Rule 22.  Settlement Conference 
(a) Definition.  A “settlement conference” is a court event at which a judicial officer 

attempts to facilitate a voluntary settlement between the parties. 

(b) Setting a Settlement Conference.  The court may set a settlement conference on 
request of any party or on the court’s own motion. 

(c) Notice of a Settlement Conference.  The court must notify the parties of the date, 
time, and place of a settlement conference, but it is not required to provide notice to 
an interested person, even when the interested person has filed a demand for notice. 

(d) Attendance at a Settlement Conference.  All parties and their attorneys must attend 
a settlement conference unless the court orders otherwise. 

(e) Record.  Settlement discussions are not recorded by a court reporter or an electronic 
recording system.  If the parties reach a settlement, the terms of the settlement must 
either be placed on the record and entered in the minutes or be included in a writing 
signed by the parties. 

(f) Communication with Parties.  The judicial officer may communicate with each 
party during the conference outside the presence of the other parties. 

(g) Evidence.  Documents or other things may be presented to the judicial officer who is 
conducting the settlement conference, but those items are not admitted into evidence.  
Testimony may be taken only in support of, or to make a record of, the parties’ 
agreement. 

Rule 23.  Evidentiary Hearing 
(a) Definition.  An “evidentiary hearing” is a court event held after an initial hearing at 

which the parties present evidence for a determination of factual issues.  An 
evidentiary hearing includes a trial. 

(b) Setting of an Evidentiary Hearing.  If the court does not decide at the initial hearing 
all the issues raised in a petition, the court may set an evidentiary hearing on the 
remaining issues. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

22 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(c) Notice of an Evidentiary Hearing.  Unless the court orders otherwise, the court must 
notify the parties of the date, time, and place of an evidentiary hearing, but it is not 
required to provide notice to an interested person unless the interested person has filed 
a demand for notice. 

(d) Procedure at an Evidentiary Hearing.  To the extent not inconsistent with these 
rules or A.R.S. Title 14, the Civil Rules governing trial procedures apply to 
evidentiary hearings in probate proceedings. 

Rule 24.  Enforcement of Court Orders 
(a) Generally.  In addition to the court’s inherent powers to enforce compliance with 

court orders and to impose sanctions provided in statutes and in Civil Rule 37, the 
court may issue arrest warrants and orders to show cause. 

(b) Civil Arrest Warrants.  Pursuant to Civil Rule 64.1, the court may issue a civil arrest 
warrant to obtain the appearance of a person when that person has failed to appear 
after receiving actual notice of an order or subpoena to appear at a specific time and 
location that included a warning that the failure to appear might result in the issuance 
of a civil arrest warrant. 

(c) Fiduciary Arrest Warrants.  Pursuant to A.R.S. § 14-5701, the court may issue a 
fiduciary arrest warrant to obtain the fiduciary’s appearance when that fiduciary has 
failed to appear in court after receiving actual notice of an order to appear at a specific 
time and location that included a warning that the failure to appear might result in the 
issuance of a fiduciary arrest warrant. 

(d) Orders to Show Cause.  The court may issue an order to show cause to address 
problems arising from a party’s failure to discharge duties or obligations required by 
court order, court rule, or statute. The procedure is governed by Rule 25(b). 

(e) Criminal Contempt.  This rule does not govern criminal contempt sanctions. 

Rule 25.  Compliance and Order to Show Cause Hearings 
(a) Compliance Hearing. 

(1) Definition.  A “compliance hearing” is a court event to determine whether a 
party has complied with a court order. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

23 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(2) Setting of Compliance Hearing.  The court may set a compliance hearing 
whenever the court determines such a hearing is appropriate. 

(3) Notice of Compliance Hearing.  The court must notify the parties of the date, 
time, and place of the compliance hearing, but it is not required to provide notice 
to an interested person unless the interested person has filed a demand for notice. 

(4) Attendance at Compliance Hearing.  Unless the court orders otherwise, only the 
person who was ordered to perform the task that is the subject of the compliance 
hearing, and that person’s attorney, must appear at the compliance hearing. 

(5) Evidence.  The court may receive evidence to determine whether a person has 
complied with the court’s order. 

(b) Order to Show Cause Hearing. 

(1) Definition.  An “order to show cause hearing” is a court event to address a 
party’s or a fiduciary’s failure to discharge duties or obligations required by court 
order, court rule, or statute. 

(2) Setting of Order to Show Cause Hearing.  The court may set an order to show 
cause hearing on the filing of an application and affidavit that comply with Civil 
Rule 7.3, or on the court’s initiative.  The court must set a specific date, time, and 
place for the order to show cause hearing. 

(3) Notice of Order to Show Cause Hearing.  Notice of an order to show cause 
hearing must be served in accordance with Civil Rule 7.3. 

(4) Evidence.  The court may receive evidence at an order to show cause hearing. 

Rule 26.  Proposed Orders, Decrees, and Judgments 
(a) Definitions.  A “proposed order” means any order, decree, or judgment that has not 

been signed by a judicial officer. 

(b) Generally.  This rule rather than Civil Rule 5.1(d) applies to the submission of 
proposed orders. 

(c) Form of Proposed Order.  A proposed order must comply with the requirements of 
Civil Rule 5.2.  On the signature page, there must be at least two lines of text above 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

24 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

the signature line.  A proposed order ruling on a petition must state the hearing date 
on that petition immediately below the order’s title. 

(d) Time to Submit.  A proposed order must be submitted to the assigned judicial officer 
at least 5 court days before the hearing. 

(e) Service and Filing. 

(1) A proposed order must be served on all parties when it is submitted to the court. 

(2) A party must file a proposed order when directed by the court or required by rule 
and may file it under subpart (e)(3) only to preserve the record on appeal. 

(3) A party may file a proposed order only as an attachment or exhibit to a filing. 
The clerk may not file a proposed order unless it is an attachment or an exhibit. 

(f) Duty to Provide Copies and Envelopes.  Unless the court orders otherwise, the party 
submitting the proposed order must include with it copies to be conformed and 
postage-paid envelopes addressed to each party who has entered an appearance in the 
case. 

(g) Stipulations and Motions; Proposed Forms of Order. 

(1) Stipulations.  All written stipulations must be accompanied by a proposed order.  
If the proposed order is signed and entered, no minute entry need issue. 

(2) Motions.  If a motion is accompanied by a proposed order, no minute entry need 
issue if the order is signed and entered. 

PART IV.  CONTESTED PROCEEDINGS 

Rule 27.  Management of Contested Probate Proceedings 
(a) Generally.  If a petition is contested, the court must either 

(1) enter an order setting litigation deadlines; or 

(2) order the parties to confer and set a deadline for the parties to file a joint report 
and proposed scheduling order as described in this rule. 

(b) Duty to Confer.  If the court orders the parties to confer, the parties must discuss all 
the following: 

Commented [MM17]: Does this require additional 
clarification, i.e., should it specific what rule or rules require 
the filing of a proposed order? 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

25 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(1) agreements that could aid in the just, speedy, and inexpensive resolution of the 
case, including resolution by means other than litigation; 

(2) anticipated disclosures concerning witnesses, including the number of fact 
witnesses, whether they the parties intend to use expert witnesses, and how much 
deposition testimony will be necessary; 

(3) anticipated disclosures of documents, including any issues already known to 
them concerning electronically stored information; and 

(4) motions they expect to file, and whether any of the motions can be avoided by 
stipulations, amendments, or other cooperative activity. 

(c) Contents of the Joint Report.  The joint report must state, to the extent practicable, 
the parties' positions on the subjects set forth in sections (b) and (d) of this rule.  In 
addition, the joint report must state whether any party has demanded a jury trial under 
Rule 29, and if so, whether any other party disputes the right to a jury trial.  The joint 
report may include any other matters a party deems appropriate.  However, in the joint 
report, the parties must not discuss details of settlement negotiations, criticize the 
rejection of proposed agreements, or argue that another party has taken unreasonable 
positions.  A party’s signature, or authorized signature, on the joint report is the 
party’s certification that the party conferred in good faith regarding the subjects set 
forth in this rule. 

(d) Contents of the Proposed Scheduling Order.  The parties must submit a proposed 
scheduling order with their joint report.  The proposed scheduling order must specify 
deadlines for the following by month, day, and year: 

(1) serving initial disclosures under Civil Rule 26.1, if disclosure statements have 
not already been served or waived; 

(2) identifying areas of expert testimony; 

(3) identifying and disclosing expert witnesses and their opinions under Civil Rule 
26.1(d); 

(4) propounding written discovery; 

(5) disclosing nonexpert witnesses; 

Commented [MM18]: Clarifies that the parties intend to 
use experts, not the fact witnesses, 

Commented [MM19]: The word “to” was omitted. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

26 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(6) completing depositions; 

(7) completing all discovery other than depositions; 

(8) final supplementation of Civil Rule 26.1 disclosures; 

(9) a settlement conference or private mediation, if ordered by the court; 

(10) filing dispositive motions; 

(11) filing a joint pre-trial statement, if ordered by the court; and 

(12) the earliest date the parties will be ready for trial, including the anticipated 
number of days for trial. 

(e) Contents of Scheduling Order.  In addition to the items listed in section (d), the 
scheduling order must include either a trial date or a date for a trial-setting conference 
under Civil Rule 16(e). The parties may modify the dates established in a scheduling 
order only by court order for good cause. 

Rule 28.  Disclosure and Discovery 
(a) Generally. 

(1) Unless inconsistent with these rules, Civil Rules 26 through 37 apply to 
disclosure and discovery in contested probate proceedings, except that Civil Rule 
26(f)(1) is replaced by subpart (a)(2) of this rule, and Civil Rule 26.2 is replaced 
by section (b) of this rule. 

(2) A party may not seek discovery from any source, including nonparties, unless 

(A) a petition is pending before the court; 

(B) authorized by section (e) of this rule; 

(C) authorized by statute; or 

(D) the court orders otherwise. 

(b) Presumptive Limits.  Unless the court orders otherwise, each side in a probate 
proceeding is presumptively limited to the following discovery: 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

27 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(1) Interrogatories.  20 interrogatories, with each subpart of a nonuniform 
interrogatory counted as a separate interrogatory. 

(2) Request for Admissions.  10 requests. 

(3) Requests for Production.  10 requests. 

(4) Depositions of Fact Witnesses.  10 hours total. 

(5) Depositions of Expert Witnesses.  4 hours for each expert.  For purposes of this 
rule, a treating physician is an expert witness. 

(c) Limits by Court Order.  The court on its own or on a party’s motion may modify the 
presumptive limits in section (b). 

(d) Attorney Fees Claim.  For purposes of a claim for attorney fees, the fact that a party 
undertook discovery within the limits of this rule does not establish that the discovery 
was necessary or that the time expended on that discovery was reasonable. 

(e) Fiduciary Subpoena Authority.  Even when no contested matter is pending, any of 
the following persons, in furtherance of that person’s duties, may request the clerk to 
issue a subpoena to produce materials or permit inspections: 

(1) a public fiduciary ordered by the court to conduct an investigation; 

(2) a licensed fiduciary appointed by the court as a guardian, conservator, or 
personal representative; 

(3) an unlicensed fiduciary expressly authorized by the court to request the 
subpoena; or 

(4) the attorney representing a guardian, conservator, or personal representative, 
regardless of whether that fiduciary is licensed. 

A person who requests the issuance of a subpoena under this rule must comply with the 
applicable requirements of Civil Rule 45. 

Rule 29.  Demand for Jury Trial 
(a) Demand.  On any issue triable of right by a jury, a party may obtain a jury trial by 

filing a written demand at any time after the proceeding is commenced, but no later 

Commented [MM20]: I think this makes the sentence 
clearer. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

28 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

than 30 days after the initial hearing on the petition.  The demand may not be 
combined with any other motion or pleading. 

(b) Specifying Issues.  In its demand, a party must specify the issues for which it requests 
a jury. The party is deemed to have waived a jury trial on all issues not specified in 
the demand.  If a party has demanded a jury trial on only some issues, any other party, 
within 10 court days after the demand is served or within a shorter time ordered by the 
court, may file a demand for jury trial on any other issues triable of right by a jury. 

(c) Waiver; Withdrawal.  A party waives a jury trial unless its demand is properly filed.  
A proper demand may be withdrawn only if all parties consent. 

(d) If a Demand Is Made.  If a jury trial is properly demanded on an issue, the issue 
must be tried by jury unless 

(1) all parties file a stipulation to a nonjury trial or so stipulate on the record; or 

(2) the court finds that the issue is not triable by jury as a matter of right. 

(e) If No Demand Is Made.  The court must try all issues on which a jury trial is not 
properly demanded. 

(f) Advisory Jury; Jury Trial by Consent.  Even if an issue is not triable of right by a 
jury, the court may order the issue tried by a jury.  The jury’s decision on the issue 
will be advisory only, unless the parties agree that the jury’s decision will be binding. 

PART V.  GENERAL ROLES AND DUTIES OF PARTICIPANTS 

Rule 30.  Representation of Parties 
(a) Self-Represented Parties.  A person may represent himself or herself.  A self-

represented party must provide the court with a current mailing address, email 
address, and telephone number, and notify the court of any change in that information. 

(b) Limitation.  Unless a person is an active member of the State Bar of Arizona or an 
attorney who has been admitted pro hac vice under the Rules of the Arizona Supreme 
Court, that person may not represent someone else. 

(c) Fiduciaries.  A non-lawyer serving as a fiduciary may represent himself or herself in 
that capacity. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

29 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

Rule 31.  Duties of a Fiduciary’s Attorney 
(a) Duty to Minimize Legal Expenses.  To minimize legal expenses, a fiduciary’s 

attorney must encourage the fiduciary to take actions the fiduciary is authorized to 
perform and can perform competently rather than have the attorney perform them. 

(b) Duty upon Withdrawal.  A fiduciary’s attorney who moves to withdraw must 
comply with Civil Rule 5.3 and must inform the court of any issues pending in the 
probate case and whether all required reports, inventories, accounts, and documents 
have been filed. 

Rule 32.  Statutory Representative (Formerly Known as Guardian Ad Litem) 
(a) Definition.  “Statutory representative” means a person appointed under A.R.S. § 14-

1408 and includes the role traditionally described as a guardian ad litem. 

(b) Generally.  The court may appoint a statutory representative as authorized by A.R.S. 
§ 14-1408. 

(c) How Requested.  If a party requests the appointment of a statutory representative, the 
party must file a verified petition that states with specificity the following: 

(1) whether the person for whom the statutory representative is requested is a minor, 
an incapacitated person, an unborn child, or a person whose identity or location 
is unknown; and 

(2) why that person’s interest is not represented under A.R.S. §§ 14-1404 through 
14-1407, or why otherwise available representation is inadequate. 

(d) Notice of Hearing.  The petitioner must give notice of the hearing to all interested 
persons as set forth in A.R.S. § 14-1401.  In addition: 

(1) Minor.  If the petitioner requests appointment of a statutory representative for a 
minor, the petitioner must give notice as set forth in A.R.S.§ 14-5207(A). 

(2) Incapacitated Person.  If the petitioner requests appointment of a statutory 
representative for an alleged incapacitated person, the petitioner must give notice 
as set forth in A.R.S. § 14-5309. 

(3) Person Whose Identity or Location is Unknown.  If the petitioner requests 
appointment of a statutory representative for a person whose identity or location 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

30 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

is unknown, the petitioner must give notice as set forth in A.R.S.§ 14-
1401(A)(3). 

(e) Appointment of Statutory Representative for Subject Person of Adult 
Guardianship or Protective Proceeding.  The court must not appoint a statutory 
representative for the subject person of an adult guardianship or protective proceeding 
unless the court, after notice and hearing, has found that the subject person is an 
incapacitated person as defined in A.R.S. § 14-5101 or is a person in need of 
protection under § 14-5401(A)(2). 

(f) Order. 

(1) Required Provisions. An order appointing a statutory representative must state: 

(A) the basis for the appointment, 

(B) the appointment’s scope and duration, 

(C) whether the representative will represent the person or the best interests of the 
person; and 

(D) any applicable terms of compensation. 

(2) Additional Provisions.  An order appointing a statutory representative may grant 
immediate access to the person for whom the statutory representative has been 
appointed and to medical and financial records pertaining to such person, 
including records and information that are otherwise privileged or confidential. 

(g) Participation in Court Proceedings.  A statutory representative is a party to the 
probate case in which the statutory representative was appointed and has the same 
rights and responsibilities of any other party. 

COMMENT TO THE 2020 AMENDMENTS 

The position formerly known as “guardian ad litem” was replaced in probate proceedings 
by that of a statutory “representative.”  See A.R.S. § 14-1408(A) (eff. 2009); Unif. Trust 
Code § 305 cmt.  The official Comment to Uniform Trust Code section 305, from which 
A.R.S. § 14-1408 is derived, explains that the powers of a representative may be broader 
than the powers of a guardian ad litem. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

31 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

Rule 33.  Compensation for Fiduciaries, Attorneys, and Statutory Representatives 
(a) Generally. 

(1) Guardianships and Conservatorships.  A request for approval of fees for a 
guardian, a conservator, an attorney, or a statutory representative to be paid from 
an estate of a ward or protected person, or a trust that the ward or protected 
person established, must be made in a petition filed under section (c) or section 
(d) of this rule. 

(2) Decedents’ Estates and Trusts. A personal representative, a trustee, a statutory 
representative, or an attorney for any of them, is not required to request court 
approval of fees to be paid from the estate or trust, unless the court orders 
otherwise. If approval is requested, the request must be made in a petition filed 
under section (c) or section (d). 

(b) Content of Request for Approval.  Any request for approval of compensation must 
be accompanied by statements that include the following information: 

(1) If requested fees are based on hourly rates, the statements must specify the 
services provided and explain the tasks performed, the date each task was 
performed, the time expended in performing each task, the name and position of 
the person who performed each task, and the hourly rate charged for such 
services. Block billing is not permitted. 

(2) If requested fees are not based on hourly rates, the statement must include an 
explanation of the fee arrangement and a computation of the fee for which 
approval is sought. 

(3) If the request includes reimbursement of costs, the statement must specify each 
cost, the date the cost was incurred, the purpose of the cost, and the amount of 
reimbursement requested or, if reimbursement of costs is based on some other 
method, an explanation of the method being used. 

(c) Approval in an Account.  If a petition requests approval of a fiduciary's account and 
the account lists fees paid to a fiduciary, an attorney, or a statutory representative, the 
petition must request the court’s approval of those fees paid during the accounting 
period.  Statements that document the fees paid and conform with section (b) must be 
submitted with the petition. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

32 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(d) Approval by Separate Petition.  If a request for approval of fees is not included in a 
petition for approval of the fiduciary’s account, a fiduciary, an attorney, or a statutory 
representative may file a separate petition for approval of compensation. 

(e) Waiver.  An attorney or statutory representative waives compensation from the estate 
of a ward or protected person if a request is not timely submitted under A.R.S. §14-
5110. 

(f) Objections.  A person who opposes a request for approval of compensation must file 
a response as prescribed in Rule 15(e).  The response must provide a specific basis for 
each objection. 

(g) Fee Guidelines.  When determining whether compensation is reasonable, the court 
must follow statewide fee guidelines contained in A.C.J.A. § 3-303. 

Rule 34.  Prudent Management of Costs 
The following are in addition to the duties imposed by A.R.S. § 14-1104 and A.C.J.A. § 
3-303. 

(a) Disclosure When Cost Exceeds Benefits.  A statutory representative, guardian, 
conservator, personal representative, attorney for a fiduciary, or an attorney for a ward 
or protected person must timely disclose to the court and the other parties any 
reasonable belief that the projected cost of complying with a court order may exceed 
the likely benefit to the ward, protected person, decedent’s estate, or trust. 

(b) Orders.  If appropriate and if consistent with due process, the court may enter or 
modify orders to protect or further the best interests of the ward, protected person, 
decedent’s estate, or trust. 

(c) Market Rates.  In appointing a fiduciary, attorney, or statutory representative, in 
ruling on or considering a budget objection, and in ruling on a request to substitute a 
court-appointed fiduciary, attorney, or statutory representative, the court and the 
fiduciary should not pay more than market rates for a good or service. 

(d) Competitive Bids.  At any stage of the proceedings, the court may require 
competitive bids for goods or services. 

Rule 35.  Repetitive Filings; Vexatious Conduct; Remedies 
(a) Definitions.  For purposes of this rule, 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

33 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(1) “Repetitive filing” means a petition, motion, or other document that 

(A) requests relief that is the same or substantially similar to the relief requested in 
an earlier petition, motion, or document filed within the preceding 12 months 
by the same person; and 

(B) the later-filed motion or petition does not describe in detail a change in fact or 
law that supports the requested relief. 

(2) “Vexatious conduct” means habitual, repetitive conduct undertaken solely or 
primarily to harass or injure another party or that party’s representative, cause 
unreasonable delay in proceedings, cause undue harm to the ward or protected 
person, or cause unnecessary expense.  It does not include conduct undertaken in 
good faith. 

(b) Notice of Repetitive Filings. 

(1) Grounds.  A party may file a notice of repetitive filings if the party has a good 
faith belief that a person has filed a repetitive filing. 

(2) Timing and Identification of the Earlier Filing.  A party must file a notice of 
repetitive filing no later than the response or objection deadline for the allegedly 
repetitive filing.  A notice of repetitive filing must include the title and date of 
the alleged repetitive filing, the title and date of the earlier filing, and the date of 
any court ruling on the earlier filing. 

(3) Effect of a Notice.  A notice of repetitive filing stays the deadline to respond or 
object to the alleged repetitive filing until further court order. 

(4) Court’s Authority.  The court may summarily strike a repetitive filing on its own 
motion or after receiving a notice of repetitive filing. 

(c) Remedies.  If the court finds that a person has engaged in repetitive filings or 
vexatious conduct, the court may do any combination of the following: 

(1) require the person to obtain the court’s permission to file future pleadings and 
other papers in the probate case or in other cases, and, if the court enters such an 
order, no party is required to respond to the person’s future filings until ordered 
to do so; 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

34 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(2) order that no response to the person’s future requests for information is required, 
unless a later order requires it; or 

(3) order any other remedy provided by law. 

PART VI.  RULES THAT APPLY TO GUARDIANSHIPS, 
CONSERVATORSHIPS, AND DECEDENT’S ESTATES 

Rule 36.  Order Appointing Guardian, Conservator, Personal Representative, or 
Special Administrator 
(a) Orders. 

(1) Required Warning.  Every order appointing a guardian, conservator, personal 
representative, or special administrator must include the following language: 
“Warning: This appointment is not effective until the clerk of the superior court 
issues the letters of appointment.” 

(2) Guardianship Finding.  Every order appointing a guardian must include a 
specific finding as to whether the guardian’s appointment is due solely to the 
ward’s physical incapacity. 

(3) Bond Amount.  Any order requiring a bond must state the bond amount.  Letters 
of appointment will not issue until the bond has been filed. 

(b) Restrictions on Authority. 

(1) Generally.  Every order appointing a guardian, conservator, personal 
representative, or special administrator, or that authorizes a single transaction or 
other protective arrangement, must state any restrictions on the fiduciary’s 
powers. 

(2) Proof of Restricted Account.  Unless the court orders otherwise, the fiduciary is 
responsible for ensuring that proof of any restricted account is filed not later than 
30 days after the court enters an order restricting the account.  The fiduciary must 
use Form 10 for the proof of restricted account. 

(3) Attorney Responsibilities.  Unless the court orders otherwise, an attorney who 
receives any proceeds to be restricted for the benefit of a minor, incapacitated 
person, or protected person must ensure that the restricted account is established 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

35 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

and properly titled, and that the funds are deposited into the restricted account.  
The court also may order that other parties or attorneys ensure that the 
restrictions are properly implemented and that a proof of restricted account is 
filed. 

COMMENT TO THE 2020 AMENDMENTS 

The following examples provide sample language for restrictions of authority in an 
appointment order: 

“No real property may be leased for more than one year, sold, encumbered, or   conveyed 
except as authorized by court order.” 

 “No withdrawals of principal or interest may be made except as authorized by court 
order.  Unless the court orders otherwise, reinvestment may be made without further 
court order so long as funds remain restricted in this institution at this branch.” 

“The guardian has no authority over placement or movement of the ward’s residence, 
absent an emergency, except as authorized by court order.”  Or, “The guardian’s 
authority is limited to the power to make medical decisions.” 

Rule 37.  Order to Fiduciary 
(a) Generally.  The clerk must not issue letters to a personal representative, a guardian, 

or a conservator until the appointed fiduciary has signed an acknowledgment and the 
court has entered an order as described in this rule. 

(b) Order to a Personal Representative.  The order to a personal representative is Form 
1, Order to Personal Representative.  This requirement does not apply to the 
appointment of a special administrator. 

(c) Order to a Guardian.  The order to a guardian is Form 2, Order to Guardian. 

(d) Order to a Conservator.  The order to a conservator for an adult is Form 3, Order to 
Conservator.  The order to a conservator for a minor is Form 3M, Order to 
Conservator of a Minor. 

(e) Order to a Guardian and Conservator.  If the same person is being appointed as 
both guardian and conservator, the requirements of sections (c) and (d) may be 
satisfied by Form 4, Order to Guardian and Conservator. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

36 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

Rule 38.  Training for Non-Licensed Fiduciaries 
(a) Generally.  Unless the court orders otherwise, a guardian, a conservator, or a personal 

representative must complete prescribed training programs approved by the Supreme 
Court and file a Certificate of Completion before the clerk issues letters of 
appointment. 

(b) Temporary Appointment.  Unless the court orders otherwise, a person who is 
subject to the training requirements of section (a) and whose appointment is 
temporary must complete the training within 30 days after the temporary appointment 
or before the appointment is made permanent, whichever is earlier 

(c) Exemptions from Training.  The training requirements in this rule do not apply to 
licensed fiduciaries or financial institutions. 

Rule 39.  Issuing and Recording Letters of Appointment 
(a) Definition.  “Letters of appointment” is a document the clerk issues, pursuant to a 

court order, that authorizes a personal representative, guardian, or conservator to act 
for the estate or subject person. 

(b) Power to Act.  A personal representative, guardian, or conservator may not act on 
behalf of the estate or the subject person until the clerk has issued letters of 
appointment. 

(c) Duration of Appointment.  If the duration of the appointment of a personal 
representative, guardian, or conservator is limited by statute or court order, the letters 
of appointment must state the appointment’s termination date. 

(d) Limitation of Authority.  If the court restricts the authority of a personal 
representative, guardian, or conservator, the letters of appointment must include the 
language of the court’s order restricting that authority. 

(e) Certified Copies.  Before issuing certified copies of letters of appointment, the clerk 
must verify that the appointment of the personal representative, guardian, or 
conservator is in effect. 

(f) Recording Personal Representative’s Letters of Appointment.  No later than 10 
court days after issuance of the letters of appointment, a personal representative must 
record a certified copy of the letters of appointment with the county recorder in any 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

37 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

county of any state where the decedent owned real property that is subject to court- 
ordered restrictions.  No later than 45 calendar days after a county recorder has 
recorded the letters of appointment, the personal representative must file a copy of the 
recorded letters with the court. 

(g) Recording Conservator’s Letters of Appointment.  No later than 10 court days 
after issuance of the letters of appointment, a conservator must record a certified copy 
of the letters of appointment with the county recorder in every county of any state 
where the protected person owns real property.  No later than 45 calendar days after a 
county recorder has recorded the letters of appointment, the conservator must file a 
copy of the recorded letters with the court 

Rule 40.  Duties of Court-Appointed Fiduciaries 
(a) Generally.  A court-appointed fiduciary must 

(1) review all court filings prepared on the fiduciary’s behalf; and 

(2) if the fiduciary is a licensed fiduciary who is not also an active member of the 
State Bar of Arizona, place the fiduciary’s license number on all documents 
signed by the fiduciary and filed with the court. 

(b) Before Resignation or Termination.  Before resigning or having the court terminate 
the responsibilities of a court-appointed fiduciary, the fiduciary must comply with 
statutory requirements for withdrawal, including the filing of final reports and 
accounts. 

(c) Notice Following Death of a Ward or Protected Person.  No later than 14 calendar 
days after learning that the subject person has died, the guardian or conservator must 
file a notice of the subject person’s death. 

(d) Upon a Minor’s Death, Adoption, Marriage or Emancipation.  Upon a minor’s 
death, adoption, marriage or emancipation, a court-appointed guardian must file a 
notice no later than 14 calendar days after the event.  If a minor does not have a 
conservator when a guardianship terminates, the guardian must provide the court and 
former minor ward with a written list of any known assets or monies, other than 
personal effects, the guardian believes are owned by the former minor ward. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

38 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

PART VII.  RULES THAT APPLY ONLY TO GUARDIANSHIPS AND 
CONSERVATORSHIPS 

Rule 41.  Appointment of an Attorney, Medical Professional, or Investigator in a 
Guardianship or Protective Proceeding 
(a) Time and Method.  A person seeking the appointment of a guardian or the entry of a 

protective order must request the court to appoint an attorney, investigator, or medical 
professional, as required by A.R.S. Title 14, when the petition is filed.  The request 
may be included in the petition or filed as a separate motion.  The court may, on its 
own motion, appoint an attorney, investigator, or medical professional other than the 
one nominated by the petitioner. 

(b) Nomination of Attorney.  Absent good cause, a petitioner must not nominate an 
attorney to represent the subject person unless the attorney has an existing attorney-
client relationship with the subject person, and the petition describes the attorney’s 
relationship with the subject person and any relationship with the petitioner. 

(c) Prohibited Attorney Appointments.  The court may not appoint an attorney for the 
subject person, nor may the attorney accept an appointment, if 

(1) the attorney has an existing attorney-client relationship with the proposed 
guardian or conservator, or 

(2) the attorney has a prior attorney-client relationship with the proposed guardian or 
conservator, unless after disclosure of the prior relationship to the court and 
parties, the court approves the appointment. 

(d) Nomination of Physician, Psychologist, Psychiatrist, or Registered Nurse.  If a 
petitioner nominates a physician, psychologist, psychiatrist, or registered nurse to 
evaluate the subject person, the petition must describe the nominee’s prior 
relationship, if any, with the petitioner and the subject person. 

(e) Proposed Order.  When the petition is filed, the petitioner must provide to the 
assigned or authorized judicial officer a blank form of order appointing the attorney, 
investigator, and medical professional. 

(f) Notice to Appointees.  The petitioner must promptly provide each individual 
appointed under this rule with a copy of the order appointing that individual, the 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

39 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

petition requesting the appointment of a guardian or the entry of a protective order, 
and the notice of hearing. 

Rule 42.  Training, Role, and Termination of an Attorney for a Subject Person 
(a) Training.  An attorney for the subject person of an adult guardianship or protective 

proceeding must complete training prescribed by the Supreme Court 

(b) The Attorney’s Role.  The attorney for the subject person must advocate for the 
subject person’s wishes to the extent the attorney is able to ascertain those wishes.  
The attorney must, as far as possible, maintain a normal client-lawyer relationship 
with the subject person.  In addition, the attorney must act to protect the subject 
person’s substantive and procedural due process rights. 

(c) Subject Person’s Death. 

(1) Generally.  The participation of an attorney representing the subject person in a 
guardianship or protective proceeding terminates upon the subject person’s 
death. 

(2) Exception.  In extraordinary situations and for good cause, the court may 
authorize the limited participation of the subject person’s attorney after the 
subject person’s death.  The court’s order authorizing the attorney’s continued 
participation must state the basis and scope of the attorney’s continued 
participation. 

Rule 43.  Duties of Investigators 
(a) Initial Training.  Before being appointed as an investigator under A.R.S. §§ 14-

5303(C), 14-5407(B), or 36-540(G), the person must first complete a training course 
prescribed by the Supreme Court.  The Supreme Court will issue a certificate of 
completion.  Unless the investigator is a full-time court employee, the investigator 
must file a copy of the certificate in each probate case in which the investigator is 
appointed. 

(b) Later Required Training.  Any person who continues to serve as a court-appointed 
investigator must complete an additional training course prescribed by the Supreme 
Court every 5 years and, unless the investigator is a full-time court employee, the 
investigator must file a copy of the certificate of completion in each probate case in 
which the investigator is appointed. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

40 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

Rule 44.  Appointment of a Temporary Guardian or Temporary Conservator 
(a) Petition.  A petition requesting the appointment of a temporary guardian, temporary 

conservator, or both, must include either of the following: 

(1) a request for the appointment of a permanent guardian, permanent conservator, 
or both; or 

(2) a statement explaining why the appointment of a permanent guardian or 
permanent conservator is unnecessary. 

(b) Emergency Appointment of a Guardian or Conservator.  A petition that requests 
the emergency appointment of a temporary guardian, a temporary conservator, or 
other relief authorized by A.R.S. §§ 14-5310 or 14-5401.01 must contain the word 
“Emergency” in its title.  The petitioner must state in the body of the petition the legal 
authority and factual circumstances supporting the request for emergency relief. 

(c) Ex Parte Request.  A petition requesting the appointment of a temporary guardian or 
conservator without notice must comply with Rule 15(i). 

(d) Copies for the Assigned Judicial Officer.  The petitioner must provide conformed 
copies of the filed petition and any required affidavits to the assigned judicial officer, 
or if a judicial officer has not been assigned, to the presiding probate judge or other 
designated judicial officer. 

Rule 45.  Conservator’s Inventory, Budget, and Account 
(a) Court Authority.  The court may order a variation of this rule’s requirements for an 

inventory, budget, or account, or the form thereof, if the court finds the variation is 
consistent with prudent management and oversight of the case. 

(b) Date of Conservator’s Appointment. For purposes of this rule, the conservator’s 
appointment is the date the court first issued letters of appointment. 

(c) Conservator’s Inventory. 

(1) Timing.  A conservator must file an inventory of a protected person’s estate no 
later than 90 days after the date of the conservator’s appointment. 

(2) Contents.  The inventory must contain the information specified in A.R.S. § 14-
5418(A). 

Commented [MM21]: The account and the budget are 
numbered forms.  Should the inventory also be a numbered 
form? 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

41 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(3) Consumer Credit Report.  The conservator must file the consumer credit report 
required by A.R.S. § 14-5418(A) with the inventory. 

(d) Conservator’s Budget. 

(1) Necessity and Timing.  If the conservator believes it prudent or if the court 
orders, the conservator must file a budget for the protected person. [NOTE: The 
editorial group recommends that the preceding sentence be replaced with the 
following sentence, which is derived from existing Rule 30.3: “Unless otherwise 
ordered by the court, the conservator must file a budget.”] The conservator must 
file the initial budget no later than the date the conservator’s inventory is due and 
file any subsequent budget with the annual account. 

(2) Contents and Format.  The budget must include a reasonable estimate of all 
anticipated income and expenditures related to the protected person’s estate.  The 
budget must cover the same time frame as the conservator’s annual account. The 
conservator must use Form 5 for the initial budget. 

(3) Amendments.  The conservator must file an amended budget no later than 30 
days after reasonably projecting the expenditures for any specific category will 
exceed the budget by a threshold stated in the instructions to Form 5. 

(4) Filing a Budget, Objections, and Court Action. 

(A) Presumption; Objection.  A timely filed budget is presumed reasonable unless 
there is an objection.  An interested person may file an objection no later than 
14 calendar days after the budget or amendment was filed.  The court may set 
a hearing in the absence of an objection. 

(B) Hearings and Resolving Objections.  The court may summarily overrule the 
objection, order the conservator to file a response, or set a hearing on the 
objection.  The conservator has the burden of proving that a contested budget 
item is reasonable, necessary, and in the best interests of the protected person. 

(C) Court Action.  If the court reviews the budget, it may approve, disapprove, or 
modify the budget to further the protected person’s best interests. 

Commented [MM22]: Should this sentence be relocated 
as the second sentence of subpart (B)? 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

42 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(e) Conservator’s Account. 

(1) Timing.  The conservator must file an annual account no later than 60 days after 
the anniversary date of the issuance of the conservator’s permanent letters of 
appointment. 

(2) Required Attachments.  For each bank or securities account listed on the ending 
balance schedule, the conservator must attach the monthly statement that 
corresponds to the ending balance of such account. 

(3) Sustainability.  The annual account must state whether the conservatorship’s 
recurring annual expenses exceed its recurring annual income, and 

(A) if so, whether the assets available to the conservator less the estate’s liabilities 
are sufficient to sustain the conservatorship for the protected person’s 
foreseeable needs; and 

(B) if the estate is not sustainable, the conservator must include a discussion of the 
available options. 

(4) First Account.  The conservator’s first account must reflect all activity relating 
to the conservatorship estate from the date of first appointment through, and 
including, the anniversary date of the conservator’s letters of permanent 
appointment, or other date set by the court. 

(5) Later Accounts.  All later accounts must reflect all activity relating to the 
conservatorship estate from the ending date of the most recently filed account 
through, and including, the anniversary date of the conservator’s letters, or other 
date set by the court. 

(6) Final Account.  Except as provided in A.R.S. § 14-5419(F) or as ordered by the 
court, a conservator must file a final account of the protected person’s estate no 
later than 90 days after the protected person’s death.  If a conservatorship is 
terminated for a reason other than the protected person’s death, the court must set 
a date for filing the final account.   The final account must reflect all activity 
between the ending date of the most recently approved account and the date of 
the protected person’s death.  The court may extend the date for filing the 
account or relieve the conservator from filing a final account. 

Commented [MM23]: Why is this a monthly statement?  
Don’t some institutions provide financial statements 
annually or quarterly? 

Commented [MM24]: Suggest reversing the order of 
these two sentences. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

43 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(7) Format of Account.  Unless otherwise ordered, a conservator should submit 
simplified accounts using Form 9.  If the conservator or the court believes 
prudent, or if the court anticipates the potential for a dispute, the conservator may 
elect, or the court may require, Forms 6 through 8.  The court must balance the 
prudent management of costs with appropriate court oversight when selecting the 
method of reporting conservator accounts. Nothing in this rule precludes the 
court from requiring an alternative form of account or, in appropriate 
circumstances, waiving an account. 

(f) Motion for Additional Time.  If the conservator is unable to comply with a deadline 
established by this rule or court order, the conservator must file a motion for 
additional time before the deadline. The motion must state why the conservator needs 
additional time and how much additional time is needed. 

(g) Confidentiality.  The court must maintain the inventory, the consumer credit report, 
the budget, and the account as confidential documents under Rule 8. 

Rule 46.  Annual Guardian Reports 
(a) Timing.  A guardian must file an annual report on the date established by the court, 

but in no event later than 60 days after the anniversary date of the issuance of the 
guardian’s letters of permanent appointment. 

(b) Content.  The guardian’s annual report must contain the information specified in 
A.R.S. § 14-5315(B). 

(c) Motion for Additional Time.  If the guardian is unable to file an annual report within 
the time provided by this rule, the guardian must file a motion requesting additional 
time to file the report.  The guardian must file the motion before the deadline for 
filing the annual report and state why the guardian needs additional time and how 
much additional time is needed to file the report. 

(d) Confidentiality.  The court must maintain medical reports as confidential documents 
under Rule 8. 

Rule 47.  Guardian’s Inpatient Psychiatric Treatment Authority 
(a) Initial Request for Inpatient Psychiatric Treatment Authority.  An initial request 

for inpatient psychiatric treatment authority must be made in a petition that complies 
with A.R.S. § 14-5312.01 and must be accompanied by a psychiatrist’s or 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

44 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

psychologist’s evaluation report required under A.R.S. § 14-5312.01(P).  After 
making the required findings, the court may authorize the guardian to consent to the 
placement, care, and treatment of the ward in an inpatient psychiatric treatment 
facility. 

(1) Orders and Letters.  The order authorizing a guardian to place the ward in an 
inpatient psychiatric treatment facility and the letters of appointment must 
describe the authority granted to the guardian and include a specific date that the 
guardian’s authority terminates. The order granting the guardian inpatient 
psychiatric treatment authority may include other provisions that the court 
determines are necessary to protect the ward’s best interests.  The court must 
limit the guardian’s authority to that reasonably necessary to obtain the ward’s 
care in the least restrictive treatment alternative. 

(2) Early Termination.  For good cause, the court may terminate the authority 
before the date specified in the order. 

(3) Acknowledgement.  The court will not issue letters that include the guardian’s 
inpatient psychiatric treatment authority until the guardian has signed an 
acknowledgment of the guardian’s power and the court has entered the 
Supplemental Order to Guardian with Inpatient Psychiatric Treatment Authority 
and Acknowledgement shown in Form 2S. 

(4) Order Without Notice.  If a party requests an order without notice to the subject 
person, the court may grant the guardian inpatient psychiatric treatment authority 
only if all the conditions in A.R.S. § 14-5310(B) have been met and the court has 
determined that an adequate basis exists under A.R.S. § 14-5312.01(B) and (C).  
If the court grants the request without notice, the party and the court must follow 
procedures that are substantially similar to those set forth in A.R.S. § 14-
5310(B). 

(5) Annual Reports.  The guardian must file an annual report as required by A.R.S. 
§ 14-5315.  In addition, a guardian who requests to continue the guardian’s 
inpatient psychiatric treatment authority also must file an evaluation report by a 
psychiatrist or psychologist as required by A.R.S. § 14-5312.01(P).  The 
guardian must file the evaluation report no later than 30 days before the 
termination date of the inpatient psychiatric authority Commented [MM25]: Is this redundant to subparts (b)(2) 

and (b)(3)? 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

45 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(b) Renewal of a Guardian’s Inpatient Psychiatric Treatment Authority. 

(1) Renewal of Authority.  The court may renew the guardian’s authority to consent 
to inpatient psychiatric treatment as provided by A.R.S. § 14-5312.01 and this 
rule. 

(2) Timing.  The guardian must file a motion and the other documents required by 
subpart (b)(3) no later than 30 days before expiration of the order that grants the 
guardian inpatient psychiatric treatment authority.  If the guardian does not file a 
motion for renewal before the expiration of the order, the guardian must file a 
new petition requesting inpatient psychiatric treatment authority under section 
(a). 

(3) Required Filings.  A guardian authorized to place a ward in an inpatient 
psychiatric facility pursuant to A.R.S. §14-5312.01 may request renewal of that 
authority before it expires by complying with the time requirement of subpart 
(b)(2) and by filing 

(A) a motion that states grounds for renewal and requests the court to renew the 
guardian’s authority; 

(B) a psychiatrist’s or psychologist’s evaluation report required under A.R.S. § 
14-5312.01(P); and 

(C) the guardian’s annual report, if due within 30 days of the renewal of inpatient 
psychiatric treatment authority, or otherwise, a reference to the guardian’s last 
annual report and an update on the information contained in the last annual 
report. 

(4) Proposed Order.  When filing the renewal motion, the guardian must submit a 
proposed order granting the motion and renewing the guardian’s authority. 
Renewal orders are subject to the requirements of section (a). 

(5) Service.  Promptly after filing the renewal motion, the guardian must mail, 
deliver, or otherwise provide to both the ward and the ward’s court-appointed 
attorney copies of the motion, the psychiatrist’s or psychologist’s evaluation 
report, the guardian’s annual report or updates, and the proposed order. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

46 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(6) Objection to Motion for Renewal or Request for Hearing.  The ward may file 
an objection to a renewal motion or may file a request for a hearing under A.R.S. 
§ 14-5312.01(P).  The guardian’s authority to consent to inpatient psychiatric 
treatment continues pending the court’s determination of the motion.  If the 
motion proceeds to a hearing, the guardian has the burden of providing by clear 
and convincing evidence that the ward is likely to need inpatient psychiatric care 
and treatment during the renewal period. 

(c) Confidentiality.  The court must maintain the evaluation reports as confidential 
documents under Rule 8. 

Rule 48.  Remedies for Non-Compliance by a Guardian or Conservator 
If a guardian or conservator fails to comply with requirements of A.R.S. Title 14, court 
rules, or a court order, the court may enter any order, including 

(a) an order directing the guardian or conservator to comply by a specified deadline; 

(b) an order under Rule 48 requiring the guardian or conservator to show cause why the 
court should not take appropriate action; 

(c) an order appointing a person to investigate the reasons for the guardian’s or 
conservator’s non-compliance and to report to the court regarding the investigator’s 
findings and proposed recommendations; 

(d) an order immediately suspending or terminating the guardian’s or conservator’s 
authority to take any further action on behalf of the subject person and appointing a 
successor or temporary guardian or conservator; 

(e) an order terminating the guardianship or conservatorship proceeding if the court 
determines that dismissal is appropriate, but the court must not terminate a 
guardianship or conservatorship if the subject person resides in Arizona and remains 
incapacitated or in need of protection; 

(f) an order initiating proceedings that may result in issuance of a fiduciary arrest warrant 
under A.R.S. § 14-5701; 

(g) an order under Civil Rule 70; or 

(h) other appropriate orders. 

Commented [MM26]: Are these words necessary? 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

47 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

Rule 49.  Administrative Closure of a Minor Guardianship or Minor 
Conservatorship Case 
(a) Administrative Closure of a Minor Guardianship Case.  Consistent with A.R.S. § 

14-5210, the clerk or court administrator, as designated by the presiding judge, must 
administratively close a minor guardianship case filed under A.R.S. §§ 14-5201 to 14-
5212 when the minor reaches the age of majority, or upon the minor’s adoption, 
marriage, emancipation, or death. 

(b) Administrative Closure of a Minor Conservatorship Case.  The court must 
administratively close the conservatorship and terminate the conservator’s 
appointment if no order terminating a conservatorship for a minor has been entered 
within two years after the minor’s eighteenth birthday.  The court must notify the 
conservator and the former minor that the conservatorship will be administratively 
closed unless, within 90 days after the notice, the conservator or the former minor 
files a petition to terminate the conservatorship and obtains an initial hearing date.  An 
order under this rule that administratively closes a conservatorship and terminates the 
conservator’s appointment does not 

(1) discharge the conservator from liability, 

(2) authorize the release of any restricted conservatorship assets, 

(3) release any financial institution holding restricted conservatorship assets from 
liability, or 

(4) exonerate the conservator’s bond. 

PART VIII.  RULES THAT APPLY ONLY TO DECEDENTS’ ESTATES AND 
TRUSTS 

Rule 50.  Personal Representative’s Inventory and Account 
(a) Inventory. 

(1) Timing.  Unless the court orders otherwise, no later than 90 days after the date 
the personal representative’s letters of appointment are first issued, the personal 
representative must do one of the following with respect to the inventory 
required by A.R.S. § 14-3706: 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

48 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(A) file the inventory with the court, and send a copy only to interested persons 
who request it; or 

(B) mail or deliver a copy of the inventory to each heir in an intestate estate, or to 
each devisee if a will has been probated, and to any other interested person 
who requests it. 

(2) Contents.  The inventory must contain the information specified in A.R.S. § 14-
3706(A). 

(3) Proof of Mailing or Delivery.  If the personal representative mails or delivers the 
inventory, the personal representative must file a proof of notice that identifies 
each person to whom the inventory was provided, and how and when it was 
provided. 

(4) Supplementary Inventory.  If the personal representative discovers an 
additional asset or discovers the value of an asset is erroneous or misleading, 
the personal representative must prepare a supplementary inventory showing 
the market value as of the date of death of the decedent.  The supplementary 
inventory must be filed with the court if the original inventory was filed, or it 
must be mailed or delivered to the same parties as the original inventory if it 
was mailed or delivered.  The personal representative must file a notice of 
mailing or delivery in accordance subpart (a)(3). 

(5) Motion for Additional Time.  If the personal representative is unable to comply 
with the deadline established by this rule or court order, the personal 
representative must file a motion for additional time before the deadline. The 
motion must state why the personal representative needs additional time and how 
much additional time is needed. 

(b) Account. 

(1) Generally.  Unless the personal representative’s administration is supervised or 
the court orders otherwise, the personal representative is not statutorily required 
to file annual accounts. 

Commented [MM27]: If the PR files an inventory, 
doesn’t Civil Rule 5 require service on other parties? 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

49 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(2) Supervised Administration.  A personal representative in a supervised 
administration under A.R.S. § 14-3505 must file an account with the court not 
less than annually, and upon closing of the estate. 

(3) County with a Court Accountant.  Unless the court orders otherwise, if a 
petition for approval of a personal representative’s account is filed in a county 
with a court accountant, the petitioner is not required to submit the account to the 
court accountant for review or to pay the court accountant’s fee. 

(c) Forms.  Unless the court orders otherwise, a personal representative’s account need 
not be presented on the standard forms for conservator accounts. 

(d) Confidentiality.  The court must maintain any account that is filed as a confidential 
document under Rule 8. 

Rule 51.  Administrative Closure of a Decedent’s Estate and Termination of 
Appointment 
(a) Notice of Impending Administrative Closure.  Two years after a decedent’s 

estate is commenced, the court may issue a notice of impending administrative 
closure of the estate unless at least one of the following has occurred: 

(1) one year has elapsed since the filing of a closing statement under A.R.S. § 14-
3933 and no proceedings involving the personal representative or special 
administrator remain pending; 

(2) a petition to settle the estate under A.R.S. §§ 14-3931 and 14-3932 has been filed 
and an initial hearing on that petition has been set; 

(3) a petition to terminate the appointment of the special administrator under A.R.S. 
§ 14-3618 has been filed and an initial hearing on that petition has been set; or 

(4) the court has entered an order setting a future hearing or conference or extending 
the administration of the estate beyond two years. 

(b) Contents of Notice.  The notice must inform the parties and all persons who have 
filed a demand for notice that the estate will be administratively closed and any 
fiduciary appointment will be terminated without a discharge and release from 
liability or exoneration of any bond unless: 

Commented [MM28]: This sentence and the 
corresponding sentence in Rule 52(b) probably could be 
phrased more clearly. 

Commented [MM29]: Remove bold font. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

50 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(1) one of the circumstances in section (a) has occurred; 

(2) a request for hearing or conference has been filed; 

(3) a petition to terminate the appointment of the personal representative or the 
special administrator has been filed; or 

(4) a status report describing the matters to be resolved has been filed. 

(c) Distribution of the Notice.  The clerk or court administrator, as designated by 
the presiding judge, must distribute the notice to the following: 

(1) the parties; 

(2) in an intestate estate, every heir whose address is contained in the court’s file; 

(3) in a testate estate, every devisee whose address is contained in the file; and 

(4) any person who has filed a demand for notice. 

(d) Administrative Closure and Termination of Appointment.  The court, without a 
hearing, may issue an order closing the estate administratively and terminating the 
appointment of the personal representative or special administrator if none of the 
events described in section (b) has occurred within 60 days after distribution of the 
notice. 

(e) Effect of Administrative Closure.  An order closing an estate administratively and 
terminating the appointment of a personal representative or special administrator 
under this rule does not discharge or release the fiduciary from liability or exonerate 
any bond. 

(f) Authority.  The court’s authority to issue notices, administratively close an estate, 
and terminate appointments under this rule may be performed by court administration 
or by an appropriate electronic process under the court’s supervision. 

Rule 52.  Trustee’s Account 
(a) Generally. A trustee is not required to submit an account to the court unless the court 

orders otherwise. 

Commented [MM30]: Remove bold font. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

51 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(b) County with a Court Accountant.  Unless the court orders otherwise, if a petition 
for approval of a trustee’s account is filed in a county with a court accountant, the 
petitioner is not required to submit the account to the court accountant for review or to 
pay the court accountant’s fee. 

(c) Confidentiality.  The court must maintain any account that is filed as a confidential 
document under Rule 8. 

PART IX.  RECOVERIES FOR, AND DISTRIBUTIONS TO, MINORS AND 
PROTECTED ADULTS 

Rule 53.  Settlements of Claims for Minors and Adults in Need of Protection 
(a) Court Approval. 

(1) When Required.  Except as provided in subpart (a)(2), no settlement of a claim 
brought on behalf of a minor or an adult in need of protection is binding on the 
minor or the adult in need of protection unless it is approved by a judicial officer. 
If the court approves the settlement, it may authorize the execution of appropriate 
releases of liability. 

(2) When Not Required.  Under A.R.S. § 14-5424(C)(19), a conservator may enter 
into a binding settlement of claims not involving personal injury or wrongful 
death without court approval. 

(b) Who May Approve. 

(1) Claims of Minors.  Any superior court judge or judge pro tem may approve the 
settlement of a minor’s claim if the settlement does not exceed $10,000.  If the 
settlement exceeds $10,000, it must be approved by a superior court judge or 
judge pro tem in a probate proceeding under A.R.S. Title 14. 

(2) Claims of Adults in Need of Protection. Any superior court judge or judge pro 
tem in a probate proceeding under A.R.S. Title 14 may approve the settlement of 
a claim brought on behalf of an adult in need of protection. 

(c) Appointment of a Statutory Representative or Master.  The court may appoint a 
statutory representative pursuant to A.R.S. § 14-1408 or a master pursuant to Civil 
Rule 53, with instructions to address specific items, including any of the following: 

Commented [MM31]: Add bold font. 

Commented [MM32]: Add bold font. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

52 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(1) the reasonableness of the settlement proposal, 

(2) the attorney fees to be paid from the minor’s or adult’s settlement proceeds, 

(3) the costs of litigation and apportionment of those costs, 

(4) the effect of the settlement on eligibility for public benefits or other resources 
which might be available, and 

(5) the proper apportionment of settlement proceeds among the various litigants. 

(d) Permissible Orders.  After considering the amount and nature of the settlement 
proceeds, the age and sophistication of the minor or adult in need of protection, and 
that person’s living arrangements and ongoing needs, the court may do one or more of 
the following: 

(1) appoint a conservator; 

(2) order establishment of an appropriate trust, including a special needs trust, with 
or without continuing court supervision, as authorized by ARS §14-5409(B), 

(3) authorize all or a portion of the proceeds to be placed in an account pursuant to 

(A) 26 U.S.C. § 529 (“qualified tuition programs”), 

(B) 26 U.S.C. § 529A (“qualified ABLE programs”), 

(C) 42 U.S.C. § 1396p(d)(4)(C) (a pooled special needs trust), 

(D) A.R.S § 14-5408(C) (a “dignity account”) 

(4) in the case of a minor claimant, order distribution of the proceeds to a custodian 
under A.R.S. § 14-7656(B) (the Uniform Transfers to Minors Act); 

(5) order distribution of the proceeds to an appropriate person under A.R.S. § 14-
5103 (“facility of payment or delivery”) or to a guardian under A.R.S. § 14-
5312(A)(4)(b); 

(6) approve a structured settlement; or 

(7) enter any other order authorized by statute. 



Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

53 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

COMMENT TO THE 2020 AMENDMENTS 

This rule clarifies that any settlement on behalf of a minor or adult in need of protection 
must be approved by the court to be binding on the minor or adult in need of protection. 
The only exception is that a conservator may enter into a binding settlement of a claim 
other than a wrongful death or personal injury claim.  See A.R.S. § 14-5424(C)(19).  In 
comparison, A.R.S. § 14-5103 does not provide a parent the authority to compromise a 
minor child’s claim; it deals only with who may receive limited amounts of money or 
property on behalf of a minor. 

Rule 54.  Distributions to Persons Under Disability 
If a person petitions the court to approve a distribution from a conservatorship estate, a 
decedent’s estate, or a trust, and if the person reasonably believes that a distributee is a 
minor, an incapacitated adult, or an adult in need of protection, the person must notify the 
court of the distributee’s status as a minor, an incapacitated adult, or an adult in need of 
protection.  If a court has appointed a guardian or conservator for the proposed 
distributee, or if a court has approved other protective arrangements for the proposed 
distributee, the petitioner must provide the court with a copy of the order appointing the 
guardian or conservator or the order approving the protective arrangement. 

PART X.  FORMS 

Rule 55.  Forms 
(a) Location.  Probate forms referred to in these rules are located on the self-service page 

of the Arizona Judicial Branch website, www.azcourts.gov. 

(b) Recommended and Required Forms.  The Judicial Branch website will specify 
whether a form is recommended or required. 

(1) Recommended Forms.  Recommended forms meet the requirements of these 
rules.  A party may adapt these forms by deleting content that does not apply to a 
particular proceeding or by adding other relevant content, provided the adapted 
form includes all the information that applies to that proceeding.  Deleting 
information contained in a form, or failing to complete a portion of the form, 
constitutes the party’s representation that any omitted or unanswered questions or 
items are not applicable to the proceeding. 

http://www.azcourts.gov/


Appendix A as-filed 
With staff annotations for the May 17 meeting 
 

54 

 

Formatted: Font: Bold, Italic

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

(2) Required Forms. Required forms may not be adapted or modified, except by 
court order. 

(c) Modification.  The Supreme Court may adopt, approve, or modify probate forms by 
administrative order. 

COMMENT TO THE 2020 AMENDMENTS 

Additional probate forms may be available on superior court websites and in the State 
Bar of Arizona Probate Practice Manual. 



 
 

 
 

Appendix B 
       Correlation Tables 

 



Probate Rules  
Correlation Tables.01.28.2019 

Page 1 of 3 
 

New 
probate rule 
number 

Title of the New Rule Former 
probate rule 
number 

Prefatory 
comment 

 Preamble 

 PART ONE: GENERAL INFORMATION  
1 Scope, Applicability, and Construction 1 
2 Definitions 2 
3 Probate Case and Proceedings 2(O), 2(P) 
4 Applicability of Other Rules 3 
5 Contested and Uncontested Hearings new 
6 Non-Probate Proceedings Filed Within or Consolidated with a Probate 

Case 
4(B), 4(C) 

7 Document Captions 5 
8 Confidential Documents and Information 7 
9 Sealing and Unsealing Court Documents new 
10 Acknowledgment of a Consent, Waiver, Renunciation, or Nomination 14 
11 Personal Service of Certain Documents 8 
12 Telephonic and Video Attendance and Testimony 11 
   
 PART TWO: INITIATION OF PROBATE PROCEEDINGS  
13 Probate Information Form and Notice of Change of Contact Information 

Form 
6 

14 Applications  16 
15 Petitions  17, 13(B) & 

13(D), 27 
16 Notice of Initial Hearing on a Petition 9 
17 Initial Hearing on a Petition 12 
18 Dismissal for Failure to Obtain an Initial Hearing Date 15.2(D) 
   
 PART THREE: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AND ACTIONS  
19 Motions and Oral Argument 18, 13(A) & 

13(D) 
20 Conference new 
21 Alternative Dispute Resolution  29 
22 Settlement Conference new 
23 Evidentiary Hearing 28(C) 
24 Enforcement of Court Orders  35 
25 Compliance and Order to Show Cause Hearings new 
26 Proposed Orders, Decrees, and Judgments 15 
   
 PART FOUR: CONTESTED PROCEEDINGS  
27 Management of Contested Probate Proceedings 28(A) 
28 Disclosure and Discovery 28(B) 
29 Demand for Jury Trial new 
   



Probate Rules  
Correlation Tables.01.28.2019 

Page 2 of 3 
 

 PART FIVE: GENERAL ROLES AND DUTIES OF PARTICIPANTS   
30 Representation of Parties 10(B) 
31 Duties of a Fiduciary’s Attorney 10(D) 
32 Statutory Representative (fka Guardian Ad Litem) 15.1 
33 Compensation for Fiduciaries, Attorneys, and Statutory Representatives 33 
34 Prudent Management of Costs 10.1 
35 Repetitive Filings; Vexatious Conduct; Remedies 10(G), 18(C) 
   
 PART SIX: RULES THAT APPLY TO GUARDIANSHIPS, 

CONSERVATORSHIPS, AND DECEDENTS’ ESTATES 
 

36 Order Appointing Guardian, Conservator, Personal Representative, or 
Special Administrator 

22 

37 Order to Fiduciary 25 
38 Training for Non-Licensed Fiduciaries 27.1 
39 Issuing and Recording Letters of Appointment 26 
40 Duties of Court-Appointed Fiduciaries 10(C) 
   
 PART SEVEN: RULES THAT APPLY ONLY TO GUARDIANSHIPS AND 

CONSERVATORSHIPS  
 

41 Appointment of an Attorney, Medical Professional, or Investigator in a 
Guardianship or Protective Proceeding 

19 

42 Training, Role, and Termination of an Attorney for a Subject Person 10(E) 
43 Duties of Investigators 10(F) 
44 Appointment of a Temporary Guardian or Temporary Conservator 23, 13(C) 
45 Conservator’s Inventory, Budget, and Account 30(A), 30(B), 

30.2, 30.3 
46 Annual Guardian Reports 30(C) 
47 Guardian’s Inpatient Psychiatric Treatment Authority 24, 36 
48 Remedies for Non-Compliance by a Guardian or Conservator 15.2(C) 
49 Administrative Closure of a Minor Guardianship or Minor 

Conservatorship 
15.2(B) 

   
 PART EIGHT: RULES THAT APPLY ONLY TO DECEDENTS’ ESTATES AND 

TRUSTS 
 

50 Personal Representative’s Inventory and Account 31 
51 Administrative Closure of a Decedent’s Estate and Termination of 

Appointment 
15.2(A) 

52 Trustee’s Account 32 
   
 PART NINE: RECOVERIES FOR, AND DISTRIBUTIONS TO, MINORS AND 

PROTECTED ADULTS  
 

53 Settlement of Claims for Minors or Adults in Need of Protection 37 
54 Distributions to Persons Under Disability 34 
   
 PART TEN: FORMS  
55 Forms 38 



Probate Rules  
Correlation Tables.01.28.2019 

Page 3 of 3 
 

Deleted Rules 

The following rules were deleted and not incorporated within another rule: 

Rule # Rule Title 
20 Affidavit of Proposed Appointee 
21 Background Check Requirements 
26.1 Written Findings on Appointment 
30.1 Financial Order 

 
Forms 

The Probate Rules refer to the following forms: 

Form # Form Title In Rule # 
1 Order to Personal Representative and Acknowledgement and Information to 

Heirs/Devisees 
37 

2 Order to Guardian and Acknowledgement 37 
2-S Supplemental Order to Guardian with Inpatient Psychiatric Treatment Authority 

and Acknowledgement 
47 

3 Order to Conservator and Acknowledgement 37 
3-M Order to Conservator and Acknowledgement for Minors 37 
4 Order to Guardian and Conservator and Acknowledgement 37 
5 Conservatorship Estate Budget 45 
6 First Conservator’s Account 45 
7 Conservator’s Account 45 
8  Final Conservator’s Account 45 
9 Simplified Conservator’s Account 45 
10 Proof of Restricted Account from Financial Institution 36 
11 Probate Information Form for Decedent’s Estate 13 
12 Probate Information Form for Guardianship/Conservatorship 13 
13 Notice of Change of Fiduciary’s Contact Information  13 
14 Notice of Change of Ward’s Contact Information  13 
15 Authorization to Obtain Certified Copy of a Sealed Document 9 

 



O
L

D
 T

O
 N

E
W

 C
O

R
R

E
L

A
T

IO
N

 T
A

B
L

E
R

ul
e

(o
ld

)
R

ul
e 

Su
b-

pa
rt

T
IT

L
E

 (
ol

d)
R

ul
e

(n
ew

)
T

IT
L

E
 (

ne
w

)

0
Pr

ea
m

bl
e

0
Pr

ef
at

or
y 

C
om

m
en

t
1

Sc
op

e 
of

 R
ul

es
1

Sc
op

e,
 A

pp
li

ca
bi

li
ty

, a
nd

 C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n
2

_
D

ef
in

it
io

ns
2

D
ef

in
it

io
ns

2
O

Pr
ob

at
e 

C
as

e
3

Pr
ob

at
e 

C
as

e 
an

d 
Pr

oc
ee

di
ng

s
2

P
Pr

ob
at

e 
Pr

oc
ee

di
ng

3
Pr

ob
at

e 
C

as
e 

an
d 

Pr
oc

ee
di

ng
s

3
A

pp
li

ca
bi

li
ty

 o
f 

O
th

er
 R

ul
es

4
A

pp
li

ca
bi

li
ty

 o
f 

O
th

er
 R

ul
es

4
A

C
om

m
en

ce
m

en
t a

nd
 D

ur
at

io
n 

of
 P

ro
ba

te
 C

as
es

3
Pr

ob
at

e 
C

as
e 

an
d 

Pr
oc

ee
di

ng
s

4
B

C
iv

il
 A

ct
io

ns
 F

il
ed

 W
it

hi
n 

or
 C

on
so

li
da

te
d 

w
it

h 
a 

Pr
ob

at
e

C
as

e
6

N
on

-P
ro

ba
te

 P
ro

ce
ed

in
gs

 F
il

ed
 W

it
hi

n 
or

 C
on

so
li

da
te

d 
w

it
h 

a 
Pr

ob
at

e
C

as
e

4
C

Fa
m

il
y 

L
aw

 P
ro

ce
ed

in
g 

Fi
le

d 
W

it
hi

n 
or

 C
on

so
li

da
te

d 
w

it
h 

a
Pr

ob
at

e 
C

as
e

6
N

on
-P

ro
ba

te
 P

ro
ce

ed
in

gs
 F

il
ed

 W
it

hi
n 

or
 C

on
so

li
da

te
d 

w
it

h 
a 

Pr
ob

at
e

C
as

e
5

D
oc

um
en

ts
 C

ap
ti

on
s

7
D

oc
um

en
t C

ap
ti

on
s

6
Pr

ob
at

e 
In

fo
rm

at
io

n 
Fo

rm
13

Pr
ob

at
e 

In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

Fo
rm

 a
nd

 N
ot

ic
e 

of
 C

ha
ng

e 
of

 C
on

ta
ct

 I
nf

or
m

at
io

n
Fo

rm
7

C
on

fi
de

nt
ia

l D
oc

um
en

ts
 a

nd
 I

nf
or

m
at

io
n

8
C

on
fi

de
nt

ia
l D

oc
um

en
ts

 a
nd

 I
nf

or
m

at
io

n
8

Se
rv

ic
e 

of
 C

ou
rt

 P
ap

er
s

11
Pe

rs
on

al
 S

er
vi

ce
 o

f 
C

er
ta

in
 D

oc
um

en
ts

9
N

ot
ic

e 
of

 H
ea

ri
ng

16
N

ot
ic

e 
of

 I
ni

ti
al

 H
ea

ri
ng

 o
n 

a 
Pe

ti
ti

on
10

A
D

ut
ie

s 
of

 C
ou

ns
el

 -
om

it
te

d
10

B
D

ut
ie

s 
of

 U
nr

ep
re

se
nt

ed
 P

ar
ti

es
30

R
ep

re
se

nt
at

io
n 

of
 P

ar
ti

es
10

C
D

ut
ie

s 
of

 C
ou

rt
-A

pp
oi

nt
ed

 F
id

uc
ia

ri
es

40
D

ut
ie

s 
of

 C
ou

rt
-A

pp
oi

nt
ed

 F
id

uc
ia

ri
es

10
D

D
ut

ie
s 

R
el

at
ed

 to
 C

ou
ns

el
 f

or
 F

id
uc

ia
ri

es
31

D
ut

ie
s 

of
 a

 F
id

uc
ia

ry
's 

A
tt

or
ne

y
10

E
D

ut
ie

s 
of

 C
ou

ns
el

 f
or

 S
ub

je
ct

 P
er

so
n 

of
G

ua
rd

ia
ns

hi
p/

C
on

se
rv

at
or

sh
ip

 P
ro

ce
ed

in
gs

; D
ut

ie
s 

of
G

ua
rd

ia
n 

A
d 

L
it

em

42
T

ra
in

in
g,

 R
ol

e,
 a

nd
 T

er
m

in
at

io
n 

of
 a

n 
A

tt
or

ne
y 

fo
r 

a 
Su

bj
ec

t P
er

so
n

10
F

D
ut

ie
s 

of
 I

nv
es

ti
ga

to
rs

43
D

ut
ie

s 
of

 I
nv

es
ti

ga
to

rs
10

G
R

em
ed

ie
s 

fo
r 

V
ex

at
io

us
 C

on
du

ct
; D

ef
in

it
io

ns
35

R
ep

et
it

iv
e 

Fi
li

ng
s;

 V
ex

at
io

us
 C

on
du

ct
; R

em
ed

ie
s

10
.1

Pr
ud

en
t M

an
ag

em
en

t o
f 

C
os

ts
34

Pr
ud

en
t M

an
ag

em
en

t o
f 

C
os

ts



R
ul

e
(o

ld
)

R
ul

e 
Su

b-
pa

rt
T

IT
L

E
 (

ol
d)

R
ul

e
(n

ew
)

T
IT

L
E

 (
ne

w
)

11
T

el
ep

ho
ni

c 
or

 E
le

ct
ro

ni
c 

A
pp

ea
ra

nc
es

 a
nd

 T
es

ti
m

on
y

12
T

el
ep

ho
ni

c 
an

d 
V

id
eo

 A
tt

en
da

nc
e 

an
d 

T
es

ti
m

on
y

12
N

on
-A

pp
ea

ra
nc

e 
H

ea
ri

ng
17

In
it

ia
l H

ea
ri

ng
 o

n 
a 

Pe
ti

ti
on

13
A

A
cc

el
er

at
ed

 H
ea

ri
ng

s 
on

 M
ot

io
ns

19
M

ot
io

ns
 a

nd
 O

ra
l A

rg
um

en
t

13
B

A
cc

el
er

at
ed

 H
ea

ri
ng

s 
on

 P
et

it
io

ns
 in

 G
en

er
al

15
Pe

ti
ti

on
s

13
C

E
m

er
ge

nc
y 

A
pp

oi
nt

m
en

t o
f 

G
ua

rd
ia

n 
or

 C
on

se
rv

at
or

44
A

pp
oi

nt
m

en
t o

f 
a 

T
em

po
ra

ry
 G

ua
rd

ia
n 

or
 T

em
po

ra
ry

 C
on

se
rv

at
or

13
D

E
x 

Pa
rt

e 
M

ot
io

ns
 a

nd
 P

et
it

io
ns

15
Pe

ti
ti

on
s 

(o
r 

R
ul

e 
19

, M
ot

io
ns

)
14

C
on

se
nt

s,
 W

ai
ve

rs
, R

en
un

ci
at

io
ns

, a
nd

 N
om

in
at

io
ns

10
A

ck
no

w
le

dg
m

en
t o

f 
a 

C
on

se
nt

, W
ai

ve
r,

 R
en

un
ci

at
io

n,
 o

r 
N

om
in

at
io

n

15
Pr

op
os

ed
 O

rd
er

s
26

Pr
op

os
ed

 O
rd

er
s,

 D
ec

re
es

, a
nd

 J
ud

gm
en

ts
15

.1
A

pp
oi

nt
m

en
t o

f 
G

ua
rd

ia
n 

A
d 

L
it

em
32

St
at

ut
or

y 
R

ep
re

se
nt

at
iv

e 
(f

ka
 G

ua
rd

ia
n 

A
d 

L
it

em
)

15
.2

A
D

is
m

is
sa

l o
f 

Pr
ob

at
e,

 S
pe

ci
al

 A
dm

in
is

tr
at

io
n 

or
 S

ub
se

qu
en

t
A

dm
in

is
tr

at
io

n 
Pr

oc
ee

di
ng

s 
fo

r 
L

ac
k 

of
 P

ro
se

cu
ti

on
51

A
dm

in
is

tr
at

iv
e 

C
lo

su
re

 o
f 

a 
D

ec
ed

en
t's

 E
st

at
e 

an
d 

T
er

m
in

at
io

n 
of

A
pp

oi
nt

m
en

t

15
.2

B
T

er
m

in
at

io
n 

of
 a

 M
in

or
 G

ua
rd

ia
ns

hi
p 

C
as

e
49

A
dm

in
is

tr
at

iv
e 

C
lo

su
re

 o
f 

a 
M

in
or

 G
ua

rd
ia

ns
hi

p 
or

 M
in

or
C

on
se

rv
at

or
sh

ip
15

.2
C

R
em

ed
ie

s 
fo

r 
N

on
-C

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
by

 a
 G

ua
rd

ia
n 

or
 C

on
se

rv
at

or
fo

r 
an

 A
du

lt
48

R
em

ed
ie

s 
fo

r 
N

on
-C

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
by

 a
 G

ua
rd

ia
n 

or
 C

on
se

rv
at

or

15
.2

D
G

en
er

al
 I

nv
ol

un
ta

ry
 T

er
m

in
at

io
n

18
D

is
m

is
sa

l f
or

 F
ai

lu
re

 to
 O

bt
ai

n 
an

 I
ni

ti
al

 H
ea

ri
ng

 D
at

e
16

A
pp

li
ca

ti
on

s
14

A
pp

li
ca

ti
on

s
17

Pe
ti

ti
on

s
15

Pe
ti

ti
on

s
18

A
M

ot
io

ns
19

M
ot

io
ns

 a
nd

 O
ra

l A
rg

um
en

t
18

B
M

ot
io

ns
 f

or
 A

pp
oi

nt
m

en
t o

f 
C

ou
ns

el
om

it
te

d
18

C
R

ep
et

it
iv

e 
M

ot
io

ns
35

R
ep

et
it

iv
e 

Fi
li

ng
s;

 V
ex

at
io

us
 C

on
du

ct
; R

em
ed

ie
s

19
A

pp
oi

nt
m

en
t o

f 
A

tt
or

ne
y,

 M
ed

ic
al

 P
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l, 
an

d
In

ve
st

ig
at

or
41

A
pp

oi
nt

m
en

t o
f 

an
 A

tt
or

ne
y,

 M
ed

ic
al

 P
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l, 
or

 I
nv

es
ti

ga
to

r 
in

 a
G

ua
rd

ia
ns

hi
p 

or
 P

ro
te

ct
iv

e 
Pr

oc
ee

di
ng



R
ul

e
(o

ld
)

R
ul

e 
Su

b-
pa

rt
T

IT
L

E
 (

ol
d)

R
ul

e
(n

ew
)

T
IT

L
E

 (
ne

w
)

20
A

ff
id

av
it

 o
f 

Pr
op

os
ed

 A
pp

oi
nt

ee
44

A
pp

oi
nt

m
en

t o
f 

T
em

po
ra

ry
 G

ua
rd

ia
n 

or
 T

em
po

ra
ry

 C
on

se
rv

at
or

(N
ot

e:
ol

d 
R

ul
e 

20
 h

as
 n

o 
si

gn
if

ic
an

t c
or

ol
la

ry
 in

 n
ew

 r
ul

es
)

21
B

ac
kg

ro
un

d 
C

he
ck

 R
eq

ui
re

m
en

ts
0

(N
ot

e:
 o

ld
 R

ul
e 

21
 h

as
 n

o 
si

gn
if

ic
an

t c
or

ol
la

ry
 in

 n
ew

 r
ul

es
)

22
O

rd
er

s 
A

pp
oi

nt
in

g 
C

on
se

rv
at

or
s,

 G
ua

rd
ia

ns
, a

nd
 P

er
so

na
l

R
ep

re
se

nt
at

iv
es

; B
on

d 
an

d 
B

on
d 

C
om

pa
ni

es
; R

es
tr

ic
te

d 
A

cc
es

s
36

O
rd

er
 A

pp
oi

nt
in

g 
G

ua
rd

ia
n,

 C
on

se
rv

at
or

, P
er

so
na

l R
ep

re
se

nt
at

iv
e,

 o
r

Sp
ec

ia
l A

dm
in

is
tr

at
or

23
A

pp
oi

nt
m

en
t o

f 
T

em
po

ra
ry

 G
ua

rd
ia

n 
or

 T
em

po
ra

ry
C

on
se

rv
at

or
44

A
pp

oi
nt

m
en

t o
f 

a 
T

em
po

ra
ry

 G
ua

rd
ia

n 
or

 T
em

po
ra

ry
 C

on
se

rv
at

or

24
A

pp
oi

nt
m

en
t o

f 
G

ua
rd

ia
n 

W
it

h 
In

pa
ti

en
t M

en
ta

l H
ea

lt
h

A
ut

ho
ri

ty
47

G
ua

rd
ia

n'
s 

In
pa

ti
en

t P
sy

ch
ia

tr
ic

 T
re

at
m

en
t A

ut
ho

ri
ty

25
O

rd
er

 to
 F

id
uc

ia
ry

37
O

rd
er

 to
 F

id
uc

ia
ry

26
Is

su
an

ce
 a

nd
 R

ec
or

di
ng

 o
f 

L
et

te
rs

39
Is

su
in

g 
an

d 
R

ec
or

di
ng

 L
et

te
rs

 o
f 

A
pp

oi
nt

m
en

t
27

H
ow

 a
 P

ro
ba

te
 P

ro
ce

ed
in

g 
B

ec
om

es
 C

on
te

st
ed

15
Pe

ti
ti

on
s

27
.1

T
ra

in
in

g 
fo

r 
N

on
-L

ic
en

se
d 

Fi
du

ci
ar

ie
s

38
T

ra
in

in
g 

fo
r 

N
on

-L
ic

en
se

d 
Fi

du
ci

ar
ie

s
28

A
In

it
ia

l P
ro

ce
du

re
s;

 S
ch

ed
ul

in
g 

C
on

fe
re

nc
e

27
M

an
ag

em
en

t o
f 

C
on

te
st

ed
 P

ro
ba

te
 P

ro
ce

ed
in

gs
28

B
D

is
co

ve
ry

 a
nd

 D
is

cl
os

ur
e

28
D

is
cl

os
ur

e 
an

d 
D

is
co

ve
ry

28
C

Pr
oc

ed
ur

e 
fo

r 
E

vi
de

nt
ia

ry
 H

ea
ri

ng
23

E
vi

de
nt

ia
ry

 H
ea

ri
ng

29
A

lt
er

na
ti

ve
 D

is
pu

te
 R

es
ol

ut
io

n
21

A
lt

er
na

ti
ve

 D
is

pu
te

 R
es

ol
ut

io
n

30
A

In
ve

nt
or

y
45

C
on

se
rv

at
or

's 
In

ve
nt

or
y,

 B
ud

ge
t, 

an
d 

A
cc

ou
nt

30
B

C
on

se
rv

at
or

's 
A

cc
ou

nt
s

45
C

on
se

rv
at

or
's 

In
ve

nt
or

y,
 B

ud
ge

t, 
an

d 
A

cc
ou

nt
30

C
A

nn
ua

l G
ua

rd
ia

n 
R

ep
or

ts
46

A
nn

ua
l G

ua
rd

ia
n 

R
ep

or
ts

30
.1

A
Fi

na
nc

ia
l O

rd
er

45
C

on
se

rv
at

or
's 

In
ve

nt
or

y,
 B

ud
ge

t, 
an

d 
A

cc
ou

nt
30

.1
B

Fi
na

nc
ia

l O
rd

er
42

T
ra

in
in

g,
 R

ol
e,

 a
nd

 T
er

m
in

at
io

n 
of

 a
n 

A
tt

or
ne

y 
fo

r 
a 

Su
bj

ec
t P

er
so

n

30
.2

Su
st

ai
na

bi
li

ty
 o

f 
C

on
se

rv
at

or
sh

ip
45

C
on

se
rv

at
or

's 
In

ve
nt

or
y,

 B
ud

ge
t, 

an
d 

A
cc

ou
nt

30
.3

C
on

se
rv

at
or

sh
ip

 E
st

at
e 

B
ud

ge
t

45
C

on
se

rv
at

or
's 

In
ve

nt
or

y,
 B

ud
ge

t, 
an

d 
A

cc
ou

nt
31

D
ec

ed
en

ts
' E

st
at

es
-S

pe
ci

fi
c 

Pr
oc

ed
ur

es
50

Pe
rs

on
al

 R
ep

re
se

nt
at

iv
e'

s 
In

ve
nt

or
y 

an
d 

A
cc

ou
nt



R
ul

e
(o

ld
)

R
ul

e 
Su

b-
pa

rt
T

IT
L

E
 (

ol
d)

R
ul

e
(n

ew
)

T
IT

L
E

 (
ne

w
)

32
T

ru
st

s-
Sp

ec
if

ic
 P

ro
ce

du
re

s
52

T
ru

st
ee

's 
A

cc
ou

nt
33

C
om

pe
ns

at
io

n 
fo

r 
Fi

du
ci

ar
ie

s 
an

d 
A

tt
or

ne
ys

33
C

om
pe

ns
at

io
n 

fo
r 

Fi
du

ci
ar

ie
s,

 A
tt

or
ne

ys
, a

nd
 S

ta
tu

to
ry

 R
ep

re
se

nt
at

iv
es

34
D

is
tr

ib
ut

io
ns

 to
 M

in
or

s 
an

d 
In

ca
pa

ci
ta

te
d 

or
 P

ro
te

ct
ed

 A
du

lt
s

54
D

is
tr

ib
ut

io
ns

 to
 P

er
so

ns
 U

nd
er

 D
is

ab
il

it
y

35
C

iv
il

 A
rr

es
t W

ar
ra

nt
s,

 O
rd

er
s 

to
 S

ho
w

 C
au

se
, a

nd
 F

id
uc

ia
ry

A
rr

es
t W

ar
ra

nt
s

24
E

nf
or

ce
m

en
t o

f 
C

ou
rt

 O
rd

er
s

36
R

en
ew

al
 o

f 
G

ua
rd

ia
n'

s 
In

pa
ti

en
t M

en
ta

l H
ea

lt
h 

A
ut

ho
ri

ty
47

G
ua

rd
ia

n'
s 

In
pa

ti
en

t P
sy

ch
ia

tr
ic

 T
re

at
m

en
t A

ut
ho

ri
ty

37
Se

tt
le

m
en

ts
 I

nv
ol

vi
ng

 M
in

or
s 

or
 I

nc
ap

ac
it

at
ed

 A
du

lt
s

53
Se

tt
le

m
en

t o
f 

C
la

im
s 

fo
r 

M
in

or
s 

or
 A

du
lt

s 
in

 N
ee

d 
of

 P
ro

te
ct

io
n

38
Fo

rm
s

55
Fo

rm
s

N
ew

5
C

on
te

st
ed

 a
nd

 U
nc

on
te

st
ed

 H
ea

ri
ng

s
N

ew
9

Se
al

in
g 

an
d 

U
ns

ea
li

ng
 C

ou
rt

 D
oc

um
en

ts
N

ew
20

C
on

fe
re

nc
e

N
ew

22
Se

tt
le

m
en

t C
on

fe
re

nc
e

N
ew

25
C

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
an

d 
O

rd
er

 to
 S

ho
w

 C
au

se
 H

ea
ri

ng
s

N
ew

29
D

em
an

d 
fo

r 
Ju

ry
 T

ri
al



 

 
 

Appendix C 
Proposed New Forms 

  



   

 
 

PROBATE FORM 2-S: 
SUPPLEMENTAL ORDER TO GUARDIAN WITH INPATIENT PSYCHIATRIC 

TREATMENT AUTHORITY AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
 

Name of Person Filing Document:   
Address:   
City, State, Zip Code:   
Telephone Number:   
Representing [  ] Self or [  ] Attorney for:   
Attorney Bar Number (if applicable):   
Licensed Fiduciary Number (if applicable):   

 
ARIZONA SUPERIOR COURT 

IN       COUNTY 
 

In the Matter of the Guardianship of: 
 
 
  
Ward’s Name, an Adult. 

 Case Number:   
 

SUPPLEMENTAL ORDER TO 
GUARDIAN WITH INPATIENT 
PSYCHIATRIC TREATMENT 

AUTHORITY AND 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

 
 
  
(Assigned Judicial Officer) 

 
Warning: This appointment is not effective until the Letters of Appointment have been issued by the 
Clerk of the Superior Court. 
 
The welfare and best interest of the person named above (“your ward”) are matters of great concern to 
this Court.  This document addresses only your powers and duties relating to inpatient psychiatric 
treatment for your ward.  Thus, the orders made in this document are in addition to, and supplement, the 
orders made in the Order to Guardian and Acknowledgment and Information to Interested Persons or the 
Order to Guardian and Conservator and Acknowledgment and Information to Interested Persons that you 
and the Court have signed.   
 



   

 
 

Notwithstanding paragraph 6 of the Order to Guardian and Acknowledgment and Information to 
Interested Persons or the Order to Guardian and Conservator and Acknowledgment and Information to 
Interested Persons, you may place your ward in an inpatient psychiatric facility against your ward’s will.  
However, you must comply with A.R.S. § 14-5312.01, including but not limited to the following 
requirements: 

 
A. Within forty-eight hours after placing your ward in an inpatient psychiatric facility, you must 

notify your ward’s attorney of the placement. 
 
B. When your ward is admitted to an inpatient psychiatric facility, you must provide that facility with 

the name, address and telephone number of your ward’s attorney. 
 
C. You must sign any documents necessary to allow your ward’s attorney access to all of your ward’s 

medical, psychiatric, psychological, and other treatment records. 
 

D. You must place your ward in the least restrictive treatment alternative within five calendar days 
after the medical director of the inpatient psychiatric facility notifies you that your ward no longer 
needs inpatient care.   

 
E. You must file with the annual report of the guardian required pursuant to A.R.S. § 14-5315 an 

evaluation report by a psychiatrist or a psychologist. The evaluation report must indicate whether 
your ward will likely need inpatient mental health care and treatment within the next 12 months. 
If or if you do not file the evaluation report, [THIS REQUIRES CORRECTION] the report 
indicates that your ward will not likely need inpatient mental health care and treatment, your 
authority to consent to placement in an inpatient psychiatric facility will cease on the date specified 
in the prior court order. If the report supports the continuation of your authority to consent to 
inpatient treatment, the court may extend your authority to consent to this placement in an inpatient 
psychiatric facility. However, at least 30 days before that authority expires, you must file a motion 
requesting that the Court extend that authority. 

 
F. At any court hearing regarding the placement of your ward in an inpatient psychiatric facility, you 

will have the burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that your ward is likely to be in 
need of inpatient mental health care and treatment within the period of the authority granted. 

 
This order is only an outline of some of your duties as a guardian who has been granted the authority to 
place your ward in an inpatient psychiatric facility. It is your responsibility to obtain proper legal advice 
about your duties. Failure to do so may result in personal financial liability for any losses. 
 

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS14-5315&originatingDoc=NEA84E1D03CF511E6BF5EAB68310EFF5E&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Category)


   

 
 

 
WARNING: Failure to obey the orders of this court and the statutory provisions relating to guardians 
may result in your removal from office and other penalties.  In some circumstances, you may be held in 
contempt of court, and your contempt may be punished by confinement in jail, a fine, or both. 
 
 
 
DATED this    day of    , 20 . 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 

          Judicial Officer’s Signature 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
      Judicial Officer’s Name (Type or Print Name) 

 
 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
 
I (We), the undersigned acknowledges receiving a copy of this Order and agree(s) to be bound by its 
provisions, whether or not read before signing, as long as serving as guardian. 
 
 
               
Date  Guardian’s Signature 
 
 

        
Guardian’s Name (Type or Print Name) 

 
 
               
Date       Co-Guardian’s Signature (if any) 
 
 
               
       Co-Guardian’s Name (Type or Print Name) 



 

PROBATE FORM 11: 
PROBATE INFORMATION FORM FOR DECEDENT’S ESTATE 

 
Name of Person Filing Document:   
Address:   
City, State, Zip Code:   
Telephone Number:   
Representing [  ] Self or [  ] Attorney for:   
Attorney Bar No. (if applicable):   
Licensed Fiduciary No. (if applicable):   

 
ARIZONA SUPERIOR COURT 

IN       COUNTY 
 
In the Matter of the Estate of: 
 
 
_________________________________, 
Deceased. 

 Case Number:   
 
PROBATE INFORMATION FORM 

 
[  ] Updated (Check this box if this is an 

updated form.) 
 
INSTRUCTIONS: 
 
1. Complete this form to the best of your knowledge and ability and then file it with your application 

or petition. 
 

2. If you later learn of additional information that you omitted or if you later learn that any 
information in this form is incorrect, you must file an updated probate information form. 

 
3. For purposes of this form, “Financial Institution” means a national banking association, a holder 

of a banking permit under Arizona law, a savings and loan association authorized to conduct trust 
business in Arizona, a title insurance company qualified to do business in Arizona, or a trust 
company holding a certificate to engage in trust business from the superintendent of financial 
institutions. 

 
4. Items designated with an asterisk (*) constitute “contact information” under Rule 6, Arizona Rules 

of Probate Procedure.  If contact information changes, you must file a notice of change of contact 
information. 



   

 
 

5. This form is filed as a confidential document, so it is not available to the general public.  In 
addition, you are not required to provide anyone with this form, other than the court. 

 
A. INFORMATION ABOUT THE NOMINATED PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE / 

SPECIAL ADMINISTRATOR: 
Name:   
Is this person or entity an Arizona Licensed Fiduciary?  [  ] Yes  [  ] No 
If Yes, write that person or entity’s Licensed Fiduciary Number on the line below: 
  
Mailing Address:*   
Physical Address:*   
Work Telephone Number:*   
Email Address:*   
 
If the nominated personal representative/special administrator is an Arizona Licensed Fiduciary 
or a Financial Institution, proceed to paragraph B below.  Otherwise, complete the remainder of 
paragraph A. 
 
Home Telephone Number:*      
Cellular Phone Number:*      
Date of Birth:      Social Security Number:      
Race:     Height:    Weight:    
Eye Color:    Hair Color:    Sex:     

 
B. INFORMATION ABOUT THE DECEDENT: 

Name:   
Date of Birth:      Date of Death:     
Social Security Number:            

 
 
I,        (your name), under the penalty of perjury, do hereby swear 
that the foregoing information is true and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief. 
 
 
               
Date Signature



 

PROBATE FORM 12: 
PROBATE INFORMATION FORM FOR GUARDIANSHIP/CONSERVATORSHIP 

 
Name of Person Filing Document:   
Address:   
City, State, Zip Code:   
Telephone Number:   
Representing [  ] Self or [  ] Attorney for:   
Attorney Bar No. (if applicable):   
Licensed Fiduciary No. (if applicable):   

 
ARIZONA SUPERIOR COURT 

IN       COUNTY 
 
In the Matter of: 
 
 
  
Ward’s Name, an Adult. 

 Case Number:   
 
PROBATE INFORMATION FORM 

 
[  ] Updated (Check this box if this is an 

updated form.) 
 
INSTRUCTIONS: 
 
1. Complete this form to the best of your knowledge and ability and then file it with your application 

or petition. 
 

2. If you later learn of additional information that you omitted or if you later learn that any 
information in this form is incorrect, you must file an updated probate information form. 

 
3. For purposes of this form, “Financial Institution” means a national banking association, a holder 

of a banking permit under Arizona law, a savings and loan association authorized to conduct trust 
business in Arizona, a title insurance company qualified to do business in Arizona, or a trust 
company holding a certificate to engage in trust business from the superintendent of financial 
institutions. 
 

4. Items designated with an asterisk (*) constitute “contact information” under Rule 6, Arizona Rules 
of Probate Procedure.  If contact information changes, you must file a notice of change of contact 
information. 



   

 
 

5. This form is filed as a confidential document, so it is not available to the general public.  In 
addition, you are not required to provide anyone with this form other than the court. 
 

A. INFORMATION ABOUT THE NOMINATED GUARDIAN (if applicable): 
Name:   
Is this person or entity an Arizona Licensed Fiduciary?  [  ] Yes  [  ] No 
If Yes, write that person or entity’s Licensed Fiduciary Number on the line below: 
  
Mailing Address:*   
Physical Address:*   
Work Telephone Number:*   
Email Address:*   
 
If the nominated guardian is an Arizona Licensed Fiduciary or a Financial Institution, proceed to 
paragraph B below.  Otherwise, complete the remainder of paragraph A. 
 
Home Telephone Number:*      
Cellular Phone Number:*      
Date of Birth:      Social Security Number:      
Race:     Height:    Weight:    
Eye Color:    Hair Color:    Sex:     

 
B. INFORMATION ABOUT THE NOMINATED CONSERVATOR (If applicable or if 

different from A): 
Name:   
Is this person or entity an Arizona Licensed Fiduciary?  [  ] Yes  [  ] No 
If Yes, write that person or entity’s Licensed Fiduciary Number on the line below: 
  
Mailing Address:*   
Physical Address:*   
Work Telephone Number:*   
Email Address:*   
 
If the nominated conservator is an Arizona Licensed Fiduciary or a Financial Institution, proceed 
to paragraph C below.  Otherwise, complete the remainder of paragraph B.) 
 
Home Telephone Number:*      
Cellular Phone Number:*      



   

 
 

Date of Birth:      Social Security Number:      
Race:     Height:    Weight:    
Eye Color:    Hair Color:    Sex:     

 
C. INFORMATION ABOUT THE PERSON WHO NEEDS A GUARDIAN OR 

CONSERVATOR: 
Name:   
Mailing Address:*   
Physical Address:*   
Work Telephone Number:*   
Email Address:*   
Home Telephone Number:*      
Cellular Phone Number:*      
Date of Birth:      Social Security Number:      
Race:     Height:    Weight:    
Eye Color:    Hair Color:    Sex:     

 
 
I,        (your name), under the penalty of perjury, do hereby swear 
that the foregoing information is true and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief. 
 
 
               
Date       Signature 



 

PROBATE FORM 13 
NOTICE OF CHANGE OF FIDUCIARY’S CONTACT INFORMATION 

 
Name of Person Filing Document:   
Address:   
City, State, Zip Code:   
Telephone Number:   
Representing [  ] Self or [  ] Attorney for:   
Attorney Bar No. (if applicable):   
Licensed Fiduciary No. (if applicable):   

 
ARIZONA SUPERIOR COURT 

IN       COUNTY 
 
In the Matter of the Estate of: 
 
 
  
Deceased. 

 Case Number:   
 

NOTICE OF CHANGE OF 
FIDUCIARY’S CONTACT 

INFORMATION 
 

 
INSTRUCTIONS:  
 
1. Complete this form to the best of your knowledge and ability. 

 
2. If any of the information in this form later changes, file a new “notice of change of fiduciary’s 

contact information” form. 
 
3. For purposes of this form, “Financial Institution” means a national banking association, a holder 

of a banking permit under Arizona law, a savings and loan association authorized to conduct trust 
business in Arizona, a title insurance company qualified to do business in Arizona, or a trust 
company holding a certificate to engage in trust business from the superintendent of financial 
institutions. 
 

4. Unless the court orders otherwise, you must mail or a deliver a copy of this form to all the parties 
and interested persons in this case. 

 
  



   

 
 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that, effective     (date), the undersigned fiduciary’s 
contact information is as follows: 

 
Name:   
Is this person or entity an Arizona Licensed Fiduciary?  [  ] Yes  [  ] No 
If Yes, write that person or entity’s Licensed Fiduciary Number on the line below: 
  
Mailing Address:   
Physical Address:   
Work Telephone Number:   
Email Address:   

 
If the fiduciary is an Arizona Licensed Fiduciary or a Financial Institution, skip the following items and 
proceed to the date and signature lines. 

 
Home Telephone Number;       
Cellular Phone Number:       
 

 
I,        (your name), under the penalty of perjury, do hereby swear 
that the foregoing information is true and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief. 

 
 

                
Date       Signature



 

PROBATE FORM 14: 
NOTICE OF CHANGE OF WARD’S CONTACT INFORMATION 

 
Name of Person Filing Document:   
Address:   
City, State, Zip Code:   
Telephone Number:   
Representing [  ] Self or [  ] Attorney for:   
Attorney Bar No. (if applicable):   
Licensed Fiduciary No. (if applicable):   

 
ARIZONA SUPERIOR COURT 

IN       COUNTY 
 
In the Matter of: 
 
 
  
Ward’s Name, an Adult. 

 Case Number:   
 
NOTICE OF CHANGE OF WARD’S 

CONTACT INFORMATION 
 

 
INSTRUCTIONS:  
 
1. Complete this form to the best of your knowledge and ability. 

 
2. If any of the information in this form later changes, file a new “notice of change of ward’s contact 

information” form. 
 
3. Unless the court orders otherwise, you must mail or a deliver a copy of this form to all the parties 

and interested persons in this case. 
 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that, effective     (date), the ward’s contact 
information is as follows: 
 
Name:   
Mailing Address:   
Physical Address:   
Work Telephone Number:        
Home Telephone Number:        
Cellular Phone Number:        



   

 
 

Email Address:   
 
I,        (your name), under the penalty of perjury, do hereby swear 
that the foregoing information is true and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief. 
 
 
                
Date       Signature 



 

PROBATE FORM 15: 
 

AUTHORIZATION TO OBTAIN CERTIFIED COPY OF A SEALED DOCUMENT 
 

Name of Person Filing Document:   
Address:   
City, State, Zip Code:   
Telephone Number:   
Representing [  ] Self or [  ] Attorney for:   
Attorney Bar No. (if applicable):   
Licensed Fiduciary No. (if applicable):   

 
ARIZONA SUPERIOR COURT 

IN       COUNTY 
 
In the Matter of: 
 
 
  
Ward’s Name, an Adult. 

 Case Number:   
 

AUTHORIZATION TO OBTAIN 
CERTIFIED COPY OF LETTERS 

OF APPOINTMENT AND/OR 
ORDER OF APOINTMENT 

 
 

Pursuant to Rule 7.1(b), Arizona Rules of Probate Procedure, I,        
(your name), authorize        (authorized person’s name) to obtain 
a certified copy of the following sealed document(s) in this case (Check one or both boxes.): 
 
[  ] Order of appointment of a fiduciary 
[  ] Letters of appointment of a fiduciary 
 
Under the penalty of perjury, I certify that I am one of the following (Check only one of the boxes.): 
 
[  ] The fiduciary appointed in the requested document(s) 
[  ] The attorney of record for the fiduciary appointed in the requested document(s) 

 
 
               
Date       Signature  
 



   

 
 

STATE OF      
 
COUNTY OF     
 
Subscribed and sworn to or affirmed before me this:   (date) 
 
by  . 
 
 
               
(notary seal)      Deputy Clerk or Notary Public 

 



Effective September 1, 2012 Page 1 of 5 AOC PBPAFORM10F 
Revised October 14, 2013 

Form 10.  Proof of Restricted Account from Financial 
Institution 

Name of Person Filing Document: ____________________________ 

Address:  _________________________________________________ 

City, State, Zip Code:  ______________________________________ 

Telephone Number: ________________________________________ 

Attorney Bar Number (if applicable): _________________________ 

Licensed Fiduciary Number (if applicable): ____________________ 

Representing [  ] Self or [  ] Attorney for: ______________________ 
 

 

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF ARIZONA 
 IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF ____________________ 

 

In the Matter of the Conservatorship for/Estate of: 

________________________________ 
Protected Person’s Name 

 
Date of Birth: ____________________ 
 
 
Type of Conservatorship:    

                 Adult  

                 Minor 

Case No: _______________________ 

 

PROOF OF RESTRICTED ACCOUNT 
FROM FINANCIAL INSTITUTION 

  

 

Instructions:  This form must be signed by a representative of the financial institution who 

is authorized to act on behalf of, and bind, the financial institution.   

Name of Financial Institution:            

Branch Address:               

Phone:                

State of Arizona                             ) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FOR CLERK’S USE ONLY 

 

 

 

 

 

    

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold



 Case No.  _________________ 

Effective September 1, 2012 Page 2 of 5 AOC PBPAFORM10F 
Revised October 14, 2013 

County of ___________________  )  ss. 
 

  

Formatted: Font: Not Bold



 Case No.  _________________ 

Effective September 1, 2012 Page 3 of 5 AOC PBPAFORM10F 
Revised October 14, 2013 

The undersigned states the following under oath as follows:  
 
We have received a copy of the above-referenced Court’s oOrder of  dated __________, which                                                  
that requires the establishment of restricted account(s), and we willagree to comply with the 
Orderthat order.   Pursuant to that order,  
Wwe have opened the following accounts for the above-named protected person in the name of 
“The estate of      ”, a protected person, by      
 ,                                                       Conservator: 
 

Account Number    Opening Balance  Type of Account  
LAST 4 DIGITS OF ACCOUNT NO. ONLY 
(Show other numbers as “X” as in “XXX1234”) 
 
                                                     $                

                                                      $                

                                                      $                

                                                      $                           

Those accounts are titled as follows:         . 
(Instructions:  If the account is for a conservatorship, the account should be titled, “The 
Estate of [name of protected person], by [name of conservator], Conservator.”  If the account 
is for a decedent’s estate, the account should be titled, “The Estate of [name of decedent], by 
[name of personal representative,] Personal Representative.”) 

No withdrawals of principal or income will be allowed unless we are presented with a certified 
copy of a court order authorizing the withdrawal.    

Check box if applicable:  [: [  ]  Pursuant to the above-referenced court’s order, each account 
listed above is federally insured by the FDIC or NCUA.   

Unless otherwise ordered by the Court, each account is federally insured by the FDIC or NCUA 
and is restricted as follows: 

No withdrawals of principal or, income, or interest will be allowed unless we are presented with 
a copy of an order of the above-referenced court that the Clerk of that Court, within 60 days of 
its presentation, has certified to be a true and correct copy of the originalexcept by certified 
Order of the Superior Court.   

Reinvestment may be made without further Court Order so long as funds remain insured 
and restricted in this institution at this branch.  Check box if the account has been 
established for a minor conservatorship:  [  ]  We understand that the above-referenced 
account(s) has(have) been established for the benefit of a minor.  The In the case of a minor, the 
funds/asset  shallwill not be released to the minor at ageafter the minor’s eighteenth birthday en 
(18) until we receive a certified cCourt oOrder authorizing release of the funds/assets.  

Formatted: Right:  0", Line spacing:  single

Formatted: Space After:  0 pt

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.21"

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: No underline

Formatted: Font: Bold, Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold, Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Bold



 Case No.  _________________ 

Effective September 1, 2012 Page 4 of 5 AOC PBPAFORM10F 
Revised October 14, 2013 

Unless otherwise ordered by the Court, each account is federally insured by the FDIC or NCUA 
and is restricted as follows: 

 

We have received a copy of the Court’s Order of                                                   that requires the 
restricted account(s) and we will comply with the Order.  
 
 

DATED:  _________________________            

                ____________________________________                              
Signature of Financial Institution 
Representative 

 
 

____________________________________                                                                    
Name of Financial Institution Representative  
(Type or Print Name) 

 
 

____________________________________                                                                      
Title of Financial Institution Representative  

 
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this date:    ________________________ 
 
 
By:              
 
 
My Commission Expires:   __________________________      
 
         

 
       

Notary Public 
 

 

APPLIES TO ALL SUCCESSORS 

By signing above, you are stating for yourself and your successors that you have restricted 
these accounts from all debit activity unless otherwise ordered by the Court.             

  

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"



 Case No.  _________________ 

Effective September 1, 2012 Page 5 of 5 AOC PBPAFORM10F 
Revised October 14, 2013 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this date:    ________________________ 
 
 
By:              
 
 
My Commission Expires:   __________________________      
 
         

 
       

Notary Public 
 

 

APPLIES TO ALL ASSIGNEES 

By signing above you are stating for yourself and your successors that you have restricted 
these accounts from all debit activity unless otherwise ordered by the Court.             

 



Effective September 1, 2012 Page 1 of 4 AOC PBPAFORM10F 
Revised October 14, 2013 

Form 10.  Proof of Restricted Account from Financial 
Institution 

Name of Person Filing Document: ____________________________ 

Address:  _________________________________________________ 

City, State, Zip Code:  ______________________________________ 

Telephone Number: ________________________________________ 

Attorney Bar Number (if applicable): _________________________ 

Licensed Fiduciary Number (if applicable): ____________________ 

Representing [  ] Self or [  ] Attorney for: ______________________ 
 

 

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF ARIZONA 
 IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF ____________________ 

 

In the Matter of the Conservatorship for/Estate of: 

________________________________ 
 
 
 
 

Case No: _______________________ 

 

PROOF OF RESTRICTED ACCOUNT 
FROM FINANCIAL INSTITUTION 

  

 

Instructions:  This form must be signed by a representative of the financial institution who 

is authorized to act on behalf of, and bind, the financial institution.   

Name of Financial Institution:            

Branch Address:               

Phone:                

State of Arizona                             ) 
County of ___________________  )  ss. 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

FOR CLERK’S USE ONLY 

 

 

 

 

 

    



 Case No.  _________________ 

Effective September 1, 2012 Page 2 of 4 AOC PBPAFORM10F 
Revised October 14, 2013 

The undersigned states the following under oath:  
 
We have received a copy of the above-referenced Court’s order dated __________, which 
requires the establishment of restricted account(s), and we agree to comply with that order.   
Pursuant to that order, we have opened the following accounts: 
 

Account Number    Opening Balance  Type of Account  
LAST 4 DIGITS OF ACCOUNT NO. ONLY 
(Show other numbers as “X” as in “XXX1234”) 
 
                                                     $                

                                                      $                

                                                      $                

                                                      $                           

Those accounts are titled as follows:         . 
(If the account is for a conservatorship, the account should be titled, “The Estate of [name of 
protected person], by [name of conservator], Conservator.”  If the account is for a decedent’s 
estate, the account should be titled, “The Estate of [name of decedent], by [name of personal 
representative,] Personal Representative.”) 

No withdrawals of principal or income will be allowed unless we are presented with a certified 
copy of a court order authorizing the withdrawal.    

Check box if applicable:        Pursuant to the above-referenced court’s order, each account 
listed above is federally insured by the FDIC or NCUA.   

Check box if the account has been established for a minor conservatorship:     We 
understand that the above-referenced account(s) has(have) been established for the benefit of a 
minor.  The funds/asset will not be released to the minor after the minor’s eighteenth birthday 
until we receive a certified court order authorizing release of the funds/assets.  
 
 

DATED:  _________________________            

                ____________________________________                              
Signature of Financial Institution 
Representative 

 
 

____________________________________                                                                    
Name of Financial Institution Representative  
(Type or Print Name) 

 



 Case No.  _________________ 

Effective September 1, 2012 Page 3 of 4 AOC PBPAFORM10F 
Revised October 14, 2013 

 
____________________________________                                                                      
Title of Financial Institution Representative 

 
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this date:    ________________________ 
 
 
By:              
 
 
My Commission Expires:   __________________________      
 
         

 
       

Notary Public 
 

 

APPLIES TO ALL SUCCESSORS 

By signing above, you are stating for yourself and your successors that you have restricted 
these accounts from all debit activity unless otherwise ordered by the Court.             

  



 Case No.  _________________ 

Effective September 1, 2012 Page 4 of 4 AOC PBPAFORM10F 
Revised October 14, 2013 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this date:    ________________________ 
 
 
By:              
 
 
My Commission Expires:   __________________________      
 
         

 
       

Notary Public 
 

 

APPLIES TO ALL ASSIGNEES 

By signing above you are stating for yourself and your successors that you have restricted 
these accounts from all debit activity unless otherwise ordered by the Court.             

 



R-18-0044: Comment Summary 

Page 1 of 7 
 

For the complete text of comments posted on the Rules Forum –  click here   
 
Number + 
Source + 
Date 

Summary 

1.  
Emily Kile 
02.10.2019 
 

Rule 22 of the current rules allows the Court to approve a proof of restricted 
account that allows assets to be invested, rather than being FDIC insured. Rule 36 
requires that all cases must use Form 10 for the proof of restricted accounts. If 
Form 10 will require that all restricted accounts must be insured, incapacitated 
individual's financial investment opportunity will not exist and will harm 
incapacitated individuals. This is a bad outcome for these matters. Imagine having 
to cash out $1 million of investment so they can put in a CD or savings account. 
Besides the tax consequences of this action, the economic costs over the lifetime 
of this beneficiary may be detrimental. The cost to bond over a large amount of 
assets to avoid FDIC insured accounts is not a cost-effective solution. While the 
Court may order a different restriction, it is unlikely that a financial institution will 
sign Form 10 if less restriction was ordered by the Court, such as allowing RMDs 
to be deposited to an unrestricted account or assets can remain invested in non-
FDIC insured accounts. I urge a change to the Rule that leaves the discretion of the 
Form used to the Court and does not require the use of Form 10.  
 
Judge Polk note:  By using a mandatory form, we did not intend to require all 
conservatorship funds that are restricted to be deposited in an FDIC insured 
account (at least not in every case).  Instead, we just wanted to standardize the 
proof of restricted account form to assure it was executed by an authorized person 
who could bind the financial institution having custody of the restricted assets 
(whether those assets be funds on deposit in a bank account or securities invested 
in a brokerage account).  I recommend that the Task Force look at Form 10 to 
ensure it does not preclude alternative restricted accounts.  
 
Staff note:  Perhaps a checkbox on Form 10 could say something like: 
 
[] check this box if the court requires the account to be federally insured by the 
FDIC or NCUA  
 
 

2.           
COSC 
04.15.2019 
 
 
 

 Kay Radwanski on behalf of the Committee on Superior Court  
Hon. David L. Mackey, Chair  
kradwanski@courts.az.gov  
602-452-3360  
 
On April 12, 2019, after hearing a presentation from the Hon. Jay Polk and the 
Hon. Patricia Norris (Ret.), the Committee on Superior Court, upon motion made 
and seconded, unanimously authorized Chairman Hon. David L. Mackey to file 
this comment on behalf of the committee.  
 

https://www.azcourts.gov/Rules-Forum/aft/925
mailto:kradwanski@courts.az.gov


R-18-0044: Comment Summary 

Page 2 of 7 
 

“The Committee on Superior Court supports Rule Petition R-18-0044, which 
proposes changes to the Arizona Rules of Probate Procedure. The committee 
recognizes the significant time and effort expended by the Probate Rules Task 
Force, under the leadership of its chair, Chief Justice Rebecca Berch (Ret.).” 
 

3.  
James McDougall 
04.22.2019 

This comment concerns Rules 32 and 47, and Form 2-S. 
 
Rule 32 (“statutory representative, formerly known as guardian ad litem”):  In his 
lengthy comment, Judge McDougall contends that the objectives of a GAL under 
current Rule 15.1 cannot be met by the proposed provisions of Rule 32.   
 
The statutory representative would have the power to “bind and act” on behalf of 
an incapacitated person, and Judge McDougall contends that it might be 
inappropriate to grant such authority to someone who is serving as a pre-hearing 
GAL.   
 
He also contends that A.R.S. 14-1408 was derived from the Uniform Trust Code 
rather than the Uniform Probate Court, and that while this statute might meet the 
needs of litigants in probate and trust proceedings, it is “not a good fit” for 
litigants in guardianships, conservatorships, and protective proceedings.   
 
He asks the Task Force to consider Section 115 (“guardian ad litem”) of the 
Uniform Guardianship, Conservatorship, and Other Protective Arrangements Act, 
which he believes more correctly aligns with current Rule 15.1.  (The comment 
quotes this section and a comment to the section.) 
 
Judge McDougall believes that the court should be permitted to appoint a GAL, 
with limited powers, at any time the court deems it advisable.  A statutory 
representative may be appointed only after notice, a hearing, and a finding that 
the person is incapacitated or in need of protection.  Having the authority to 
appoint a GAL prior to this process is a “valuable tool” and affords input to the 
court at the hearing from a “voice of reason.” 
 
Finally, he asks the Task Force to consider the effect the elimination of GALs – 
prior to a finding of incompetency -- might have on civil commitment and 
criminal competency proceedings. 
 
Rule 47 (“guardian’s inpatient psychiatric treatment authority”):  The comment 
contends subpart (a)(4) (“order without notice”) and its general requirement for 
that court procedures have “substantial similarity” to statutory provisions, lacks 
clarity.  The comment proposes alternative language, that “the petitioner must 
strictly comply with the post-order procedures requirement ordered by the court.”  
 
Form 2-S (“supplemental order to guardian with IPMHA”):  The comment notes a 
phrasing error in this form that staff believes is well-taken. 
 



R-18-0044: Comment Summary 

Page 3 of 7 
 

4. 
Robert Beckett 
05.01.2019 
 

Rule 36 and Form 10:  Rule 55(b)(2) states that “Required forms may not be 
adapted or modified, except by court order.” My understanding is that proposed 
Rule 36(b)(2) instructs that that the Judicial Branch website will state that Form 10 
is a required form – allowing no modification except by court order. Therefore, 
unless the current Form 10 is substantially changed, Form 10 will only allow 
restricted accounts which are federally insured by the FDIC or NCUA. 
 
At least in Maricopa County, the probate court has been approving investments in 
a wide range of financial assets within restricted investment accounts as provided 
under A.R.S. 14-5411 A.  In such cases, Form 10 has been modified. The 
modifications have included removal of the reference to “federally insured”.  With 
the adoption of this proposed rule, Form 10 will be a required form and cannot be 
modified or adapted except by court order. 
 
Rule 44(e): Proposed Rule 44 (e)(1) requires that the annual account be filed no 
later than 60 days after the anniversary date of the issuance of the conservator’s 
permanent letters of appointment.   

 
The current rule provides 90 days.  What is the proposed rule trying to resolve?   

 
The parties and the court all are served by timely filings of true and complete 
accountings.  The parties are also served by making the processing of accountings 
as efficient for the conservatorship estate as possible in the effort to control costs. 

 
I have been an attorney for conservators for 40 years.  I take the 90-day period 
seriously because extension motions only increase the cost of processing 
accountings and the 90-day period meets the goal of processing and approving 
accountings on a timely basis while leaving an adequate time for the conservator, 
the person preparing the accounting, and counsel to prepare and finalize an 
complete and true accounting. 

 
From my perspective, the adoption of this proposed rule will result in an increase 
of poorly prepared accountings, an increase in untimely filed accountings, an 
increase in motions to extend the time to file accountings, and an increase in costs 
involved in processing accountings. 
 
In my mind, a better solution [is]: 

 
a. Publicizing and enforcing the current 90-day requirement for filing an 

accounting; 
 

b. Where a court accountant is involved, court administration working to 
develop the resources to allow court accountants to complete the initial 
review in 3 months.  In such cases, most accountings would end up being 
approved within the year following the end of the accounting period. 
While the committee proposing the rule has no authority on budget, the 



R-18-0044: Comment Summary 

Page 4 of 7 
 

committee should recognize that, to the extent the court accountant 
logjam is part of the problem – advancing the deadline from 90 to 60 is 
not part of the solution. 

 
5. 
Bridget O’Brien 
Swartz 
05.01.2019 
 

Rule 36 and Form 10:  I agree with the other comments concerning RULE 36(b)(2) 
relative to the Form 10 for Proofs of Restricted Account, that the proposed rule is 
too restrictive in providing for a mandatory form. I am an attorney who works on a 
number of substantial settlements of personal injury and wrongful death claims for 
protected minors and adults. As such, I am interacting with a variety of financial 
planners and financial institutions.  
 
I often experience resistance from financial institutions and brokerage firms to 
signing a generic form of proof of restriction on accounts. I have been able to work 
with these companies by "tweaking" the Proof form to satisfy the institution's 
concerns without compromising the intend of the Court's order to restrict. 
Sometimes verbiage is removed that is not necessary (such as mention of a minor 
when the matter concerns an adult) or verbiage is added specifically for that 
individual institution. On occasion, even more restrictive language is added to 
mimic an Order because the Proof is often the institution's main source of 
documentation on that account. sometimes there are last minute revisions requested 
by the institution's legal department after an Order is already entered, despite 
having provided a copy of the Proof form prior to hearing and an Order being 
entered.  
 
These changes are usually so minor (from the probate point of view) that to require 
obtaining another Order would be a waste of time and money when a simple and 
non-substantive revision satisfies all involved, including the Court's restriction 
requirements. For these reasons, I would like to see Form 10 as a 
RECOMMENDED form rather than a mandatory form. 
 
Rule 45(e): I am concerned, as are many others, that this proposed rule will not 
allow sufficient time to accommodate the many parts that go into preparing the 
Court account forms, including schedules of CPAs that often prepare the forms for 
institution and non-professional fiduciaries. The result will be filings of many more 
motions to continue, which is already the case with the current 90-day time 
allowance. This will interfere then with the approval of a prior accounting before 
the next one is filed! 
 
Rule 53: I am very pleased with the proposed Rule 53, which provides for an 
express and formalized recognition and acceptance of the many options to 
"structure" a settlement for protected persons.  It also provides more clarity with 
regards to when a settlement must be approved ty the court. 
 

6. 
AZ Association of 
Superior Court 

Rule 6(c):  The category of “intervener” should be included as one of the options 
for the definition of “party.”   
 



R-18-0044: Comment Summary 

Page 5 of 7 
 

Clerks, by Valerie 
Wyant 
 

Rule 7(c):  The new verbiage provides that “[i]f the court grants the petition, the 
case number will remain the same, but the caption must be amended to reflect that 
the conservatorship or protective order is for an adult.”  The Clerks are opposed to 
having to “amend” the caption, but instead think it would be more appropriate to 
have Court Administration, upon the issuance of an Order from the assigned 
judicial officer, change the nature of action from a minor guardianship or 
conservatorship to an adult guardianship or conservatorship.  At least in Maricopa 
County, using iCIS, the Clerk is unable to change the caption of a case.  Further, if 
a case is opened in the AJACS system as a Guardianship – Minor case, the Clerk 
cannot change the case type to Guardianship – Adult.   
 
Rule 8(c): The Clerks take issue with the fact that under the proposed amendment 
to Rule 8(c) a party will be permitted to file a confidential document as an exhibit 
attached to a pleading or motion.  The problem with allowing a confidential 
document to be “attached” to a motion or pleading is it is not the responsibility of 
the Clerks to separate out documents that are attached to a publicly-accessible 
pleading that are to be treated as confidential documents.  In other words, if a 
publicly-accessible motion is filed with a Clerk’s Office and attached to it are six 
(6) exhibits, three (3) of which are to be treated as confidential documents, the 
Clerk would not separate those out from the motion, and the entire motion, along 
with all of the exhibits would be treated as a publicly-accessible document.  The 
Clerks request that the Rule provide that for certain exhibits to a pleading or motion 
to be treated as confidential those exhibits will need to be placed in an envelope 
with the title of the pleading or motion on it as well as the names of the exhibits 
and the exhibits number.   
 
Rule 9(e)(1)(D): The Clerks are opposed to having to “replace” a document as such 
implies that the Clerk will need to remove the original document from the case file 
and docket and replace it with an alternative or substitute document.  The Clerks 
do not believe that they should be removing and replacing documents from a case 
file.  The Clerks would prefer that Subsection (D) provide that the court may order 
that “a filed document containing confidential information be sealed and an 
identical document with confidential information redacted or removed be filed that 
will be accessible to the public.”   
   
Rule 13(b):  The Clerks would prefer a single Probate Information Form that could 
be used for decedent’s estate cases as well as temporary or permanent guardianship 
or conservatorship cases.   
 
In addition, the current proposed Forms, Forms 11 and 12 are missing the following 
two fields of information that the Clerks believe should be provided on the Forms: 
(1) Nature of the Action; and (2) Interpreter Needs. 
 
Rule 13(c)(1) (A) and (B):  The Clerks would prefer a single Notice of Change of 
Address Form that could be used by fiduciaries and guardians of wards.  The Clerks 
would also like clarification as to whether proposed Forms 12 and 13 are intended 



R-18-0044: Comment Summary 

Page 6 of 7 
 

to replace the use of Updated Probate Information Form for changes of address for 
fiduciaries and wards as is currently required by current Rule 10(1)(c).  The Clerks 
believe that such replacement is the intent behind the new Rule but would like 
clarification. Further, if this Court is to adopt proposed Probate Forms 12 and 13, 
it should be noted that Form 13 should be updated to remove the verbiage “OF 
THE ESTATE OF” and “Deceased.”   
 
Rule 14(c)(1):  The Clerks read this proposed amended Rule to mean that 
subsequent applications and petitions for the same decedent are to be filed into the 
original, or first given case number, which the Clerks can accomplish.  However, 
the Clerks would like confirmation that a filing fee would still be assessed for the 
filing of a subsequent or an opposing petition in accordance with A.R.S. § 12-284.   
 
Rule 26(f):  The Clerks are in favor of the requirement that a party submitting a 
proposed order must include with it copies to be conformed and postage-paid 
envelopes addressed to each party who has entered an appearance in this case, as 
probate cases currently are handled manually and do not allow for any e-File 
component.  However, it is the understanding of the Clerks that at some point in 
the future e-File may be an option in probate cases, Orders may then not have to 
be mailed through U.S. Mail, but could be distributed electronically.  It may be 
wise to add in some additional verbiage for electronic distribution of Orders when 
technologically feasible so as to not have to re-amend the Rules.   
 
Rule 46(b):  The Clerks maintain that the statutory reference in this Rule should be 
A.R.S. § 14-5315(C), not Subsection (B).   
 
Rule 46(d): The Clerks maintain that if medical reports are attached to the annual 
guardianship reports they will NOT be treated as confidential documents under 
proposed Rule 8, unless the filing party specifically follows the directives set forth 
in Rule 8(c) and separates the medical reports from the annual guardianship report 
and places the medical reports in an envelope with the title of the report and the 
fact that the envelope contains a confidential medical record.  The Clerks do not 
go page by page through annual guardianship reports that are submitted, so if a 
medical report is attached to the publicly-accessible annual guardianship report, it 
would not treated as a confidential document.   
 
Because this is a reoccurring issue that the Clerks observe, i.e., medical reports 
being attached to annual guardianship reports absent compliance with current 
Probate Rule 7(C)(2), the Clerks recommend that the Supreme Court include in 
proposed Rule 46(d) that medical records are not to be attached to annual 
guardianship reports and that the court will maintain medical reports as 
confidential documents so long as the filing party complies with proposed Rule 
8(c) with regard to the process for documents to be treated as confidential.   
 



R-18-0044: Comment Summary 

Page 7 of 7 
 

Conclusion:  The Clerks are in support of the Petition filed by the Task Force but 
hope this Court will consider our suggested revisions and requests for clarification 
to the proposed new Rules.   
 

 



Comments to  
Proposed Probate Rule Amendments filed 1/30/19 

Rules 32 and 47 and Form 2-S 
 

Proposed Rule 32: 

 For many years the Probate Court has had the benefit of being able to appoint a Guardian Ad 
Litem (GAL) to assist the court in obtaining an independent unbiased opinion about the best interests of 
a proposed ward or protected person in regard to issues pending before the court. This practice was 
codified by adding Rule 15.1 to the Probate Rules by an amendment effective February of 2012. 

In Maricopa County this is done by filing a Motion with the court explaining why the 
appointment of a GAL is necessary or advisable. If granted the court appoints an attorney who has 
received appropriate training to act as GAL off the list of attorneys maintained by the Office of Court 
Appointed Counsel. The Motion is often filed simultaneously with the filing of a Petition for 
Guardianship or Conservatorship before any hearing adjudicating the incapacity issue is held. The 
benefit to the court is that often the GAL is the voice of reason that bears no allegiance to the agenda or 
emotional views of warring family members in equal statutory priority  vying for the authority to control 
the life or financial decisions of the person who is the subject of the proceeding. Sometimes the war is 
between the Petitioner and the proposed ward or protected person who remains articulate but whose 
judgement and reason is impaired by some mental deficiency, condition, illness or disease.    Although 
not always granted, when the voice of a GAL is added to the mix to address solely the best interest of 
the person to be affected, the court and the person who is the subject of the proceeding are the ones 
who benefit.  

 Rule 15.1 coexisted with the provisions of ARS 14-1408 which permits the court to appoint a 
“Representative”.   As the comment to the proposed rule points out, this person was originally referred 
to as a “Guardian ad Litem” until it was changed to “Representative” by amendment in 2009. The 
original version of ARS 14-1408 was derived from the Uniform Trust Code. 

   Apparently, the drafters of this proposed rule want to avoid confusion and have chosen to do so 
by defaulting to the appointment of a “representative” under 14-14-1408 and deleting old Rule 15.1   
authorizing the court to appoint a GAL.  As pointed out in the comment, a Representative may have 
even broader powers than that of a GAL with a much more limited scope than a Representative. It 
appears that the drafters believe that what could have been accomplished previously under rule 15.1 
may now be accomplished under ARS 14-1408. On close inspection, I do not believe that is true. 

First, 14-1408 states that the court may appoint a representative where it determines that an “interest” 
is not represented or where “available representation may be inadequate”. The attorney for the 
proposed ward is obligated to represent the legal interests of his client and so the “best interest” of a 
client may not be represented or may not be adequately represented. Therefore, this sounds like a 
perfect fit for the appointment of a limited scope Representative (GAL) to advise the court about the 
best interest of the person. However, 14-1408 goes on to state that the court may appoint a 
representative “to receive notice, give consent and otherwise represent, bind and act on behalf of a 
…incapacitated person….”, none of which powers would be appropriate to grant to a GAL in a 
Guardianship or Conservatorship proceeding. 



It is important to remember that 14-1408 was derived from the Uniform Trust Code which in turn 
derived the language from the Uniform Probate Code, which uses the term Guardian ad Litem and is the 
provision from which our original Section 14-1408 was taken. I suggest that ARS 14-1408 is drafted to 
meet the needs and interests of parties and litigants in Probate and Trust proceedings and is not a good 
fit for parties or litigants in Guardianship, Conservatorship and Protective arrangement proceedings.  

Compare the Uniform Trust and Probate Code provisions with the following from the Uniform 
Guardianship, Conservatorship and Other Protective Arrangements Act: 

   SECTION 115.  GUARDIAN AD LITEM.  The court at any time may appoint a  
guardian ad litem for an individual if the court determines the individual’s interest otherwise  
would not be adequately represented.  If no conflict of interest exists, a guardian ad litem may be  
appointed to represent multiple individuals or interests.  The guardian ad litem may not be the  
same individual as the attorney representing the respondent.  The court shall state the duties of  
the guardian ad litem and the reasons for the appointment.  
 
Comment  
This section authorizes the court to appoint a guardian ad litem for an individual whose interests would 
not otherwise be adequately represented or adequately known to the court.  Such an appointment is 
distinct from the appointment of an attorney for a respondent (see Sections 204, 305, 406, and 507) and 
the appointment of a visitor in a proceeding for an adult respondent (see Sections 304, 405, and 506).  
The appointment of a guardian ad litem for an adult respondent is therefore not typical and is not 
required for any proceeding under the act.  
  
It is important that the court, when appointing a guardian ad litem, advise the guardian ad litem of his 
or her role.  This section encourages such advice by requiring the court to state the duties of the guardian 
ad litem and its reasons for the appointment.    
   
The section adds language not present in Section 115 of the 1997 act and the counterpart provision of 
even earlier versions of the act clarifying that the guardian ad litem may not be the same individual as 
the attorney representing a respondent.  A similar statement was included in the comments to, but not 
text of Section 115 of the 1997 act.  The role of the guardian ad litem is distinct from that of the attorney 
for a respondent, and the two often may be in conflict. The guardian ad litem typically is tasked with 
identifying and representing an individual’s best interest.  By contrast, an attorney for a respondent is 
tasked with advocating for the individual’s wishes to the extent ascertainable (see Sections 204, 305, 
406, and 507).  Appointing the same person to take on both roles is thus incompatible with due process 
and does not advance the court’s interest in fact-finding.  
  
When appointing a guardian ad litem who is an attorney, the court should avoid appointing an attorney 
who is associated with a firm in which another attorney represents a party to the proceeding (e.g. the 
respondent or the petitioner).  Such appointments can create a conflict of interest and may be proscribed 
by the jurisdiction’s rules of professional responsibility.  
  
This act does not address payment for a guardian ad litem because that topic is ordinarily addressed 
elsewhere in state law. 
 



It appears that Section 115 of the Uniform Guardianship, Conservatorship and Other Protective 
Arrangements Act is the sum and substance of our current Rule 15.1 which is now being eliminated. I 
believe that the substance of Rule 15.1 should be retained in our new Probate rules in the context of a 
Guardianship or Conservatorship proceeding. 

Not only is current Rule 15.1 being eliminated but new Rule 32 contains a provision in subsection (e) 
which prohibits the court from appointing a “representative” for a person before the court has found, 
after notice and hearing, that the person is incapacitated or is in need of protection. In family court 
proceedings (Rule 10.1 RFLAP) and juvenile court proceedings (Rule 40 RPJC) the court is permitted to 
appoint GALs or Advisors prior to any adjudication to advise the court on the best interest of the 
individual who is the subject of the proceeding. It is a mistake to eliminate this valuable tool in 
Guardianship and Conservatorship proceedings in Probate Court. At a minimum the Supreme Court 
should continue to allow judges to appoint a Representative with the limited powers of a GAL at any 
time the court deems it advisable. 

 In addition, the Supreme Court should consider what affect the deletion of Rule 15.1 in favor of new 
Rule 32 will have on the procedures in ARS 36-540 (G) and the procedures currently being used by some 
criminal courts in Criminal Rule 11 competency proceedings.   ARS 36-540 (G) allows the Mental Health 
Court to order an investigation into the need for a guardianship or conservatorship for a person in a Title 
36 involuntary treatment proceeding who is believed to be an incapacitated person under ARS 14-5101. 
Currently GALs are appointed through the probate court to investigate the need for a guardian or 
conservator and, if deemed necessary, to file such an action to protect the person. Rule 32 appears to 
prevent such an investigative appointment before an adjudication of incapacity is made in a Probate 
proceeding. A similar investigative appointment of a GAL is often made in Criminal Rule 11 proceedings 
where the defendant is incompetent and not restorable to determine whether the defendant would 
benefit form the appointment of a guardian. This practice would appear to be no longer available if Rule 
32 is enacted without amendment because the appointment of such a person is not permitted prior to 
an adjudication of incapacity. 

 

Proposed Rule 47: 

Subsection (a) 4 of New rule 47 is somewhat confusing. The wording of the rule states: “If the court 
grants the request without notice, the party and the court must follow procedures that are substantially 
similar to those set forth in A.R.S. § 14-5310(B).”  A court may grant a Temporary order only If it finds 
that all the “conditions” in A.R.S. § 14-5310(B) have been met, which is what the first sentence of this 
subsection clearly states. This new rule then goes on to state as quoted above that if a court grants a 
request for temporary order without notice, the court and the party must follow “procedures” that are 
substantially t those set forth in A.R.S. § 14-5310(B). Does this mean that a Petitioner must strictly meet 
all of the conditions set forth in A.R.S. § 14-5310(B) for the court to issue a temporary order, but after 
the   temporary order is granted the court and the party only need to follow procedures that are 
substantially similar to those set forth in the statute? The only post-order “procedure” in A.R.S. § 14-
5310(B) appears to be  the procedure set forth in subsection (B) 4 which is a requirement that the 
Petitioner, as certified in the Petition,  personally serve the proposed ward within the time set by the 
court but not later than 72 hours later, as directed by the court. It should be clear that the Petitioner 
must comply with the procedure directed by the court and not some substantially similar procedure.  



Because it shouldn’t be necessary to state in the rule that which is already required by the statute, I 
would recommend that the last sentence of new proposed Rule 47 be deleted. Admittedly, however, 
the wording of subsection (B) 4 is not a model of clarity.  If the drafters of this new rule wanted to 
remind the court and the Petitioner of the requirement of post-order notice to the ward , the last 
sentence should  be reworded to make it clear specifically what procedure is being referred to and that 
the Petitioner must strictly comply with the post-order procedure requirements ordered by the court 
and not just do something substantially similar.  

If the drafters are attempting to remind the courts to comply with the  important post-order 
requirements where a temporary order is granted without notice, perhaps the proposed rule should 
also remind the courts that  they must appoint counsel under subsection (C), set an expiration date for 
the temporary order under subsection (D) and set a hearing date as set forth in subsection (E).  

      

 

Probate Form 2-S - Supplemental Order To Guardian With Inpatient Psychiatric Treatment Authority 
And Acknowledgement: 

Subsection E: The third sentence of Subsection E of the proposed new Form 2-S is confusing. It states: 
“If or if you do not file the evaluation report, the report indicates that your ward will not likely 
need inpatient mental health care and treatment, your authority to consent to placement in an 
inpatient psychiatric facility will cease on the date specified in the prior court order.” I suspect 
that it should read as follows: “ If or if you do not file the evaluation report, or if the report that 
is filed  indicates that your ward will not likely need inpatient mental health care and treatment, 
your authority to consent to placement in an inpatient psychiatric facility will cease on the date 
specified in the prior court order.” 

I recommend that the third sentence of subsection E of Form 2-S be clarified. 

 

Respectfully submitted,  

James E. McDougall 

3101 N. Central Ave., Ste 1600 

Phoenix, Arizona 85012 

602-200-7385 

jmcdougall@frgalaw.com  

 

mailto:jmcdougall@frgalaw.com


 
Comments To Proposed Rule Amendment filed January 30, 2019 

Rules 36(b)(2) and Rule 44(e) 
 

A.  Comment on Proposed Rule 36(b)(2) 
 
Proposed Rule 36(b)(2) states in part: “…The fiduciary must use Form 10 for the proof 
of restricted account.” 
 
Rule 55 (b) states that the Judicial Branch website will specify whether a form is 
recommended or required. 
 
Rule 55 (b) (2) states that “Required forms may not be adapted or modified, except by 
court order.” 
 
So, my understanding is that proposed Rule 36(b)(2) instructs that that the Judicial 
Branch website will state that Form 10 is a required form – allowing no modification 
except by court order.   
 
Therefore, unless the current Form 10 is substantially changed, Form 10 will only allow 
restricted accounts which are federally insured by the FDIC or NCUA. 
 
A.R.S. 14-5411 A. provides the statutory basis for restricted investment accounts and 
states in part: 
 

Unless otherwise directed, the bond shall be in the amount of  . . . . minus the 
value of securities deposited under arrangements requiring an order of the court 
for their removal . . . 

 
At least in Maricopa County, the probate court has been approving investments in a 
wide range of financial assets within restricted investment accounts as provided under 
A.R.S. 14-5411 A.  In such cases, Form 10 has been modified. The modifications have 
included removal of the reference to “federally insured”.  With the adoption of this 
proposed rule, Form 10 will be a required form and cannot be modified or adapted 
except by court order. 
 
Conclusion 
 
If my understanding of the proposed rule is correct, Form 10 will be a required form 
under Rule 55(b)(2) and if so, then whenever a petition requests establishing a 
restricted investment account which will hold financial assets which are not federally 
insured and/or requires additional language relative to the required Form 10, , the 
petitioner will need to request that the court approve modification of Form 10.   
 
 
 



 
B. Proposed Rule 44(e) (1) 

 
 
Proposed Rule 44 (e)(1) requires that the annual account be filed no later than 60 days 
after the anniversary date of the issuance of the conservator’s permanent letters of 
appointment.   
 
The current rule provides 90 days.   
 
What is the proposed rule trying to resolve?   
 
The parties and the court all are served by timely filings of true and complete 
accountings.  The parties are also served by making the processing of accountings as 
efficient for the conservatorship estate as possible in the effort to control costs. 
 
I have been an attorney for conservators for 40 years.  I take the 90 day period 
seriously because extension motions only increase the cost of processing accountings 
and the 90 day period meets the goal of processing and approving accountings on a 
timely basis while leaving an adequate time for the conservator, the person preparing 
the accounting, and counsel to prepare and finalize an complete and true accounting. 
 
From my perspective, the adoption of this proposed rule will result in an increase of 
poorly prepared accountings, an increase in untimely filed accountings, an increase in 
motions to extend the time to file accountings, and an increase in costs involved in 
processing accountings. 
 
Following is a hypothetical 60-day: 
 
Possible schedule to meet 60-day requirement: 
 
By the 10th day of the 60-day period, the conservator receives the ending month 
financial statements.  (Note: Many bank statements end at different days of the month.  
So, a bank statement ending on the 21st of a month may not be received by the 
conservator until the 30th day of the 60-day period), 
 
By the 20th day of the 60-day period, the conservator gathers up all the statements and 
provides to person preparing the accounting. 
 
By the 35th day of the 60-day period, the person preparing the accounting prepares the 
accounting. 
 
By the 45th day of the 60-day period, the attorney and conservator receive and review  
the report, communicate with the person preparing the accounting as to any questions, 
corrections, and obtains the final accounting. 
 



By the 52nd day, the attorney drafts all pleadings (Form 7, fee petitions, any 
supplemental petitions and submits to the conservator). 
 
By the 58th day, the conservator review and signs Form 7 (before a notary which may 
take days to obtain) and other pleadings (such as fee petitions) if necessary.  
 
By the 60th day, the accounting is filed. 
 
If proposed Rule 44(E) is adopted shortening the period to 60 days, and assuming 
conservator, attorney, person preparing accounting all strive to try to meet the above  
timeline, I suggest that on March 1st (the 60th day) many parties, some using their best 
efforts, some not so best, will not have completed each task required. If so, then the 
motion to extend will be prepared and hopefully filed on or before March 1st.  The 
extension request will often be for another 60 days. The court will decide whether the 
extension request is reasonable. Costs will increase because more extensions will be 
requested.  (Note: What is the cost of a motion and order to extend which the  
Conservator’s attorney prepares and the Court appointed counsel reviews?  I have seen 
the cost easily approach $500 and more.).  
 
Conclusion: 
 
In my mind, a better solution: 
 

a. Publicizing and enforcing the current 90-day requirement for filing an accounting; 
b. Where a court accountant is involved, court administration working to develop the 

resources to allow court accountants to complete the initial review in 3 months.  
In such cases, most accountings would end up being approved within the year 
following the end of the accounting period. While the committee proposing the 
rule has no authority on budget, the committee should recognize that, to the 
extent the court accountant logjam is part of the problem – advancing the 
deadline from 90  to 60 is not part of the solution. 

 
 
Submitted by Robert L. Beckett, Attorney, Bar No. 004034 
                      Dyer Bregman & Ferris PLLC 
                      3411 N. 5th Ave. Suite 300 
                      Phoenix, Arizona 85003 
                      rlbeckett@dbfazlaw.com 
                      602-254-6008 ext 2449 office 
                      480-286-1857 cell 
 
Note: Citation clerical issue:  Proposed Rule 9(b) refers to Rule 7(b)(2)(E). It appears 
the correct reference is to Rule 8(b)(2)(E) 

mailto:rlbeckett@dbfazlaw.com


1 
 

Hon. Valerie Wyant, President 
Arizona Association of Superior Court Clerks 
200 N. San Francisco St. 
Flagstaff, AZ 86001 
928-679-7615 
fotinosj@cosc.maricopa.gov 
 

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF ARIZONA 
 
 

In the Matter of 
 
PETITION TO AMEND THE ARIZONA 
RULES OF PROBATE PROCEDURE 
 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Supreme Court No. R-18-0044 
 
COMMENT IN SUPPORT OF 
PETITION TO AMEND THE 
ARIZONA RULES OF PROBATE 
PROCEDURE WITH PROPOSED 
AMENDMENTS 

 
 
The Arizona Association of Superior Court Clerks (“Clerks”) submits the 

following Comment in support of the Petition to Amend the Arizona Rules of Probate 

Procedure (“Petition”) proposed by the Task Force on the Arizona Rules of Probate 

Procedure (“Task Force”). The Clerks were represented on the Task Force.  The Petition 

seeks to “restyle the existing rules and make substantive changes that help ensure ‘a 

consistent, predictable, prompt, efficient and just resolution of probate cases.’”  The 

Clerks are in support of the majority of the proposed amendments set forth in the Petition 

for the reasons set forth in Sections 3 of the Petition.  However, in reviewing the Petition 

and the proposed amendments, the Clerks want to bring the following issues to the 

attention of the Arizona Supreme Court.  The Clerks maintain that some of the proposed 

rules need additional revisions to allow the Clerks to perform their obligations when it 

comes to the processing of documents received in probate cases subject to the Arizona 

Rules of Probate Procedure. 



2 
 

In this Comment, the Clerks only intend to raise those proposed rule changes that 

the Clerks request clarification on or would like revisions to be implement as part of the 

proposed amendments.   

PROPOSED RULES 

Rule 6(c) 

In reviewing the definition of a “party” the Clerks have observed that the category 

of “intervener” should be included as one of the options for the definition of “party.”  The 

omission of “intervener” may have been an oversight on the part of the Task Force.   

Rule 7(c) 

The new verbiage provides that “[i]f the court grants the petition, the case number 

will remain the same, but the caption must be amended to reflect that the conservatorship 

or protective order is for an adult.”  The Clerks are opposed to having to “amend” the 

caption, but instead think it would be more appropriate to have Court Administration, 

upon the issuance of an Order from the assigned judicial officer, change the nature of 

action from a minor guardianship or conservatorship to an adult guardianship or 

conservatorship.  At least in Maricopa County, using iCIS, the Clerk is unable to change 

the caption of a case.  Further, if a case is opened in the AJACS system as a Guardianship 

– Minor case, the Clerk cannot change the case type to Guardianship – Adult.   

Rule 8(c) 

The Clerks take issue with the fact that under the proposed amendment to Rule 

8(c) a party will be permitted to file a confidential document as an exhibit attached to a 

pleading or motion.  The problem with allowing a confidential document to be “attached” 

to a motion or pleading is it is not the responsibility of the Clerks to separate out 



3 
 

documents that are attached to a publicly-accessible pleading that are to be treated as 

confidential documents.  In other words if a publicly-accessible motion is filed with a 

Clerk’s Office and attached to it are six (6) exhibits, three (3) of which are to be treated 

as confidential documents, the Clerk would not separate those out from the motion, and 

the entire motion, along with all of the exhibits would be treated as a publicly-accessible 

document.  The Clerks request that the Rule provide that for certain exhibits to a pleading 

or motion to be treated as confidential those exhibits will need to be placed in an 

envelope with the title of the pleading or motion on it as well as the names of the exhibits 

and the exhibits number.   

Rule 9(e)(1)(D) 

The Clerks are opposed to having to “replace” a document as such implies that the 

Clerk will need to remove the original document from the case file and docket and 

replace it with an alternative or substitute document.  The Clerks do not believe that they 

should be removing and replacing documents from a case file.  The Clerks would prefer 

that Subsection (D) provide that the court may order that “a filed document containing 

confidential information be sealed and an identical document with confidential 

information redacted or removed be filed that will be accessible to the public.”     

Rule 9(b) 

The Clerks believe the reference in the second sentence should be changed to 

Rule 8(b)(2)(E). 

 

 

 



4 
 

Rule 13(b) 

The Clerks would prefer to have a single Probate Information Form that could be 

used for decedent’s estate cases as well as temporary or permanent guardianship or 

conservatorship cases.   

In addition, the current proposed Forms, Forms 11 and 12 are missing the 

following two fields of information that the Clerks believe should be provided on the 

Forms:  (1)  Nature of the Action; and (2) Interpreter Needs. 

Rule 13(c)1(A) and (B)  

The Clerks would prefer to have a single Notice of Change of Address Form that 

could be used by fiduciaries and guardians of wards.  The Clerks would also like 

clarification as to whether proposed Forms 12 and 13 are intended to replace the use of 

Updated Probate Information Form for changes of address for fiduciaries and wards as is 

currently required by current Rule 10(1)(c).  The Clerks believe that such replacement is 

the intent behind the new Rule, but would like clarification. Further, if this Court is to 

adopt proposed Probate Forms 12 and 13, it should be noted that Form 13 should be 

updated to remove the verbiage “OF THE ESTATE OF” and “Deceased.”   

Rule 14(c)(1) 

The Clerks read this proposed amended Rule to mean that subsequent applications 

and petitions for the same decedent are to be filed into the original, or first given case 

number, which the Clerks can accomplish.  However, the Clerks would like confirmation 

that a filing fee would still be assessed for the filing of a subsequent or an opposing 

petition in accordance with A.R.S. § 12-284.   

 



5 
 

Rule 26(f) 

The Clerks are in favor of the requirement that a party submitting a proposed 

order must include with it copies to be conformed and postage-paid envelopes addressed 

to each party who has entered an appearance in this case, as probate cases currently are 

handled manually and do not allow for any eFile component.  However, in light of the 

fact that it is the understanding of the Clerks that at some point in the future eFile may be 

an option in probate cases, Orders may then not have to be mailed through U.S. Mail, but 

could be distributed electronically.  It may be wise to add in some additional verbiage for 

electronic distribution of Orders when technologically feasible so as to not have to re-

amend the Rules.   

Rule 46(b) 

The Clerks maintain that the statutory reference in this Rule should be A.R.S. § 

14-5315(C), not Subsection (B).   

Rule 46(d)  

The Clerks maintain that if medical reports are attached to the annual 

guardianship reports they will NOT be treated as confidential documents under proposed 

Rule 8, unless the filing party specifically follows the directives set forth in Rule 8(c) and 

separates the medical reports from the annual guardianship report and places the medical 

reports in an envelope with the title of the report and the fact that the envelope contains a 

confidential medical record.  The Clerks do not go page by page through annual 

guardianship reports that are submitted, so if a medical report is attached to the publicly-

accessible annual guardianship report, it would not treated as a confidential document.  

Because this is a reoccurring issue that the Clerks observe, i.e., medical reports being 



6 
 

attached to annual guardianship reports absent compliance with current Probate Rule 

7(C)(2), the Clerks recommend that the Supreme Court include in proposed Rule 46(d) 

that medical records are not to be attached to annual guardianship reports and that the 

court will maintain medical reports as confidential documents so long as the filing party 

complies with proposed Rule 8(c) with regard to the process for documents to be treated 

as confidential.   

CONCLUSION 

The Clerks have appreciated the opportunity to participate on the Task Force on 

the Arizona Rules of Probate Procedure, and intend for this Comment and the suggestions 

contained herein to assist the Arizona Supreme Court in its of review of the Petition.  The 

Clerks are in support of the Petition filed by the Task Force, but hope this Court will 

consider our suggested revisions and requests for clarification to the proposed new Rules.   

DATED this 1st day of May, 2019. 
 
 

___/s/_Valerie Wyant_______________ 
Hon. Valerie Wyant, President 
Arizona Association of Superior Court Clerks 
 

 
A copy of this comment has been delivered this 
1st day of May, 2019 to: 
 
Clerk of the Supreme Court 
1501 West Washington Street, Room 402 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 
Via email to mmeltzer@courts.az.gov and electronic filing of comment in accordance 
with In the Matter of Opening Rules for Public Comment  

mailto:mmeltzer@courts.az.gov


01.22.2019 

1 

Prefatory Comment to the 2020 Amendments 

Since the Arizona legislature’s adoption of the Uniform Probate Code in 1974, the 
Arizona Rules of Civil Procedure have governed procedures in probate cases. A.R.S. 
§ 14-1304.  Over time, it became apparent that the civil rules were not always 
compatible with the procedures in the Probate Code.  Consequently, effective 
January 1, 2009, the Arizona Supreme Court adopted the Rules of Probate Procedure 
to supplement the Civil Rules in probate proceedings.  In 2012, the Court amended 
certain probate rules and added Arizona Code of Judicial Administration §§ 3-302 
and 3-303 to address concerns regarding fiduciary responsibilities and to better 
protect elderly, incapacitated, and other vulnerable individuals. 

In 2018, the Court ordered a comprehensive review of the Probate Rules, which led 
to the adoption of these rules.  Like the 2009 and 2012 rules, the 2020 rules must be 
construed with the Civil Rules and applicable statutes. Although these rules are 
based on the earlier probate rules, there are significant changes.   

The most obvious change is a reorganization of the rules.  The 2012 rules divided 
46 rules among 8 articles.  Now there are 55 rules in ten parts.  New provisions have 
been added, and some former provisions have been abrogated, relocated, 
consolidated, or bifurcated. The 55 rules are organized by subject matter and 
presented in the order in which events occur in a probate proceeding.  Except for 
seven new rules that have no corollary in the 2012 rules, the correlation table 
accompanying the rules identifies the source of each new rule by reference to the 
former rules. 
The other noticeable change is restyling.  Like recent restylings of the Arizona Rules 
of Civil Procedure and the Family Law Rules, the new probate rules add informative 
titles and subheadings to make rules and sections easier to locate, and they use 
clearer language, uniform formatting, and consistent terminology.  The wording of 
an amended rule may vary slightly or substantially from the rule it replaces.  The 
purpose of these differences is to make the new probate rules easier to understand 
and use.  The new rules are not simple, but they are also not unnecessarily 
complicated. 
The new rules removed important substantive provisions formerly contained in 
comments to the 2012 rules and incorporated them into the rules themselves.  That 
has allowed deletion of most of those comments. Parties may continue to refer to 
comments to pre-2020 versions of the rules to the extent those comments remain 
relevant. Existing case law continues to be authoritative unless rendered inapposite 
by changes in the 2020 rules. 



01.22.2019 

2 

 
The 2020 rules include several substantive changes and clarifications, the most 
important of which are briefly noted below: 
 
Part One: General Information.  Rule 1 requires courts to enforce and construe 
these rules not only to ensure the “prompt, efficient, and just resolution of probate 
proceedings,” as the former rule required, but also to ensure that resolution is 
“consistent, predictable, and prompt.”  Rule 3 distinguishes a probate case from a 
probate proceeding and a probate proceeding from a non-probate proceeding.  
Application of the Rules of Evidence is based on whether a hearing is contested or 
uncontested; Rule 5 explains this distinction.  Rule 12 allows more flexibility in the 
manner and time for making motions to appear or testify telephonically, and it 
identifies factors the court should consider in ruling on these motions. 
Part Two: Initiation of Probate Proceedings.  Rule 13, which governs the probate 
information form, no longer specifies the content of the form; instead, it incorporates 
the form by reference. Rule 14, pertaining to applications, requires that all 
applications be filed and requires the clerk to retain the application and any original 
will filed with an application.  The registrar must promptly approve or deny an 
application and, if denied, must file a statement of the reasons for denial.  Rule 15, 
“Petitions,” specifies how a probate proceeding becomes contested and includes a 
provision on filing a joinder to a petition or a statement of no position.  It also sets 
forth requirements for filing a request for an accelerated hearing.  The probate rules 
no longer use the phrase “non-appearance hearing.”  Instead, Rule 17 addresses the 
procedure that governs an initial hearing on an unopposed petition. The rule requires 
the petitioner to attend the hearing unless the court specifies otherwise. 
Part Three: Subsequent Events and Actions.  Part Three contains rules describing 
court events that might occur after the initial hearing, including motions, 
conferences, and evidentiary hearings.  Rules 24 and 25 address the enforcement of 
court orders and compliance hearings.  Rule 26 clarifies the procedure for submitting 
proposed orders. 
Part Four: Contested Proceedings.  Although the Civil Rules on disclosure and 
discovery generally apply in contested probate proceedings, special rules govern 
management of the proceeding and impose limits on discovery. The tiering 
requirements of Civil Rule 26.2 do not apply.  Unlike the Civil Rule on jury trials, 
Probate Rule 29 requires a timely demand for a jury trial to preserve the right. 
Part Five: General Roles and Duties of Participants.  The rules in Part Five are 
based on former Rule 10, with two major exceptions.  Rule 32 addresses the 
appointment of a statutory representative, known under former Rule 15.1 as a 



01.22.2019 

3 

guardian ad litem.  Rule 33, covering compensation for fiduciaries, attorneys, and 
statutory representatives, clarifies the process for making fee requests.   
Part Six: Rules that Apply to Guardianships, Conservatorships, and Decedents’ 
Estates. Rule 36 clarifies that the fiduciary’s authority concerning an asset is 
restricted, not the asset itself.  A new comment to the rule provides sample language 
for restrictions.  A new section in Rule 39 concerns the issuing and recording of 
letters of appointment. It requires a personal representative to record a certified copy 
of the letters of appointment if the letters contain any restrictions on the 
representative’s authority concerning real property. 
Part Seven: Rules that Apply Only to Guardianships and Conservatorships.  
Rule 44, which concerns the appointment of a temporary guardian or conservator, 
retains a provision from the former rules on emergency appointments.  Rule 45 
governs the conservator’s inventory, budget, and account.   Budgets are no longer 
automatically required, and a conservator should submit simplified accounts using 
Form 9, unless the court orders otherwise. A new provision in Rule 45 permits the 
court to vary the rule’s requirements, including requirements regarding forms, if it 
finds the variation consistent with prudent management and oversight of the case.  
The sustainability provisions of a former rule are now included in Rule 45.  Rule 47 
consolidates two former rules, both of which concerned a guardian’s inpatient 
psychiatric treatment authority, and permits the entry of such an order without 
notice. 
Part Eight: Rules that Apply Only to Decedents’ Estates and Trusts.  Part Eight 
includes two rules on decedents’ estates: Rule 50 concerning the inventory and 
account, and Rule 51 on administrative closure of an estate.  Rule 52 addresses a 
trustee’s account. 
Part Nine: Recoveries for, and Distributions to, Minors and Protected Adults.  
Rule 53 clarifies when court approval is required to make a settlement binding on a 
minor or an adult in need of protection and, when approval is required, specifies who 
may approve the settlement. Rule 53 describes types of permissible orders 
concerning settlement proceeds and includes options other than the appointment of 
a conservator. 
Part Ten: Forms.  The 2012 rules refer to forms as “preferred” and “exclusive”; 
Rule 55 refers to the forms as “recommended” or “required.”  Rule 55 does not 
contain references to the Arizona Code of Judicial Administration or to individual 
forms, but rather refers readers to the self-service page of the Arizona Judicial 
Branch website, where the forms are located. 



































Simplified budget 
[Form 9-S; version 04.08.2019] 

Page 1 of 8 
 

Instructions for Completing the Simplified Budget 

Initial budget: The conservator is required to file an initial budget (Form 5) at the same time the 
conservator files the inventory.  However, the court may authorize the filing of a simplified budget 
(this Form 9-S) or the court may waive the budget requirement. If the court requires an initial 
budget, the conservator must file it, with the inventory, 3 months after the court issued its letters 
appointing the conservator. The initial budget must combine (a) the actual expenses and income 
for the first 3 months of the conservatorship, and (b) the estimated expenses and income for the 
next 9 months, so the initial budget will cover a total of 12 months from the date of the 
conservator’s appointment.  

Later budgets: Thereafter, the conservator must file an annual account of actual expenses incurred 
and income received for each year of the conservatorship. The conservator must file an annual 
account [Form 7 or Form 9] no later than 60 days after the anniversary date of the conservator’s 
letters of appointment.  When filing the annual account, the conservator also must file an annual 
budget of projected expenses for the upcoming year unless the court authorizes a simplified 
account [Form 9] and a simplified budget [Form 9-S], or the court waives the budget.  These later 
budgets must include a full year (12 months) of anticipated expenses and income.   

Form 9-S: If authorized by the court, a conservator can use Form 9-S for the initial budget and for 
later budgets.  Put a checkmark in a box at the top of Form 9-S to show whether this is an initial 
or a later budget. The initial and later budgets should contain the conservator’s best, good faith 
estimate of each category of expense and income. Use additional blank pages if more space is 
needed or if any category requires an explanation.  Show the expenses and income for the entire 
12-month reporting period in the right column. That column must be completely filled out, but you 
should place a -0- if you have a good faith belief that there will be no expense or income for any 
category.   

The budget consists of five Parts. Each part must be completed. Part A shows the protected 
person’s personal expenses, and Part B shows the administrative expenses.  Part C is the total of 
Parts A and B.  Part D details the person’s income.  Part E is the sustainability calculation.  

Sustainability calculation:  The calculation in Part E of this budget is important to determine the 
sustainability of the conservatorship.  “Sustainability” means the protected person’s estate has 
enough income and assets to meet the protected person’s needs and expenses for the foreseeable 
future. If the person’s income is more than the person’s expenses, then the conservatorship is 
sustainable for the following year.  On the other hand, if the person’s expenses exceed the person’s 
income, then the person’s assets (house, savings, retirement accounts, etc.) might be needed to 
make up the shortfall.  The court needs to know whether the conservatorship has enough income 
and assets to pay the protected person’s expenses for at least 3 years.  

 

 

 



Simplified budget 
[Form 9-S; version 04.08.2019] 

Page 2 of 8 
 

Here is an example of a completed Part E. 

PART E: SUSTAINABILITY OF THE CONSERVATORSHIP 
   

 

(1) Total yearly income from Part D 
 

  18,000 

(2) Total yearly expenses from Part C 
 

  35,000 

(3) Is the yearly income shown in Part D more than the yearly expenses 
shown in Part C?   
 

- If the answer is “no,” go to item (4).  
 

- If the answer is “yes,” 
 

(a) show the amount that yearly income exceeds yearly 
expenses, and 
 

(b) make a good faith estimate of the number of years that the 
conservatorship’s income will exceed its expenses.  Show 
that number in the right-hand column. If the estimate is 
more than 3 years, go to # (6) below. If the number is less 
than 3 years, go to #5 below. 

 

 
No 
 
 
 
 
 

(4) If the yearly expenses (Part C) are more than the yearly income 
(Part D), the sustainability calculation must include the assets and 
debts of the conservatorship estate, as follows: 
 

(a) state the amount that yearly expenses exceed yearly income: 
 

(b) state the total value of the estate assets shown in the most recent 
inventory or account: 

 
(c) state the total amount of debt owed by the estate shown in the 

most recent inventory or account: 
 

(d) subtract the amount in (c) from the amount in (b), and state the 
result (the result is the net assets of the conservatorship estate): 

 
(e) divide the amount in (d) by the amount in (a) and state the result: 

 
- The result is the number of years that the conservatorship is 

sustainable.  
- If the number is more than 3, go to # (6) below.  
- If the number is less than 3, go to #5 below. 

 

 
 
 
 

    17,000 
 
    80,000 
 
 
    54,500 
 
 
    25,500 
 
 
     1.5 



Simplified budget 
[Form 9-S; version 04.08.2019] 

Page 3 of 8 
 

(5) If the conservatorship estate will not be sustainable for more 
than 3 years, the conservator must provide in the space below (or 
in additional pages if necessary) a discussion of available options 
for the protected person’s future care and living situation.  See 
Probate Rule 45(e)(3).    
 
Grandma is now living with Aunt Betty.  Next year, Grandma will 
apply for Arizona Long Term Care [“ALTCS”].  Because Grandma’s 
assets will be depleted, she will be eligible for ALTCS.  Grandma’s 
monthly social security check for about $1500 will be given to 
ALTCS, less a small amount for Grandma’s personal allowance. We 
have already located a facility in our neighborhood that will accept 
Grandma as an ALTCS patient once space become available.  
 
(6) State here (use additional pages if necessary) whether any 
factors not reflected in the current budget might arise within the 
next few years that would significantly affect the protected 
person’s expenses or income.  Examples:  the person will need a 
higher level of care, the person is moving to a more, or less, 
expensive facility, the person has a balloon payment on a 
mortgage, the person will be receiving an inheritance, etc.  Include 
the amount of the anticipated change in expense or income, and 
when it will probably occur. 
 
Grandma expects to receive a payment of $5,000 in three years.  This 
is the last payment on a structured settlement that Grandma received 
from an automobile accident 20 years ago. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

               [The simplified budget form begins on the next page.] 

 

 

 

 

 



Simplified budget 
[Form 9-S; version 04.08.2019] 

Page 4 of 8 
 

Name of the Protected Person: ____________________________              Case #: ___________  

[] This is an initial budget  

[] This is a later budget  

PART A: PERSONAL EXPENSES Total 12-month amount  
 

Housing (e.g., mortgage, rent, facility fee) 
 
If food and utilities are included in the monthly housing payment, 
check here [] 
  

 

Food [if not included in the housing payment] 
 

 

Electricity, gas, water, sewer, and trash collection [if not included 
in the housing payment] 
 

 

Phone, cable, and internet [if not included in the housing payment] 
 

 

Medical insurance premiums: 
Private med ins.  [ ] yes 
Medicare Part B  [ ] yes 
Medicare Part D  [ ] yes 
Medicare Supp.   [ ] yes 
Other medical ins. (specify): 
   __________________ 
   __________________ 
 

 

Medical insurance deductible 
 

 

Medical insurance copays 
 

 

Long-term care insurance premium 
 

 

Prescriptions not covered by insurance 
 

 

Non-prescription medicine 
 

 

Medical equipment, including eyeglasses, hearing aids, 
wheelchair, walker, etc. 
 

 

Care-giver or aide 
  Number of hours of care weekly: ____ 
 

 

Dental care 
 

 



Simplified budget 
[Form 9-S; version 04.08.2019] 

Page 5 of 8 
 

Podiatrist/chiropractor/optometrist care 
 

 

Miscellaneous medical expenses 
(specify):  
   _________________ 
      

 

Vehicle expense (specify): 
     Vehicle payment _________ 
     Insurance _________ 
     Registration _________ 
     Fuel _________ 
     Maintenance _________ 
     Show the total of these expenses in the right column     
 

 

Other transportation 
 

 

Other insurance premiums, including life ins 
(specify):   
     ___________________ 
      

 

Clothing 
 

 

Household items, including furniture, electronic devices, radio, 
etc.  
 

 

Personal care expenses (hair, nails, etc.) 
 

 

Personal allowance 
 

 

Other debt payments and bills not included above (specify): 
   __________________ 
    
[] check here if any of the above debts are past due 
 

 

Taxes (specify): 
     federal income tax _________ 
     state income tax _________ 
     property tax _________ 
     other taxes _________ 
     Show the total of these taxes in the right column     
 

 

Other personal expenses (specify): 
   __________________ 
  

 

Total personal expenses 
 

 



Simplified budget 
[Form 9-S; version 04.08.2019] 

Page 6 of 8 
 

PART B: ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES Total 12-month amount  
 

Conservator’s fee 
 

 

Conservator’s expenses 
 

 

Fee for the attorney for the protected person 
 

 

Fee for the attorney for the conservator 
 

 

Other admin fees and expenses (specify): 
   __________________ 
   __________________ 
 

 

Total administrative expenses 
 

 

 

PART C: TOTAL EXPENSES  Total 12-month amount  
 

Enter the total of Part A and Part B 
 

 

 

PART D: INCOME Total 12-month amount  
 

Income from work or a business, including rental income 
 

 

Retirement income (specify): 
     Social security _________ 
     IRAs _________ 
     401(k) and 457 accounts _________ 
     Pensions _________ 
     Other _________ 
     Show the total retirement income in the right column     
 

 

Supplemental security income [SSI] 
 

 

Social security disability income [SSDI] 
 
 

 

Worker’s compensation 
 

 

Other disability income 
 
 

 



Simplified budget 
[Form 9-S; version 04.08.2019] 

Page 7 of 8 
 

Long-term care insurance benefits 
 

 

Annuity and other recurring income 
 

 

Interest and dividend income 
 

 

Non-recurring income (examples: sale of a home or business, stock 
sale, lottery winnings, income tax refund) 
 

 

Total income 
 

 

 

PART E: SUSTAINABILITY OF THE 
CONSERVATORSHIP   
 

 

(1) Total yearly income from Part D 
 

 

(2) Total yearly expenses from Part C 
 

 

(3) Is the yearly income shown in Part D more than the yearly 
expenses shown in Part C?   
 

- If the answer is “no,” go to item (4).  
 

- If the answer is “yes,” 
 

(c) show the amount that yearly income exceeds yearly 
expenses, and 
 

(d) make a good faith estimate of the number of years that 
the conservatorship’s income will exceed its expenses.  
Show that number in the right-hand column. If the 
estimate is more than 3 years, go to # (6) below. If the 
number is less than 3 years, go to #5 below. 

 

 

(4) If the yearly expenses (Part C) are more than the yearly income 
(Part D), the sustainability calculation must include the assets and 
debts of the conservatorship estate, as follows: 
 

(a) state the amount that yearly expenses exceed yearly 
income: 

 
(b) state the total value of the estate assets shown in the most 

recent inventory or account: 
 

 



Simplified budget 
[Form 9-S; version 04.08.2019] 

Page 8 of 8 
 

(c) state the total amount of debt owed by the estate shown in 
the most recent inventory or account: 

 
(d) subtract the amount in (c) from the amount in (b), and state 

the result (this result is the net assets of the conservatorship 
estate): 

 
(e) divide the amount in (d) by the amount in (a) and state the 

result: 
 

- The result is the number of years that the conservatorship 
is sustainable.  

- If the number is more than 3, go to # (6) below.  
- If the number is less than 3, go to #5 below. 

 
(5) If the conservatorship estate will not be sustainable for more 
than 3 years, the conservator must provide in the space below (or 
in additional pages if necessary) a discussion of available options 
for the protected person’s future care and living situation.  See 
Probate Rule 45(e)(3).    
 
 
 
 
 
(6) State here (use additional pages if necessary) whether any other 
factors not reflected in the current budget or in the protected 
person’s assets and liabilities might arise within the next few years 
that would significantly affect the protected person’s expenses or 
income.  Examples:  the person will need a higher level of care in 
the foreseeable future; the person will be moving to a more, or less, 
expensive facility; the person has a balloon payment on a 
mortgage; the person will no longer have a source of income that 
the person currently has; the person will be selling a home; etc.  
Include the amount of the anticipated change in expense or income, 
and when it will probably occur. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Conservator’s Name:  _________________   Signature: __________________ Date: _______  



Brumett v. MGA Home Healthcare, L.L.C., 240 Ariz. 420 (2016)

380 P.3d 659, 744 Ariz. Adv. Rep. 11

 © 2019 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 1

KeyCite Yellow Flag - Negative Treatment

 Called into Doubt by City of Tucson v. Sensibar, Ariz.App. Div. 2,

February 5, 2018

240 Ariz. 420
Court of Appeals of Arizona, Division 1.

Billy BRUMETT, et al., Plaintiffs/Appellees,
v.

MGA HOME HEALTHCARE, L.L.C.,
et al., Defendants/Appellants.

Rachel A. Turley, et al., Plaintiffs/Appellees,
v.

Leo R. Beus, et al., Defendants/Appellants.
Perry Boser, individually and on behalf of Theresa

Dannielle Boser, deceased, and on behalf of
all statutory beneficiaries, Plaintiff/Appellee,

v.
Jason Lee Ware, Defendant/Appellant.

Vance S. Taylor; Candy R.
Overley, Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.
Bucks Financial, LLC, Defendant/Appellee.

Double AA Builders, Ltd., an Arizona
corporation, Plaintiff/Appellee,

v.
Preferred Contractors Insurance Company, LLC,

a Montana company, Defendant/Appellant.
David Romero, Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.
Khalid S. Hasan, et al., Defendants/Appellees.

Riverbend Homeowners Association, an Arizona
non-profit corporation, Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.
Felicia Edwards, Defendant/Appellee.

Banner Health Systems, Garnishee/Appellee.
Isaac Bonelli, Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.
Carol Olson, Defendant/Appellee.

Robert Angelo, et al., Plaintiffs/Appellants,
v.

Stewart Title & Trust of Phoenix,
Inc., Defendant/Appellee.

In the Matter of the Estate of:
Michele E. Davis, Deceased.

Steve Erlick, as Personal Representative of the
Estate of Michele E. Davis, Petitioner/Appellee,

v.
John Davis, Respondent/Appellant.

AEA Federal Credit Union, Plaintiff/Appellee,
v.

Yuma Funding, Inc., an Arizona
corporation, Defendant/Appellant.

ABC Sand and Rock Company,
Inc., Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.
Flood Control District of Maricopa

County, Defendant/Appellee.

No. 1 CA–CV 15–0047 (
Consolidated

)
|

No. 1 CA–CV 15–0107 (
Consolidated

)
|

No. 1 CA–CV 15–0127 (
Consolidated

)
|

No. 1 CA–CV 15–0249 (
Consolidated

)
|

No. 1 CA–CV 15–0375 (
Consolidated

)
|

No. 1 CA–CV 15–0508 (
Consolidated

)
|

No. 1 CA–CV 15–0513 (
Consolidated

)
|

No. 1 CA–CV 15–0624 (
Consolidated

)
|

No. 1 CA–CV 15–0689 (
Consolidated

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/RelatedInformation/Flag?documentGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&transitionType=Document&originationContext=docHeaderFlag&rs=cblt1.0&vr=3.0&contextData=(sc.Search)
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I4bfc18f00ad311e8818da80a62699cb5/View/FullText.html?navigationPath=RelatedInfo%2Fv4%2Fkeycite%2Fnav%2F%3Fguid%3DI4bfc18f00ad311e8818da80a62699cb5%26ss%3D2039459530%26ds%3D2043749688&listSource=RelatedInfo&list=NegativeCitingReferences&rank=0&originationContext=docHeader&transitionType=NegativeTreatment&contextData=%28sc.Search%29&VR=3.0&RS=cblt1.0 
http://www.westlaw.com/Search/Results.html?query=advanced%3a+OAID(5040054239)&saveJuris=False&contentType=BUSINESS-INVESTIGATOR&startIndex=1&contextData=(sc.Default)&categoryPageUrl=Home%2fCompanyInvestigator&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem
http://www.westlaw.com/Search/Results.html?query=advanced%3a+OAID(5003719287)&saveJuris=False&contentType=BUSINESS-INVESTIGATOR&startIndex=1&contextData=(sc.Default)&categoryPageUrl=Home%2fCompanyInvestigator&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem


Brumett v. MGA Home Healthcare, L.L.C., 240 Ariz. 420 (2016)

380 P.3d 659, 744 Ariz. Adv. Rep. 11

 © 2019 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 2

)
|

No. 1 CA–CV 15–0728 (
Consolidated

)
|

No. 1 CA–CV 15–0753 (
Consolidated

)
|

No. 1 CA–CV 16–0294 (
Consolidated

)
|

FILED 7/28/2016

Synopsis
Background: In twelve consolidated cases, trial courts
entered judgments which appellants asserted were
appealable.

Holdings: The Court of Appeals, Thumma, J., held that:

[1] inclusion of language contemplated by either the rule
affording a superior court discretion to determine whether
a ruling that resolves less than all claims as to all parties
should be deemed a final judgment, or the rule stating
that a judgment is not final unless court states that no
further matters remain pending and that the judgment is
entered pursuant to that rule, was not required for trial
court's order granting a motion for new trial, entered after
jury verdict, to be appealable under statute providing for
appeal from an order granting or refusing a new trial, or
granting a motion in arrest of judgment;

[2] inclusion of such language was not required for trial
court's order denying a motion to compel arbitration
to be appealable under statute governing appeals from
arbitration awards;

[3] inclusion of such language was not required for trial
court's order exonerating a bond following entry of a final
judgment to be appealable under statute allowing appeal
from any special order made after final judgment;

[4] inclusion of such language was not required for trial
court's order denying request for a preliminary injunction
to be appealable under statute allowing appeal from an

order granting or dissolving an injunction, or refusing to
grant or dissolve an injunction or appointing a receiver;
but

[5] inclusion of such language was required for trial court
order, dismissing action without prejudice for failure to
timely serve defendant, to be a final judgment; and

[6] inclusion of such language was required for trial court
order resolving a probate court petition to be appealable
under statute allowing appeal of orders entered in formal
proceedings under statutory title governing trusts, estates,
and protective proceedings.

Ordered accordingly.

West Headnotes (14)

[1] Appeal and Error
Certificate as to grounds

The inclusion of language contemplated by
rule providing that a judgment is not final
unless court states that no further matters
remain pending, and that judgment is entered
pursuant to that rule, does not render an
otherwise non-appealable order or judgment
appealable as a final judgment. Ariz. R. Civ.
P. 54(c).

8 Cases that cite this headnote

[2] Appeal and Error
Orders in probate

Rulings in formal proceedings under statutory
title governing trusts, estates, and protective
proceedings are only appealable when they are
in the form of a final judgment or decree or,
for an unsupervised administration, an order
terminating a formal proceeding. Ariz. Rev.
Stat. Ann. § 14-1101 et seq.

1 Cases that cite this headnote

[3] Appeal and Error

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0169127301&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k366/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/RelatedInformation/DocHeadnoteLink?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&headnoteId=203945953000120190415142501&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=CitingReferences&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k87(2)/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/RelatedInformation/DocHeadnoteLink?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&headnoteId=203945953000220190415142501&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=CitingReferences&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)


Brumett v. MGA Home Healthcare, L.L.C., 240 Ariz. 420 (2016)

380 P.3d 659, 744 Ariz. Adv. Rep. 11

 © 2019 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 3

On motion for new trial or in arrest of
judgment

Appeal and Error
Certificate as to grounds

Inclusion of language contemplated by either
the rule affording a superior court discretion
to determine whether a ruling that resolves
less than all claims as to all parties should be
deemed a final judgment, or the rule stating
that a judgment is not final unless court states
that no further matters remain pending and
that the judgment is entered pursuant to that
rule, was not required for trial court's order
granting a motion for new trial, entered after
jury verdict, to be appealable under statute
providing for appeal from an order granting
or refusing a new trial, or granting a motion
in arrest of judgment. Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. §
12-2101(A)(5)(a); Ariz. R. Civ. P. 54(b), 54(c).

1 Cases that cite this headnote

[4] Alternative Dispute Resolution
Decisions reviewable;  finality

Inclusion of language contemplated by either
the rule affording a superior court discretion
to determine whether a ruling that resolves
less than all claims as to all parties should be
deemed a final judgment, or the rule stating
that a judgment is not final unless court states
that no further matters remain pending and
that the judgment is entered pursuant to that
rule, was not required for trial court's order
denying a motion to compel arbitration to
be appealable under statute governing appeals
from arbitration awards. Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann.
§ 12-2101.01(A)(1); Ariz. R. Civ. P. 54(b),
54(c).

Cases that cite this headnote

[5] Appeal and Error
Orders After Judgment

Appeal and Error
Certificate as to grounds

Inclusion of language contemplated by either
the rule affording a superior court discretion
to determine whether a ruling that resolves

less than all claims as to all parties should be
deemed a final judgment, or the rule stating
that a judgment is not final unless court
states that no further matters remain pending
and that the judgment is entered pursuant to
that rule, was not required for trial court's
order exonerating a bond following entry of a
final judgment to be appealable under statute
allowing appeal from any special order made
after final judgment. Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. §
12-2101(A)(2); Ariz. R. Civ. P. 54(b), 54(c).

4 Cases that cite this headnote

[6] Appeal and Error
Injunction

Appeal and Error
Continuing, modifying, vacating, or

dissolving

Appeal and Error
Certificate as to grounds

Inclusion of language contemplated by either
the rule affording a superior court discretion
to determine whether a ruling that resolves
less than all claims as to all parties should be
deemed a final judgment, or the rule stating
that a judgment is not final unless court states
that no further matters remain pending and
that the judgment is entered pursuant to that
rule, was not required for trial court's order
denying request for a preliminary injunction
to be appealable under statute allowing appeal
from an order granting or dissolving an
injunction, or refusing to grant or dissolve an
injunction or appointing a receiver. Ariz. Rev.
Stat. Ann. § 12-2101(A)(5)(b); Ariz. R. Civ. P.
54(b), 54(c).

4 Cases that cite this headnote

[7] Appeal and Error
Affecting Provisional Remedies

Appeal and Error
Certificate as to grounds

Inclusion of language contemplated by either
the rule affording a superior court discretion
to determine whether a ruling that resolves
less than all claims as to all parties should be

http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k78(6)/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k78(6)/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k366/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/RelatedInformation/DocHeadnoteLink?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&headnoteId=203945953000320190415142501&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=CitingReferences&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/25T/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/25Tk213(3)/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101.01&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101.01&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/RelatedInformation/DocHeadnoteLink?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&headnoteId=203945953000420190415142501&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=CitingReferences&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k82/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k366/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/RelatedInformation/DocHeadnoteLink?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&headnoteId=203945953000520190415142501&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=CitingReferences&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k100/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k100(2)/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k100(2)/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k366/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/RelatedInformation/DocHeadnoteLink?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&headnoteId=203945953000620190415142501&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=CitingReferences&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k71/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k366/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)


Brumett v. MGA Home Healthcare, L.L.C., 240 Ariz. 420 (2016)

380 P.3d 659, 744 Ariz. Adv. Rep. 11

 © 2019 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 4

deemed a final judgment, or the rule stating
that a judgment is not final unless court states
that no further matters remain pending and
that the judgment is entered pursuant to that
rule, was not required for trial court's order for
an accounting to be appealable under statute
allowing appeal of an interlocutory judgment
that determines the rights of the parties and
directs an accounting or other proceeding to
determine the amount of the recovery. Ariz.
Rev. Stat. Ann. § 12-2101(A)(6); Ariz. R. Civ.
P. 54(b), 54(c).

1 Cases that cite this headnote

[8] Appeal and Error
Determining action and preventing

judgment

Appeal and Error
Certificate as to grounds

Inclusion of language contemplated by either
the rule affording a superior court discretion
to determine whether a ruling that resolves
less than all claims as to all parties should be
deemed a final judgment, or the rule stating
that a judgment is not final unless court states
that no further matters remain pending and
that the judgment is entered pursuant to that
rule, was not required for trial court order
dismissing medical malpractice complaint,
for failure to comply with expert affidavit
requirement, to be appealable under statute
providing for appeal from any order affecting
a substantial right made in any action when
the order in effect determines the action and
prevents judgment from which an appeal
might be taken. Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§
12-2101(A)(3), 12-2603; Ariz. R. Civ. P. 54(b),
54(c).

4 Cases that cite this headnote

[9] Appeal and Error
Relating to costs

Appeal and Error
Certificate as to grounds

Inclusion of language contemplated by either
the rule affording a superior court discretion

to determine whether a ruling that resolves
less than all claims as to all parties should be
deemed a final judgment, or the rule stating
that a judgment is not final unless court states
that no further matters remain pending and
that the judgment is entered pursuant to that
rule, was not required for trial court order
for continuing lien, and denying attorneys'
fees after entry of a final judgment, to be
appealable under statute providing for appeal
of any special order made after final judgment.
Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 12-2101(A)(2); Ariz. R.
Civ. P. 54(b), 54(c).

3 Cases that cite this headnote

[10] Appeal and Error
Relating to parties or process

Appeal and Error
Certificate as to grounds

Inclusion of language contemplated by either
the rule affording a superior court discretion
to determine whether a ruling that resolves
less than all claims as to all parties should be
deemed a final judgment, or the rule stating
that a judgment is not final unless court
states that no further matters remain pending
and that the judgment is entered pursuant
to that rule, was required for trial court
order, dismissing action without prejudice
for failure to timely serve defendant, to be
a final judgment, and therefore trial court's
subsequent order denying motion to set aside
judgment was not appealable as a special
order made after final judgment. Ariz. Rev.
Stat. Ann. § 12-2101(A)(2); Ariz. R. Civ. P.
54(b), 54(c), 60(c).

7 Cases that cite this headnote

[11] Appeal and Error
Relating to parties or process

Appeal and Error
Certificate as to grounds

Inclusion of language contemplated by either
the rule affording a superior court discretion
to determine whether a ruling that resolves
less than all claims as to all parties should be

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/RelatedInformation/DocHeadnoteLink?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&headnoteId=203945953000720190415142501&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=CitingReferences&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k93/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k93/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k366/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2603&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/RelatedInformation/DocHeadnoteLink?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&headnoteId=203945953000820190415142501&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=CitingReferences&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k82(4)/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k366/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/RelatedInformation/DocHeadnoteLink?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&headnoteId=203945953000920190415142501&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=CitingReferences&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k95/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k366/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR60(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/RelatedInformation/DocHeadnoteLink?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&headnoteId=203945953001020190415142501&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=CitingReferences&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k95/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k366/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)


Brumett v. MGA Home Healthcare, L.L.C., 240 Ariz. 420 (2016)

380 P.3d 659, 744 Ariz. Adv. Rep. 11

 © 2019 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 5

deemed a final judgment, or the rule stating
that a judgment is not final unless court states
that no further matters remain pending and
that the judgment is entered pursuant to that
rule, was not required for trial court order
denying class certification to be appealable
under statutes providing for appeal from a
final judgment and for appeal of denial of
class certification. Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§
12-1873(A), 12-2101(A)(1); Ariz. R. Civ. P.
54(b), 54(c).

1 Cases that cite this headnote

[12] Appeal and Error
Orders in probate

Appeal and Error
Certificate as to grounds

Inclusion of language contemplated by either
the rule affording a superior court discretion
to determine whether a ruling that resolves
less than all claims as to all parties should be
deemed a final judgment, or the rule stating
that a judgment is not final unless court
states that no further matters remain pending
and that the judgment is entered pursuant
to that rule, was required for trial court
order resolving a probate court petition to be
appealable under statute allowing appeal of
orders entered in formal proceedings under
statutory title governing trusts, estates, and
protective proceedings. Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann.
§§ 12-2101(A)(9), 14-1101 et seq.; Ariz. R. Civ.
P. 54(b), 54(c).

1 Cases that cite this headnote

[13] Appeal and Error
Continuing, modifying, vacating, or

dissolving

Appeal and Error
Certificate as to grounds

Inclusion of language contemplated by either
the rule affording a superior court discretion
to determine whether a ruling that resolves
less than all claims as to all parties should be
deemed a final judgment, or the rule stating
that a judgment is not final unless court

states that no further matters remain pending
and that the judgment is entered pursuant
to that rule, was not required for trial court
order quashing an injunction to be appealable
under statute allowing appeals from an order
granting or dissolving an injunction. Ariz.
Rev. Stat. Ann. § 12-2101(A)(5)(b); Ariz. R.
Civ. P. 54(b), 54(c).

3 Cases that cite this headnote

[14] Appeal and Error
Certificate as to grounds

Inclusion of language contemplated by either
the rule affording a superior court discretion
to determine whether a ruling that resolves
less than all claims as to all parties should be
deemed a final judgment, or the rule stating
that a judgment is not final unless court
states that no further matters remain pending
and that the judgment is entered pursuant
to that rule, was required for trial court
order affirming as modified an administrative
agency decision to be appealable under statute
allowing appeals from the final decision,
order, judgment or decree of the superior
court entered in an action to review a decision
of an administrative agency. Ariz. Rev. Stat.
Ann. § 12-913; Ariz. R. Civ. P. 54(b), 54(c).

1 Cases that cite this headnote

**662  Appeal from the Superior Court in Maricopa
County, No. CV2010–092697, The Honorable David
M. Talamante, Judge. STAY TERMINATED/APPEAL
REINSTATED

Appeal from the Superior Court in Maricopa County, No.
CV2014–009811, The Honorable Katherine M. Cooper,
Judge. STAY TERMINATED/APPEAL REINSTATED

Appeal from the Superior Court in Maricopa County,
No. CV2011–007329, The Honorable Randall H. Warner,
Judge. STAY TERMINATED/APPEAL REINSTATED

Appeal from the Superior Court in Maricopa County,
No. CV2015–051253, The Honorable Thomas L.

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-1873&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-1873&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/RelatedInformation/DocHeadnoteLink?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&headnoteId=203945953001120190415142501&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=CitingReferences&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k87(2)/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k366/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS14-1101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/RelatedInformation/DocHeadnoteLink?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&headnoteId=203945953001220190415142501&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=CitingReferences&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k100(2)/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k100(2)/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k366/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/RelatedInformation/DocHeadnoteLink?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&headnoteId=203945953001320190415142501&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=CitingReferences&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/30k366/View.html?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-913&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-913&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/RelatedInformation/DocHeadnoteLink?docGuid=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&headnoteId=203945953001420190415142501&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=CitingReferences&contextData=(sc.Search)


Brumett v. MGA Home Healthcare, L.L.C., 240 Ariz. 420 (2016)

380 P.3d 659, 744 Ariz. Adv. Rep. 11

 © 2019 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 6

LeClaire, Judge (Retired). STAY TERMINATED/
APPEAL REINSTATED

Appeal from the Superior Court in Maricopa County, No.
CV2013–001403, The Honorable Lori Horn Bustamante,
Judge. STAY TERMINATED/APPEAL REINSTATED

Appeal from the Superior Court in Maricopa
County, No. CV2014–095832, The Honorable Mark F.
Aceto, Judge (Retired). STAY TERMINATED/APPEAL
REINSTATED

Appeal from the Superior Court in Maricopa County,
No. TJ2012–002192, The Honorable Michael L. Barth,
Judge Pro Tempore. STAY TERMINATED/APPEAL
REINSTATED

Appeal from the Superior Court in Maricopa County, No.
CV2014–005909, The Honorable Patricia Starr, Judge,
STAY TERMINATED/APPEAL DISMISSED

Appeal from the Superior Court in Yavapai County, No.
V1300CV201380021, The Honorable David L. Mackey,
Judge. STAY TERMINATED/APPEAL REINSTATED

Appeal from the Superior Court in Maricopa County,
No. PB2015–001198, The Honorable Kerstin G.
LeMaire, Judge. STAY CONTINUED/JURISDICTION
REVESTED

Appeal from the Superior Court in Yuma County,
No. S1400CV201000062, The Honorable John P. Plante,
Judge. STAY TERMINATED/APPEAL REINSTATED

Appeal from the Superior Court in Maricopa
County, No. LC2015–000096–001, The Honorable
Crane McClennen, Judge. STAY CONTINUED/
JURISDICTION REVESTED

Attorneys and Law Firms

Johnson & Gregory PLLC, Mesa, By W. Raymond
Johnson, III, Robert M. Gregory, Tyler M. Sorensen,
Counsel for Plaintiffs/Appellees Billy Brumett, et al.

Broening Oberg Woods & Wilson PC, Phoenix, By James
R. Broening, T. Scott King, Michelle L. Donovan, Kevin
R. Myer, Counsel for Defendants/Appellants MGA
Home Healthcare, L.L.C., et al.

Bryan Cave LLP, Phoenix, By J. Alex Grimsley, Robert
J. Miller, Sean K. McElenney, Counsel for Plaintiffs/
Appellees Rachel A. Turley, et al.

Osborn Maledon P.A., Phoenix, By David B. Rosenbaum,
Nathan T. Arrowsmith, Moyes Sellers and Hendricks,
LTD., Phoenix, By Keith L. Hendricks, Joshua T. Greer,
Co–Counsel for Defendants/Appellants Leo R. Beus, et
al.

Goldberg & Osborne, Phoenix, By Allen D. Bucknell,
Counsel for Plaintiff/Appellee Perry Boser.

Jason Lee Ware, Tucson, Defendant/Appellant.

Vance Taylor and Candy Overley, Glendale, AZ,
Plaintiffs/Appellants.

Law Offices of Michelle Ghidotti, Anaheim Hills, CA, By
Michelle R. Ghidotti Gonsalves, Counsel for Defendant/
Appellee Bucks Financial, LLC.

Holden Willits PLC, Phoenix, By Michael J. Holden,
Barry A. Willits, R. Stewart Halstead, Nelson A.
F., Mixon, Counsel for Plaintiff/Appellee Double AA
Builders, Ltd.

Broening Oberg Woods & Wilson, PC, Phoenix, By
Robert T. Sullivan, Alicyn M. Freeman, Kevin R. Myer,
Counsel for Defendant/Appellant Preferred Contractors
Insurance Company, LLC.

David Romero, Queen Creek, Plaintiff/Appellant.

Holden & Armer P.C., Phoenix, By Scott A.
Holden, Carolyn (DeeDee) Armer Holden, Counsel for
Defendants/Appellees Khalid S. Hasan, et al.

Vial Fotheringham, LLP, Tempe, By Quinten T. Cupps,
Counsel for Plaintiff/Appellant Riverbend Homeowners
Association.

Isaac Bonelli, Phoenix, Plaintiff/Appellant.

Carpenter Hazlewood Delgado & Bolen PLC, Tempe, By
Mark A. Holmgren, Armistead W. Gilliam, Counsel for
Plaintiffs/Appellants Robert Angelo, et al.

Burch & Cracchiolo PA, Phoenix, By Jake D. Curtis,
Edwin D. Fleming, Sidley Austin LLP, Chicago, IL, By
Gerard D. Kelly, Kevin M. Fee, Daniel C. Craig, Co–
Counsel for Defendant/Appellee Stewart Title & Trust of
Phoenix, Inc.

Kile & Kupiszewski Law Firm LLC, Scottsdale, By
Stephen J.P. Kupiszewski, Christina M. Stoneking,

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0342278101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0498049699&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0283622201&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0437574001&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0375077501&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0375077501&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0217838801&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0217838801&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0243359501&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0307579801&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0491684199&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0385712301&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0244088401&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0342312101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0290468901&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0388478001&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0368412101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0375077501&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0277272701&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0277272701&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0375585201&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0110307501&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0480448301&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0190866901&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0150807301&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0306694901&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0455870901&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)


Brumett v. MGA Home Healthcare, L.L.C., 240 Ariz. 420 (2016)

380 P.3d 659, 744 Ariz. Adv. Rep. 11

 © 2019 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 7

Jennifer L. Kupiszewski Emily B. Kile, Counsel for
Petitioner/Appellee Steve Erlick.

John Davis, Phoenix, Respondent/Appellant.

Law Office of Larry W. Suciu, Yuma, By Barry L. Olsen,
Counsel for Plaintiff/Appellee Yuma Funding, Inc.

Schneider & Onofry PC, Yuma, By Jason M. Kelly,
Counsel for Defendant/Appellant.

Osborn Maledon PA, Phoenix, By Colin F. Campbell,
Meghan Grabel, Jana Lynn Sutton, Counsel for Plaintiff/
Appellant ABC Sand and Rock Company, Inc.

Hinshaw & Culbertson LLP, Phoenix, By Stephen W.
Tully, Bradley L. Dunn, Counsel for Defendant/Appellee
Flood Control District of Maricopa County.

Vice Chief Judge Samuel A. Thumma delivered the
opinion of the Court, in which Presiding Judge Kent E.
Cattani and Judge Randall M. Howe joined.

OPINION

THUMMA, Judge:

*425  **664  ¶ 1 By statute, an appeal may be taken
from “a final judgment entered in an action.” A.R.S. §

12–2101(A)(1) (2016). 1  Consistent with this directive, the
Arizona Rules of Civil Procedure describe two types of
“final judgments:” (1) a “final judgment as to one or more
but fewer than all of the claims or parties,” Ariz. R. Civ.
P. 54(b), and (2) a final judgment on “all claims and
parties,” Ariz. R. Civ. P. 54(c). The former is appealable
“only upon an express determination that there is no just
reason for delay and upon an express direction for the
entry of judgment.” Ariz. R. Civ. P. 54(b). The latter is
appealable when “the court states that no further matters
remain pending and that the judgment is entered pursuant
to Rule 54(c).” Ariz. R. Civ. P. 54(c); see also Madrid v.
Avalon Care Ctr.–Chandler, L.L.C., 236 Ariz. 221, 223–
24 ¶ 5, 338 P.3d 328 (App. 2014) (requiring Ariz. R. Civ.
P. 54(c) statement as a jurisdictional prerequisite for an
appeal from a final judgment taken under A.R.S. § 12–

2101(A)(1)). 2

¶ 2 Other statutes, however, authorize appeals of various
rulings that are not “final judgments” under A.R.S.
§ 12–2101(A)(1). The appeals consolidated here involve

claims of appellate jurisdiction other than A.R.S. § 12–
2101(A)(1), either under a different subsection of A.R.S.
§ 12–2101(A) or a different statute. See, e.g., A.R.S.
§ 12–913 (addressing appellate jurisdiction over “[t]he
final decision, order, judgment or decree of the superior
court entered in an action to review a decision of an
administrative agency”); A.R.S. § 12–1873(A) (addressing
appellate jurisdiction over “certification or refusal to
certify a class action”); A.R.S. § 12–2101.01 (addressing
appellate jurisdiction over orders, judgments and decrees
regarding arbitration). The issue is whether such rulings
may be appealed to this court even though they are not
“final judgments” and are not entered under Rule 54(b)
or 54(c).

¶ 3 Although Rule 54(b) has been in place for decades,
Rule 54(c) was added effective January 1, 2014. Because
no opinion discusses whether a Rule 54(c) declaration is
necessary when a statute other than A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)
(1) provides the basis for appellate jurisdiction, these
appeals have been consolidated sua sponte for the limited
purpose of addressing whether this court has appellate
jurisdiction in these appeals. See Sorensen v. Farmers Ins.
Co. of Ariz., 191 Ariz. 464, 465, 957 P.2d 1007 (App.
1997) (noting appellate court has an independent duty to
examine whether it has appellate jurisdiction over putative

appeals). 3

*426  **665  DISCUSSION

I. Appellate Jurisdiction And Ariz. R. Civ. P. 54(b) And
54(c).
¶ 4 This court's appellate jurisdiction is defined, and
limited, by the Legislature. See, e.g., Ariz. Const. art. 6
§ 9 (“The jurisdiction, powers, duties and composition
of any intermediate appellate court shall be as provided
by law.”); Garza v. Swift Transp. Co., Inc., 222 Ariz.
281, 283 ¶ 12, 213 P.3d 1008 (2009) (stating this court
“derives ... appellate jurisdiction wholly from statutory
provisions”) (citation omitted). Under A.R.S. § 12–
2101(A)(1), the Legislature has directed that a “final
judgment” is appealable. Given this directive, Arizona
courts repeatedly have found that a judgment must be
final before it can be appealed pursuant to A.R.S. § 12–
2101(A)(1). See, e.g., Bollermann v. Nowlis, 234 Ariz. 340,
341 ¶ 6, 322 P.3d 157 (2014); Musa v. Adrian, 130 Ariz.
311, 312, 636 P.2d 89 (1981); In re Marriage of Johnson
& Gravino, 231 Ariz. 228, 230 ¶ 5, 293 P.3d 504 (App.

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0225642201&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0257283901&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0130384001&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0344266601&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0324922601&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0493453399&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0452521301&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0169127301&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0183343201&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0183343201&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2034822642&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2034822642&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2034822642&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-913&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-913&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-1873&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101.01&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1997161313&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1997161313&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1997161313&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000447&cite=AZCNART6S9&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000447&cite=AZCNART6S9&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2019662500&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2019662500&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2033174631&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2033174631&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1981148590&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1981148590&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2029482328&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2029482328&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)


Brumett v. MGA Home Healthcare, L.L.C., 240 Ariz. 420 (2016)

380 P.3d 659, 744 Ariz. Adv. Rep. 11

 © 2019 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 8

2012). The Arizona Supreme Court has promulgated two
procedural rules to define what constitutes an appealable
“final judgment.”

¶ 5 Rule 54(b) provides that a superior court may “direct
the entry of final judgment as to one or more but fewer
than all of the claims or parties” in a case “upon an
express determination that there is no just reason for delay
and upon an express direction for the entry of [a final]
judgment.” Promulgated in 1961, Rule 54(b) affords a
superior court discretion to determine whether a ruling
that resolves less than all claims as to all parties should be
deemed a “final judgment,” and therefore appealable. S.
California Edison Co. v. Peabody W. Coal Co., 194 Ariz.
47, 53 ¶ 19, 977 P.2d 769 (1999); Ariz. R. Civ. P. 54(b) State
Bar Committee Notes 1961 Amendment.

[1] ¶ 6 Rule 54(c) provides that “[a] judgment shall not
be final unless the court states that no further matters
remain pending and that the judgment is entered pursuant
to Rule 54(c).” Promulgated effective January 1, 2014,
Rule 54(c) is designed to make clear “whether an order of
a Superior Court is, or is intended to be, a final, appealable
‘judgment’ ” and to facilitate “determining the extent to
which a putative judgment resolves a case as to all claims
and all parties.” Madrid, 236 Ariz. at 223 ¶ 4, 338 P.3d 328.
The inclusion of Rule 54(c) language does not render an
otherwise non-appealable order or judgment appealable
as a final judgment. See id. at 224 ¶ 6, 338 P.3d 328 (“A
statement that a judgment is final pursuant to Rule 54(c)
when, in fact, claims remain pending does not make a
judgment final and appealable.”). However, Rule 54(c)
language is required when a judgment resolves all claims
against all parties and appellate jurisdiction is premised on
A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(1). See id. at 223 n.3 ¶¶ 3, 5, 338 P.3d

328. 4

¶ 7 The question presented in these appeals is whether
language contemplated by Rules 54(b) or 54(c) is required
for a ruling to be appealable other than as a “final
judgment” under A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(1).

¶ 8 The Arizona Rules of Civil Procedure define
“judgment” broadly to include “an order from which
an appeal lies.” Ariz. R. Civ. P. 54(a); accord Ariz. R.
Civ. App. P. (ARCAP) 2 (“ ‘Judgment’ is an appealable
order. A judgment may be identified as a ‘judgment,’
or it may be identified as an ‘order,’ a ‘decree,’ or by
another term.”). Accordingly, the finality requirement of

Rules 54(b) and 54(c) could be read to apply broadly to
all appealable orders. However, subsections of A.R.S. §
12–2101 other than (A)(1) contain express exceptions to
the principle that a judgment must be final for appellate
jurisdiction to exist. See Bilke v. State, 206 Ariz. 462, 466
¶ 18, 80 P.3d 269 (2003) (noting statutory predecessor
to A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(6) pro *427  **666  vides for
appellate jurisdiction over non-final judgment); Pulaski
v. Perkins, 127 Ariz. 216, 218 n.3, 619 P.2d 488 (App.
1980) (“Certain kinds of decisions of the superior court
are appealable without a 54(b) determination even though
they are not final judgments.... These are specific types
of decisions listed in subsections of A.R.S. § 12–2101
and elsewhere authorizing the appeal of a particular
kind of decision.”); Bulova Watch Co. v. Super City
Dep't Stores, 4 Ariz.App. 553, 555, 422 P.2d 184 (1967)
(construing statutory predecessor to A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)
(5)(b), stating “[a]n appeal may be taken from an order
granting or refusing to grant an injunction at any stage of
the case in which application for the injunction is made.
We, therefore, reject the defendants' claim that this order is
nonappealable.”) (citing cases). Moreover, nothing in the
text or history of Rule 54(b) or 54(c) suggests that either
rule was designed to apply to all appealable rulings. See
also Seisinger v. Siebel, 220 Ariz. 85, 92 ¶ 26, 203 P.3d
483 (2009) (noting court-promulgated rule cannot limit a
substantive statute).

¶ 9 The Legislature “has made it clear that most
interlocutory orders ... are not appealable.” 1A
ARIZONA APPELLATE HANDBOOK § 3.3.1.1. at 3–
7 (6th ed. 2015). By statute, however, the Legislature
has authorized appeals from various types of rulings
that fall short of being a “final judgment.” See, e.g.,
A.R.S. §§ 12–1873(A); 12–2101(A)(2), (3)–(8), (10), (11);
A.R.S. § 12–2101.01(A). Nothing suggests the Legislature
contemplated having these appeal rights subject to a
certification under Rule 54(b) or 54(c). This is particularly
true given that the statutory predecessor to A.R.S. § 12–
2101, which authorized appeals from many of these same
types of orders and interlocutory judgments, was enacted
in 1913, more than 50 years before the Arizona Rules
of Civil Procedure became effective. See 1913 Ariz. Civ.
Code § 1227; Ariz. R. Civ. P. 86 (noting Arizona Rules of
Civil Procedure became effective January 1, 1956).

¶ 10 These statutes do not suggest that the ability to appeal
from these various orders and interlocutory judgments
should turn on whether a superior court, in its discretion,

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2029482328&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1999092249&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1999092249&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1999092249&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2034822642&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2034822642&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2034822642&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_4645_223&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_4645_223
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2034822642&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_4645_223&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_4645_223
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003548&cite=AZCIVAPR2&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003548&cite=AZCIVAPR2&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2003895318&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2003895318&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1980146764&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1980146764&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1980146764&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1967126029&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1967126029&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2018332994&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2018332994&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-1873&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101.01&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)


Brumett v. MGA Home Healthcare, L.L.C., 240 Ariz. 420 (2016)

380 P.3d 659, 744 Ariz. Adv. Rep. 11

 © 2019 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 9

made such rulings appealable under Rule 54(b). See S.
California Edison Co., 194 Ariz. at 53 ¶ 19, 977 P.2d 769
(noting “a trial judge has discretion to decide whether
an order or judgment should be accorded finality” under
Rule 54(b)). And applying Rule 54(c) to such orders and
interlocutory judgments would, contrary to the statutory
language, preclude the ability to appeal many such rulings
because it would be impossible for a superior court to state
that no further matters remain pending. For example, an
order granting or denying a preliminary injunction will
rarely (if ever) resolve all claims against all parties, but
is nevertheless appealable by statute. See A.R.S. § 12–
2101(A)(5)(b)(“An appeal may be taken to the court of
appeals from the superior court ... [f]rom an order ...
[g]ranting or dissolving an injunction, or refusing to grant
or dissolve an injunction”). Similarly, an order denying a
motion to compel arbitration, or granting a motion to stay
arbitration, does not resolve all claims against all parties,
but is nevertheless appealable by statute. See A.R.S. §§ 12–
2101.01(A)(1), (2).

¶ 11 For these reasons, although applicable to rulings
appealed as “final judgments” under A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)
(1), neither Rule 54(b) nor Rule 54(c) apply to rulings
that are not “final judgments” but are independently
appealable by statute. This opinion addresses which of the
various types of orders challenged in these consolidated
appeals are appealable absent compliance with Rule 54(b)

or 54(c). 5

II. Appellate Jurisdiction Under A.R.S. § 12–2101(A).

A. Appeal From A Final Judgment Under A.R.S. § 12–
2101(A)(1).

¶ 12 As discussed above, “[a]n appeal may be taken to the
court of appeals from the *428  **667  superior court ...
[f]rom a final judgment entered in an action or special
proceeding commenced in a superior court, or brought
into a superior court from any other court,” except for
a forcible entry and detainer action in which the annual
rent is less than $300. A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(1). This is
the classic situation where, to be appealable as a “final
judgment,” all claims as to all parties must be resolved
and the court must include the Rule 54(c) statement. See
Ariz. R. Civ. P. 54(c); Madrid, 236 Ariz. at 223 n.3 ¶¶ 3,
5, 338 P.3d 328; Davis, 168 Ariz. at 304, 812 P.2d 1119.
Alternatively, if the ruling resolves fewer than all claims
as to all parties, it may be appealed as a “final judgment”
if the superior court exercises its discretion and certifies,

pursuant to Rule 54(b), that there is no just reason for
delay. Ariz. R. Civ. P. 54(b); Madrid, 236 Ariz. at 224 ¶ 8,
338 P.3d 328. Absent compliance with Rule 54(b) or 54(c),
however, a superior court's ruling is not appealable as a
“final judgment” under A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(1).

B. Appeal From A Probate Judgment, Decree Or Order
Entered In Formal Title 14 Proceedings Under A.R.S. §
12–2101(A)(9).

[2] ¶ 13 An appeal may be taken to this court “[f]rom
a judgment, decree or order entered [by the superior
court] in any formal proceedings under title 14,” Arizona's
Probate Code. A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(9). Rulings in such
Title 14 matters are only appealable when they are in the
form of a final judgment or decree or, for an unsupervised
administration, an order terminating a formal proceeding.
See In re Estate of McGathy, 226 Ariz. 277, 279–80 ¶¶ 14–
15, 246 P.3d 628 (2010); Ivancovich v. Meier, 122 Ariz. 346,
353, 595 P.2d 24 (1979). Moreover, the Arizona Rules of
Probate Procedure state that, “[u]nless otherwise provided
in these rules or inconsistent with these rules, the Arizona
Rules of Civil Procedure apply to probate proceedings.”
Ariz. R. Probate P. 3(A); see also id. cmt. (“[T]he Arizona
Rules of Civil Procedure apply to probate proceedings
unless they are inconsistent with the Arizona Rules of
Probate Procedure.”); accord A.R.S. § 14–1304 (“Unless
specifically provided to the contrary in this title or unless
inconsistent with its provisions, the rules of civil procedure
including the rules concerning vacation of orders and
appellate review govern formal proceedings under this
title.”). Accordingly, absent compliance with Rule 54(b)
or 54(c), a judgment, decree or order entered in a formal
Title 14 proceeding is not appealable under A.R.S. § 12–
2101(A)(9).

C. Appeal From A Special Order Made After Final
Judgment Under A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(2).

¶ 14 An appeal may be taken to this court “[f]rom
any special order made after final judgment.” A.R.S. §
12–2101(A)(2). Such post-judgment special orders may
include a ruling on a motion to set aside a final judgment
pursuant to Ariz. R. Civ. P. 60(c), see M & M Auto
Storage Pool, Inc. v. Chem. Waste Mgmt., Inc., 164 Ariz.
139, 141, 791 P.2d 665 (App. 1990), a ruling on a motion
to set aside a final default judgment, see Bateman v.
McDonald, 94 Ariz. 327, 329, 385 P.2d 208 (1963), and
other post-judgment rulings relating to a final judgment,
see Arvizu v. Fernandez, 183 Ariz. 224, 226–27, 902 P.2d

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1999092249&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1999092249&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101.01&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101.01&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2034822642&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2034822642&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1991092430&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2034822642&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2034822642&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2023919239&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2023919239&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1979124099&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1979124099&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS14-1304&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1990073309&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1990073309&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1990073309&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1963124544&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1963124544&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1995176533&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)


Brumett v. MGA Home Healthcare, L.L.C., 240 Ariz. 420 (2016)

380 P.3d 659, 744 Ariz. Adv. Rep. 11

 © 2019 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 10

830 (App. 1995) (“To be appealable, a post-judgment
order must fulfill two requirements. First, the issues raised
by the appeal from the order must be different from those
that would arise from an appeal from the underlying
judgment.... [Second,] the order must either affect the
judgment or relate to it by enforcing it or staying its
execution.”) (citations and quotations omitted).

¶ 15 By statute, the right of appeal is limited to a special
order made “after final judgment.” A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)
(2); see also Ruesga v. Kindred Nursing Centers, L.L.C.,
215 Ariz. 589, 593 ¶ 11, 161 P.3d 1253 (App. 2007) (noting
that if the Legislature had intended the statute to apply
to “ ‘special orders’ made after any and all ‘judgments,’
it presumably would have had no reason to instead use
the phrase ‘final judgment’ ”) (citations omitted). Thus,
for an order to be appealable as a “special order made
after final judgment” under A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(2), the
court must have previously entered a “final judgment”
pursuant to Rule 54(b) or 54(c). See Ruesga, 215 Ariz.
at 593–94 ¶¶ 8–16, 161 P.3d 1253 (ruling that because
the superior court had not entered an order that disposed
of any claim on the mer *429  **668  its, it had not
entered a final judgment and an order granting relief from
the non-final judgment could not be considered a special
order made after final judgment for purposes of appellate
jurisdiction). Although the “special order” must have been
made after entry of a “final judgment,” the statute does
not require that the “special order” being appealed from

must itself be a “final judgment.” 6  Accordingly, it would
be contrary to the statutory directive to require that, to
be appealable under A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(2), a “special
order made after final judgment” comply with Rule 54(b)
or 54(c). Thus, compliance with Rule 54(b) or 54(c) is not
required for “any special order made after final judgment”

to be appealable under A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(2). 7

D. Appeal From An Interlocutory Judgment Under
A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(6), (7) And (8).

¶ 16 Several subsections of § 12–2101(A) permit an appeal
to this court from “interlocutory judgments” or other
specified rulings that resolve some aspect of a claim:

“[A]n interlocutory judgment that determines the rights
of the parties and directs an accounting or other
proceeding to determine the amount of the recovery.”

A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(6). 8

“[A]n interlocutory judgment in any action for partition
that determines the rights and interests of the respective
parties, and directs partition to be made.” A.R.S. § 12–
2101(A)(7).

“[A]ny interlocutory judgment, decree or order made or
entered in actions to redeem real or personal property
from a mortgage thereof or lien thereon, determining
such right to redeem and directing an accounting.”
A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(8).

¶ 17 This express statutory language provides that
the specified interlocutory judgments and rulings may
be appealed, notwithstanding their interlocutory status.
Bilke, 206 Ariz. at 466 ¶ 18, 80 P.3d 269. Moreover, given
their character, the superior court could not properly
state that such interlocutory judgments and rulings were
“final judgments” under Rule 54(b) or 54(c). Thus,
compliance with Rule 54(b) or 54(c) is not required for
the interlocutory judgments and specified rulings listed in
A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(6)–(8) to be appealable.

E. Appeal From Specified Orders Under A.R.S. § 12–
2101 (A)(3), (4), (5)(a)–(d), (10) And (11).

¶ 18 The remaining subsections of A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)
authorize appeals from orders *430  **669  on specified
pre- or post-judgment requests for relief:

“[A]ny order affecting a substantial right made in any
action when the order in effect determines the action
and prevents judgment from which an appeal might be
taken.” A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(3).

“[A] final order affecting a substantial right made in a
special proceeding or on a summary application in an

action after judgment.” A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(4). 9

“[A]n order ... [g]ranting or refusing a new trial.” A.R.S.

§ 12–2101(A)(5)(a). 10

“[A]n order ... [g]ranting or dissolving an injunction, or
refusing to grant or dissolve an injunction or appointing
a receiver.” A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(5)(b).

“[A]n order ... [d]issolving or refusing to dissolve an
attachment or garnishment.” A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(5)
(c).

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1995176533&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2012726695&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2012726695&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2012726695&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2012726695&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2003895318&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)


Brumett v. MGA Home Healthcare, L.L.C., 240 Ariz. 420 (2016)

380 P.3d 659, 744 Ariz. Adv. Rep. 11

 © 2019 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 11

“[A]n order ... [g]ranting or denying a petition to restore
a person's right to possess a firearm pursuant to [A.R.S.
§] 13–925.” A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(5)(d).

“[A]n order or judgment: (a) Adjudging a person
insane or incompetent, or committing a person to the
state hospital[; or] (b) Revoking or refusing to revoke
an order or judgment adjudging a person insane or
incompetent, or restoring or refusing to restore to
competency any person who has been declared insane
or incompetent.” A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(10).

“[A]n order or judgment made and entered on habeas

corpus proceedings.” A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(11). 11

¶ 19 The express statutory language provides that
the specified orders and non-final judgments may be
appealed, notwithstanding their interlocutory nature.
Moreover, given their character, the superior court
could not properly state that such orders and non-final
judgments were “final judgments” under Rule 54(b) or
54(c). Thus, compliance with Rule 54(b) or 54(c) is not
required for the rulings specified in A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)
(3), (4), (5)(a)-(d), (10) and (11) to be appealable.

F. Appeal From Rulings Regarding Arbitration
Proceedings Under A.R.S. § 12–2101.01.

¶ 20 Separate and apart from the provisions of A.R.S. §
12–2101, A.R.S. § 12–2101.01(A) states that “[a]n appeal
may be taken from any of the following:”

1. An order denying an application to compel
arbitration made under [A.R.S. §§] 12–1502 or 12–3007.

2. An order granting an application to stay arbitration
made under [A.R.S. §§] 12–1502 or 12–3007.

3. An order denying confirmation of an [arbitration]
award.

4. An order modifying or correcting an [arbitration]
award.

5. An order vacating an [arbitration] award without
directing a rehearing.

6. A judgment or decree entered pursuant to chapter 9
[Special Actions and Proceedings to Enforce Claims or
Judgments, A.R.S. §§ 12–1501 to –1708] or 21 [Revised

*431  **670  Uniform Arbitration Act, A.R.S. §§ 12–
3001 to –3029] of this title.

¶ 21 This express statutory language provides that
the specified orders and non-final judgments may be
appealed, notwithstanding their interlocutory status,
similar to the specially appealable orders and non-final
judgments listed in A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(2)–(8) and (10)–
(11). Accord Bilke, 206 Ariz. at 466 ¶ 18, 80 P.3d
269. Moreover, given their character, the superior court
could not properly state that such orders and non-final
judgments were “final judgments” under Rule 54(b) or
54(c). Thus, compliance with Rule 54(b) or 54(c) is
not required for the rulings specified in A.R.S. § 12–
2101.01(A) to be appealable.

G. Appeal From The Certification Or Refusal To
Certify A Class Action Under A.R.S. § 12–1873(A).

¶ 22 “The court's certification or refusal to certify a
class action is appealable in the same manner as a final
order or judgment.” A.R.S. § 12–1873(A); accord Ariz.
R. Civ. P. 23(f). Enacted in 2013, this statute effectively
overruled that portion of Garza v. Swift Transportation
Co., Inc., holding that an order denying a motion for
class certification could not be appealed under A.R.S. §
12–2101(A)(3). 222 Ariz. 281, 285–86 ¶¶ 22–26, 213 P.3d
1008 (2009). With A.R.S. § 12–1873(A), as with several of
the subsections of A.R.S. § 12–2101(A) discussed above,
the Legislature directs that a specific type of interlocutory
ruling is appealable even though it may not fully resolve
any claim. See Bilke, 206 Ariz. at 466 ¶ 18, 80 P.3d 269.
Moreover, given their character, the superior court could
not properly state that such rulings were “final judgments”
under Rule 54(b) or 54(c). Thus, compliance with Rule
54(b) or 54(c) is not required for the rulings specified in
A.R.S. § 12–1873(A) to be appealable.

H. Appeal From The Resolution Of An Action To
Review An Administrative Decision Under A.R.S. § 12–
913.

¶ 23 “The final decision, order, judgment or decree of
the superior court entered in an action to review a
decision of an administrative agency may be appealed
to the supreme court.” A.R.S. § 12–913. “Despite this
allowance of an appeal to the ‘supreme court,’ the statute
has been construed as also allowing an appeal to the
court of appeals, which was created after § 12–913 was
enacted.” Svendsen v. Ariz. Dep't of Transp., 234 Ariz.

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS13-925&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS13-925&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101.01&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101.01&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-1502&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-3007&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-1502&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-3007&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-1501&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-3001&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-3001&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2003895318&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2003895318&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101.01&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101.01&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-1873&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-1873&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2019662500&pubNum=0000156&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2019662500&pubNum=0000156&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2019662500&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2019662500&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-1873&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2003895318&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-1873&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-913&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-913&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-913&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-913&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2033304893&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)


Brumett v. MGA Home Healthcare, L.L.C., 240 Ariz. 420 (2016)

380 P.3d 659, 744 Ariz. Adv. Rep. 11

 © 2019 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 12

528, 533 ¶ 13, 323 P.3d 1179 (App. 2014). This statute
authorizes appellate jurisdiction for “final” decisions,
orders, judgments or decrees issued by the superior
court for judicial review of administrative decisions under
Arizona's Administrative Review Act. A.R.S. §§ 12–901 to
–914. Absent compliance with Rule 54(b) or 54(c), such
rulings are not final. Accordingly, absent compliance with
Rule 54(b) or 54(c), a final decision, order, judgment or
decree entered by a superior court in an action to review an
administrative agency's decision is not appealable under
A.R.S. § 12–913.

III. Application To These Consolidated Appeals.
¶ 24 These consolidated appeals concern various assertions
of appellate jurisdiction under a subsection of A.R.S. §
12–2101(A) other than (A)(1), or under another statute.
None of the orders being appealed in these cases was
entered pursuant to Rule 54(b) or Rule 54(c). Accordingly,
application of the principles discussed above determines
whether this court has appellate jurisdiction in each
appeal. See Maria v. Najera, 222 Ariz. 306, 308 ¶ 9, 214
P.3d 394 (App. 2009) (“[W]e must look to the character of
the proceedings which resulted in the order appealed from
to ascertain jurisdiction in any particular case.”) (citation
omitted).

[3] ¶ 25 In Brumett v. MGA Home Healthcare, L.L.C., 1
CA–CV 15–0047, appellants appeal an order granting a
motion for new trial, entered after jury verdict, claiming
appellate jurisdiction under A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(5)(a).
See Carter v. Pain Ctr. of Ariz., P.C., 1 CA–CV 14–
0672 (Ariz. App. May 10, 2016) (exercising jurisdiction
under A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(5)(a) for denial of motion for
new trial after jury verdict). Accordingly, compliance with
Rule 54(b) or 54(c) was not required and this court has
appellate jurisdiction.

*432  **671  [4] ¶ 26 In Turley v. Beus, 1 CA–CV 15–
0107, appellants appeal an order denying a motion to
compel arbitration, claiming appellate jurisdiction under
A.R.S. § 12–2101.01(A)(1). Accordingly, compliance with
Rule 54(b) or 54(c) was not required and this court has
appellate jurisdiction.

[5] ¶ 27 In Boser v. Ware, 1 CA–CV 15–0127, appellant
appeals an order exonerating a bond following entry of
a final judgment, claiming appellate jurisdiction under
A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(2). Accordingly, compliance with

Rule 54(b) or 54(c) was not required and this court has
appellate jurisdiction.

[6] ¶ 28 In Taylor v. Bucks Financial, L.L.C., 1
CA–CV 15–0249, appellants appeal an order denying
their request for a preliminary injunction, claiming
appellate jurisdiction under A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(5)(b).
Accordingly, compliance with Rule 54(b) or 54(c) was not
required and this court has appellate jurisdiction.

[7] ¶ 29 In Double AA Builders, Ltd. v. Preferred
Contractors Insurance Co., L.L.C., 1 CA–CV 15–0375,
appellant appeals an order directing an accounting,
claiming appellate jurisdiction under A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)
(6). Accordingly, compliance with Rule 54(b) or 54(c) was
not required and this court has appellate jurisdiction.

[8] ¶ 30 In Romero v. Hasan, 1 CA–CV 15–0508,
appellant appeals an order dismissing his complaint
without prejudice for failure to comply with A.R.S. § 12–
2603, requiring a “preliminary expert opinion affidavit”
in a medical malpractice case, where appellate jurisdiction
may exist under A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(3). Accordingly,
compliance with Rule 54(b) or 54(c) was not required and

this court has appellate jurisdiction. 12

[9] ¶ 31 In Riverbend Homeowners Ass'n v. Edwards,
1 CA–CV 15–0513, appellant appeals an order for a
continuing lien and denial of its request for attorneys'
fees after entry of a final judgment, where appellate
jurisdiction may exist under A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(2).
Accordingly, compliance with Rule 54(b) or 54(c) was not
required and this court has appellate jurisdiction.

[10] ¶ 32 In Bonelli v. Olson, 1 CA–CV 15–0624, appellant
appeals an order denying his Rule 60(c) motion to set aside
judgment, claiming appellate jurisdiction under A.R.S.
§ 12–2101(A)(2). Because the underlying judgment, a
dismissal without prejudice for failure to timely serve
the defendant, was not a final judgment and did not
contain Rule 54(b) or 54(c) language, the order denying
the Rule 60(c) motion is not a special order made
after final judgment, meaning this court lacks appellate
jurisdiction under A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(2). Ruesga, 215
Ariz. at 593–94 ¶¶ 8–16, 161 P.3d 1253 (ruling that because
the superior court had not entered a final judgment, its
subsequent order granting relief from judgment could not
be considered a special order made after final judgment
for purposes of appellate jurisdiction). Moreover, the

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2033304893&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-901&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-913&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2019427810&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2019427810&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2038830583&pubNum=0000999&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2038830583&pubNum=0000999&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101.01&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2603&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2603&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR60(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR60(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2012726695&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2012726695&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)


Brumett v. MGA Home Healthcare, L.L.C., 240 Ariz. 420 (2016)

380 P.3d 659, 744 Ariz. Adv. Rep. 11

 © 2019 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 13

superior court expressly stated that appellant failed to
show that his claims would be barred by the statute
of limitations if dismissed without prejudice for failure
to timely serve defendant. Therefore, the underlying
dismissal without prejudice could not be a final judgment.
See, e.g., Kool Radiators, Inc. v. Evans, 229 Ariz. 532,
534 ¶ 8, 278 P.3d 310 (App. 2012) (noting dismissal
without prejudice that does not preclude further litigation
“is not a final, appealable order”) (citing cases); *433
**672  McMurray v. Dream Catcher USA, Inc., 220 Ariz.

71, 74 ¶ 4, 202 P.3d 536 (App.2009) (noting dismissal
without prejudice, where no claim was made that “the
statute of limitations barred the refiling of any of the
claims,” is “not a final judgment”) (citing cases); see
also supra n.12. Accordingly, this court lacks appellate
jurisdiction, continuing the stay and revesting jurisdiction
with the superior court could not result in this court
having appellate jurisdiction and, therefore, the appeal is
dismissed.

[11] ¶ 33 In Angelo v. Stewart Title & Trust of Phoenix,
Inc., 1 CA–CV 15–0689, appellants appeal an order
denying class certification, claiming appellate jurisdiction
under A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(1) and A.R.S. § 12–1873(A).
Because the class certification order is independently
appealable pursuant to § 12–1873(A), compliance with
Rule 54(b) or 54(c) was not required and this court has
appellate jurisdiction.

[12] ¶ 34 In Erlick v. Davis, 1 CA–CV 15–0728, appellant
appeals an order resolving a probate court petition,
where appellate jurisdiction may exist under A.R.S. § 12–
2101(A)(9). Because compliance with Rule 54(b) or 54(c)
was required, but the order does not comply with either
procedural rule, this court lacks appellate jurisdiction. See
Madrid, 236 Ariz. at 224 ¶ 11, 338 P.3d 328. Accordingly,
the stay in this case is continued and jurisdiction is

re-vested in the superior court to allow it to consider
appellant's application that the superior court enter an
order resolving the petition that complies with Rule 54(c).

See ARCAP 3(b). 13

[13] ¶ 35 In AEA Federal Credit Union v.
Yuma Funding, Inc., 1 CA–CV 15–0753, appellant
appeals an order quashing an injunction, claiming
appellate jurisdiction under A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(5)(b).
Accordingly, compliance with Rule 54(b) or 54(c) was not
required and this court has appellate jurisdiction.

[14] ¶ 36 In ABC Sand and Rock Company, Inc. v. Flood
Control District of Maricopa County, 1 CA–CV 16–0294,
appellant appeals the superior court's order affirming
as modified an administrative agency decision, where
appellate jurisdiction may exist under A.R.S. § 12–913.
Because compliance with Rule 54(b) or 54(c) was required,
but the order does not comply with either procedural rule,
this court lacks appellate jurisdiction. Madrid, 236 Ariz.
at 224 ¶ 11, 338 P.3d 328. Accordingly, the stay in this case
is continued and jurisdiction is re-vested in the superior
court to allow it to consider appellant's application that
the superior court enter an order resolving the petition
that complies with Rule 54(c). See ARCAP 3(b).

CONCLUSION

¶ 37 In accordance with these rulings, by separate orders,
the consolidation of these appeals is now vacated and
each separate appeal will be either reinstated, dismissed or
jurisdiction is re-vested in the superior court.

All Citations

240 Ariz. 420, 380 P.3d 659, 744 Ariz. Adv. Rep. 11

Footnotes
1 Absent material revisions after the relevant dates, statutes and rules cited refer to the current version unless otherwise

indicated. Although the subsections of A.R.S. § 12–2101 were renumbered effective July 20, 2011, 2011 Ariz. Sess.
Laws ch. 304 § 1, as applicable here, the changes were not substantive and this opinion references the current version
of the statute unless otherwise noted.

2 Although not the subject of this opinion, whether a ruling is a final judgment is significant apart from appellate jurisdiction,
including for enforcement and preclusion purposes. See, e.g., Dressler v. Morrison, 212 Ariz. 279, 282 ¶ 15, 130 P.3d
978 (2006); Ariz. R. Civ. P. 69.

3 This opinion does not address special action jurisdiction, which is independent of appellate jurisdiction. See A.R.S. 12–
120.21(A)(4) (granting this court “[j]urisdiction to hear and determine petitions for special actions brought pursuant to the

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2027811347&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2027811347&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2018105206&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2018105206&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-1873&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-1873&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2034822642&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003548&cite=AZCIVAPR3&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-913&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2034822642&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2034822642&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003548&cite=AZCIVAPR3&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2008743184&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2008743184&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR69&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-120.21&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-120.21&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)


Brumett v. MGA Home Healthcare, L.L.C., 240 Ariz. 420 (2016)

380 P.3d 659, 744 Ariz. Adv. Rep. 11

 © 2019 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 14

rules of procedure for special actions, without regard to its appellate jurisdiction”); Ariz. R.P. Spec. Act. 1(a) (“Except as
authorized by statute, the special action shall not be available where there is an equally plain, speedy, and adequate
remedy by appeal....”).

4 Although their primary focus is civil cases, Rules 54(b) and 54(c) are applicable in other types of cases as well. Arizona
Probate and Tax Court rules incorporate the Arizona Rules of Civil Procedure, meaning Rules 54(b) and 54(c) apply
in those proceedings. See Ariz. R. Probate P. 3(A); Ariz. Tax Ct. R.P. 2. Because the Arizona Rules of Family Law
Procedure do not fully incorporate the Arizona Rules of Civil Procedure, see Ariz. R. Fam. Law P. 2(A), Rule 54(c) does
not apply in family court proceedings or order of protection proceedings related to family court proceedings, see Ariz.
R. Protect. Ord. P. 2. The Arizona Rules of Family Law Procedure do, however, have an analogue to Rule 54(b). See
Ariz. R. Fam. Law P. 78(B).

5 Although addressing the rulings implicated in this consolidated appeal, this opinion should not be read to suggest that
these are the only types of rulings that are appealable to this court absent compliance with Rule 54(b) or 54(c). See
1A ARIZONA APPELLATE HANDBOOK § 3.3.1.12.1 at 3–25 to –28 (6th ed. 2015) (discussing other miscellaneous
appealable orders). Similarly, although a particular ruling may be appealable based on more than one statutory basis,
only one statutory basis is required for appellate jurisdiction to exist.

6 In fact, if the “special order” had to be a “final judgment” to be appealable, A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(2) would be unnecessary,
because the “special order” that is a “final judgment” would be appealable under A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(1). Construing
A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(2) in such a manner would run counter to statutory construction principles. See Sharpe v. Ariz.
Health Care Cost Containment Sys., 220 Ariz. 488, 497 ¶ 30, 207 P.3d 741 (App. 2009) (“One of the primary principles
of statutory interpretation is not to construe statutes to give an absurd result”); Deer Valley Unified Sch. Dist. No. 97 v.
Houser, 214 Ariz. 293, 296, 152 P.3d 490 (2007) (“Each word, phrase, clause and sentence [of a statute] must be given
meaning so that no part will be void, inert, redundant, or trivial.”) (citation omitted).

7 Case law reflects certain restrictions on the ability to appeal from a default judgment entered pursuant to Ariz. R. Civ. P.
55(b). See Hirsch v. Nat'l Van Lines, Inc., 136 Ariz. 304, 311, 666 P.2d 49 (1983) (“Where a default judgment has been
entered, the defaulting party's primary remedy is a motion for relief from the judgment pursuant to Ariz. R. Civ. P. 60. The
general rule is that there is no appeal from a default judgment, although exceptions are recognized where the default
was not authorized by Ariz. R. Civ. P. 55 or if there is a question regarding either personal or subject matter jurisdiction.”)
(citations omitted); see also 1A ARIZONA APPELLATE HANDBOOK § 3.3.1.8 at 3–21 to –22 (6th ed. 2015) (discussing
appeals relating to defaults and default judgments). However, because a default judgment may be appealable under
certain circumstances, see, e.g., Sears Roebuck & Co. v. Walker, 127 Ariz. 432, 435–36, 621 P.2d 938 (App. 1980)
(exercising appellate jurisdiction for appeal from default judgment entered as a sanction even though no motion to set
aside had been filed), and a motion to set aside a judgment is not proper unless it seeks to set aside a final judgment,
Ruesga, 215 Ariz. at 593–94 ¶¶ 8–16, 161 P.3d 1253, the better practice would appear to be to include Rule 54(b) or
54(c) language, as applicable, in default judgments.

8 For an interlocutory judgment to be appealable under A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(6), “the superior court must expressly direct
that the only issue remaining is the amount of recovery.” 1A ARIZONA APPELLATE HANDBOOK § 3.3.1.1 at 3–7 (6th
ed. 2015) (citing Fields v. Oates, 230 Ariz. 411, 415 ¶ 15, 286 P.3d 160 (App. 2012)).

9 See also MCA Fin. Group v. Enter. Bank & Trust, 236 Ariz. 490, 495 ¶ 11, 341 P.3d 1161 (App. 2014) (stating A.R.S.
§ 12–2101(A)(4) “pertains to two separate types of final orders: (1) one ‘affecting a substantial right made in a special
proceeding;’ and (2) a final order made ‘on a summary application in an action after judgment’ ”).

10 Not every ruling on a motion for new trial, however, is appealable. “Although a denial of a motion for new trial generally is
appealable pursuant to [A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(5)(a)], we must look to the ‘character of the proceedings which resulted in
the order appealed from’ to ascertain [appellate] jurisdiction in any particular case.” Maria v. Najera, 222 Ariz. 306, 308
¶ 9, 214 P.3d 394 (App. 2009) (citation omitted); see also id. at 308 ¶, 214 P.3d 394 10 (noting A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(5)
(a) “does not grant appellate jurisdiction over the denial of a motion for new trial directed at a non-final partial summary
judgment”). Apart from new trial rulings, although A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(5)(a) also states an order “granting a motion in
arrest of judgment” is appealable, such motions were abolished in 1973 with the adoption of the Arizona Rules of Criminal
Procedure in deference to a motion to vacate judgment. See State v. Hickle, 129 Ariz. 330, 332, 631 P.2d 112 (1981); Ariz.
R. Crim. P. 24.2(a) cmt. (“The motion in arrest of judgment is abolished in these rules as a separate procedural device.”).

11 The statute also specifies who can take the appeal in habeas corpus proceedings, see A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(11)(a) and
(b), an issue not relevant here.

12 Cf. Gorney v. Meaney, 214 Ariz. 226, 150 P.3d 799 (App. 2007) (exercising appellate jurisdiction over summary judgment
ruling dismissing medical malpractice claim for failing to comply with A.R.S. § 12–2603). Moreover, although noting

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003579&cite=AZSPACR1&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2017997696&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2017997696&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2011534619&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2011534619&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1983129898&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1981101357&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2012726695&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(C)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2028596002&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2035211512&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2019427810&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2019427810&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2019427810&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_4645_308&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_4645_308
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1981132621&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003573&cite=AZSTRCRPR24.2&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003573&cite=AZSTRCRPR24.2&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2011336118&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2603&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)


Brumett v. MGA Home Healthcare, L.L.C., 240 Ariz. 420 (2016)

380 P.3d 659, 744 Ariz. Adv. Rep. 11

 © 2019 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 15

A.R.S. § 12–2603(F) mandates dismissal without prejudice, the superior court stated “[i]t appears that the statute of
limitations may have run. By dismissing this case ‘without prejudice’, the court in no way intends to suggest that the
statute of limitations will not bar plaintiff from successfully refiling his claim.” Although a dismissal without prejudice is
not appealable when it “is not a final determination of the controversy on its merits, and is no bar to the prosecution
of another suit timely commenced, founded upon the same cause of action,” State ex rel. Hess v. Boehringer, 16 Ariz.
48, 51, 141 P. 126 (1914), where it appears the statute of limitations for the cause of action has expired, a dismissal
without prejudice may be appealable pursuant to A.R.S. § 12–2101(A)(3), see Garza, 222 Ariz. at 284 ¶ 15, 213 P.3d
1008 (“The classic example of an order falling under § 12–2101[ (A)(3) ] is a dismissal without prejudice entered after
the statute of limitations has run.”).

13 Although the superior court may have the discretion to certify the order as a final judgment under Rule 54(b), this court
lacks jurisdiction to stay and remand for consideration of certification under Rule 54(b). See Madrid, 236 Ariz. at 224 ¶
10, 338 P.3d 328 (“[W]here an appeal is taken from a putative Rule 54(b) judgment and there is a Rule 54(b) deficiency,
this court lacks jurisdiction to suspend the appeal to allow the superior court to consider entering a Rule 54(b) judgment.”)
(citing Pulaski, 127 Ariz. at 218–19, 619 P.2d 488).

End of Document © 2019 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2603&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1914001796&pubNum=0000660&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1914001796&pubNum=0000660&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2019662500&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2019662500&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000251&cite=AZSTS12-2101&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2034822642&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2034822642&pubNum=0004645&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003572&cite=AZSTRCPR54(B)&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1980146764&pubNum=0000661&originatingDoc=If9b49850556c11e6a6699ce8baa114cf&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)

	Agenda
	Draft Minutes 12-14-18
	Vetting and Distributiion
	R18-0044 Petition
	Appendix A Proposed Rules with Staff Annotations
	Appendix B Correlation Table
	Probate Rules OLD to NEW Correlation
	Appendix C Proposed New Forms
	AOC PBPA FORM 10F - JMP - with redlines
	AOC PBPA FORM 10F - JMP - no redlines
	Rules Forum Comment Summary R18-0044
	J. McDougall comment
	R. Beckett comment
	 Clerks comment
	Prefatory Comment rev. 01-22-2019 Long Version 
	Timmer Report Excerpt re budget
	Simplified Budget Rev. 04-08-2019
	Brumett v MGA Home Healthcare LLC

